

# Tukan 8k

## Multichannel Analyzer & Multichannel Scaler with USB and PCI interface

version 2.3

The multichannel pulse height analyzer (MCA) and multichannel scaler (MCS) is a device for running spectroscopy or timing measurements performed in nuclear laboratories an institutions for radiowctive contamination control.

The Tukan8k analyzer consist of two parts: analyzer hardware and the software.

This manual describes software and hardware installation process, program construction, rules of its operation and methodology of performing particular operation.

## Tukan 8k

#### TUKAN 8k

All rights reserved. No parts of this work may be reproduced in any form or by any means - graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, or information storage and retrieval systems - without the written permission of the publisher.

While every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this document, the publisher and the author assume no responsibility for errors or omissions, or for damages resulting from the use of information contained in this document or from the use of programs and source code that may accompany it. In no event shall the publisher and the author be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damage caused or alleged to have been caused directly or indirectly by this document.

Printed: 2014-03-24 in NCBJ Swierk, Poland

#### Hardware

Zbigniew Guzik Stanislaw Borsuk

#### Software

Krystyna Traczyk Michal Plominski Radoslaw Marcinkowski

#### **Technical support**

tel.: (48-22) 718-05-49 (48-22) 718-05-48

e-mail: tukan@ncbj.gov.pl

#### Production

National Centre for Nuclear Research Electronics and Detections Systems Division 05-400 Otwock-Swierk, POLAND

## **Table of Contents**

1	Tuka	n-8k Analyzer	10
	1.1	Modification of latest Tukan8k analyzers	11
2	Gen	eral description of program	12
	2.1	Program files	12
	2.2	Program modules	13
	2.2.1	Hardw are module	14
	2.2.2	2 Analyzer module	15
	2.2.3	3 Calibration module	16
	2.2.4	Analysis module	
	2.2.5	Report module	
	2.3	Data files	19
	2.4	Spectra files formats	20
	2.5	Start of the program	22
	2.6	Work with USB Dongle key	22
3	Acqu	iisition path	23
	3.1	Defining of acquisition path	23
	3.1.1	Acquisition path name - spectrum name	25
	3.2	Connecting analyzer	25
	3.3	Detection and identification of analyzer device	27
	3.3.1	Hardw are registers of the analyzer	28
	3.3.2	2 Default values of parameters	30
	3.4	Mode of running (MCA, MCS)	30
	3.5	Setting of parameters	31

	3.6	Measurement description prameters - Sample	
		mass	33
	3.7	Stop criteria	34
	3.8	Acquisition path calibration	35
	3.9	Measurement session	37
	3.10	Working with several analyzers	40
	3.10.	1 Adding and removing acquisition path	40
	3.10. 3.10	2 Select analyzer to control	41
	3.11	Configuration files of acquisition path	43 45
	Moor		16
4	weas	surement	40
	4.1	Acquisition control	46
	4.2	Acquisition process inspection	48
	4.3	Setting of stop criteria	51
	4.4	Common acquisition control	53
	4.5	Resumation of measurement after program exit	54
	4.6	Acquisition control during measurement session	54
	4.7	Measurement spectrum	56
	4.8	Measurement spectrum periodical backup	57
5	Multi	-channel scaling (MCS) mode	59
	5.1	Analyzer parameters in MCS mode	59
	5.2	Measurement control in MCS mode	62
	5.3	Acquisition spectrum MCS	64
	5.4	Calibration and analysis of MCS type spectra	64
6	Work	ing with the spectra	67
	6.1	Spectra container	67
	6.2	Open spectrum	69
	6.3	Save spectrum	70
	6.4	List of reference spectra	71

	10.1	Calibration operations1	09
10	Calib	ration 1	08
	9.7	Peaks table1	06
	9.6	Activity and concentration calculate1	05
	9.5	Peaks identification1	03
	9.4	Nuclide libraries 1	01
	9.3	Automatic peak search 1	00
	9.2.2 9.2.3	Selection of fitting function models Peak parameters display	95 96 98
	9.2	Advanced analysis	94 95
	9.1.1 9.1.2	Peak parameters panel Peak parameters calculate	90 93
	9.1	Peak analysis 'on-line'	90
9	Analy	sis	90
	8.2	ROI files	88
	8.1	ROI controlling commands	86
8	ROI		86
_	501		00
	7.4	Colors of the plot panel	84
	7.3	Spectrum plot style changing	84
	7.1		82
1	7 1	Markera	81
7	Plotti	ng a spectrum	80
	6.11	Printing a spectrum	79
	6.10	Compressing spectrum	78
	6.9	Adding and subtraction spectra	76
	6.8	Smoothing spectrum	75
	6.7	Import from ASCII format	74
	6.6	Export to ASCII format	72
	6.5	Information about main spectrum	72

1	Inserting calibration to spectrum	111
2	Transfer calibration beetw en spectra	112
3	Delete calibration	113
4	Visual control of calibration	113
Ins	serting of calibration data	114
1	Inserting data from calibration spectrum	115
2	Inserting energy from nuclide library	116
En	nergy calibration process	117
Pe	eak shape calibration process	118
Eff	ficiency calibration process	119
1	Efficiency of detection calculation	120
2	Calibration standars libraries	123
Ca	alibration curve	125
	1 2 3 4 1 2 Er 2 Ef 1 2 Ci	1       Inserting calibration to spectrum

## 11 Report

11.1	Report configuration	
11.1.	1 Peaks table configuration	130
11.1.	2 Spectrum plot configuration	131
11.1.	3 Configuration file	132
11.2	Printing report	
11.3	HTML and Text format of the report	

## 12 Program configuration

12.1	Measurement configuration options	135
12.2	Display spectrum options	136
12.3	Configuration analysis options	137
12.4	Selecting language of program	140
12.5	Setting directory of program	140

## 13 Keyboard

142

127

134

Appendix A: Library TukanFit.dll 145		
13.4	ROI system navigation keys	144
13.3	Displaying spectrum navigation keys	143
13.2	Markers navigation keys	142
13.1	Acquisition navigation keys	142

## 14 Appendix A: Library TukanFit.dll

15 App and	endix B: Instalation of Tukan8k analyzer program	149
15.1	Hardware requirements	149
15.2	Instalation of Tukan8k program	150
15.3	Instalation of Tukan-8k-USB box	151
15.4	Instalation of Tukan-8k-PCI card	152
15.5	Instalation of USB Protection Key	153
16 App Tuk	endix C: Technical parameters of an_8k_USB Analyzer	154
16.1	I/O Connections and LED Indicators	155
16.2	Powering the device	155
16.3	MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode	156
16.4	MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode	157
16.5	SCA - Single Channel Analyzer	159
17 App Tuk	endix D: Technical parameters of an_8k_PCI Analyzer	160
17.1	I/O Connections and LED Indicators	161
17.2	MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode	161
17.3	MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode	163
Index		166

## 1 Tukan-8k Analyzer

The multi-channel pulse height analyzer (MCA) and multi-channel scaler (MCS) is a device for running spectroscopy or timing measurements performed in nuclear laboratories and institutions of radioactive contamination control.

The TUKAN8k analyzer consists of two parts: analyzer hardware and the software. The program can control unlimited number of analyzers at a time.

The analyzer hardware is available as a device to be connected to the PC via USB interface (Tukan8k-USB 1154). But, if needed, it can be produced as a card to be plugged into the host PC into PCI slot (Tukan8k-PCI 160). Both types of analyzers are controlled by the same program.

#### **Operating mode:**

Signal from detector of radiation, respectively amplified and formed in spectroscopy amplifier is carried to a slot placed in front of the analyzer, where is transformed in analog to digital converter. Memory buffer in the device stores spectrum being collected. The Tukan8k software ensures control, "on-line" visualization and analysis of experimental data.

#### Supported operating systems:

The analyzer can operate in MS Windows 2000 / XP / Vista/ 7 (32 and 64 bit) environment. It is "plug and play" device type.

The program itself can operate with various types of analyzer, including oldest **ISA** version, which was earlier supported by program for MS DOS. It is also possible to select "undefined" device type what in practice denotes program execution without the analyzer hardware. Then the program works in the "off-line" mode but it requires <u>USB Protection Key</u> 22 connected to the computer.

### 1.1 Modification of latest Tukan8k analyzers

Modification of latest Tukan8k\_USB analyzers are obligatory for the device which serial number is greate then 237.

#### Hardware modifications:

concerns to different functionality and handling of TTL Lemo sockets placed in front panel of the analyzer which are described in Appendix C of User's Guide and are as follows:

Port A (Gate or Even) - no change in comparison to the previous versions

for remaining sockets the same functionality is given for both modes of running

Port B (SCA-OUT) after	- Input: positive TTL pulse 100 ns width generated
	detection of input analog pulse which amplitude stays between selected thresholds. It is output of single channel analyzer.
Port C (RUN)	<ul> <li>Input: starting acquisition by external pulse (rise edge of TTL positive signal)</li> </ul>
Port C (RUN)	<ul> <li>Output: stopping acquisition by external signal (rise edge of TTL positive signal)</li> </ul>

#### Modifications of the program (version 2.2.2):

type and version of an analyzer is recognized by the program – for those analyzers which serial number is **greater then 237** contents of <u>setting</u> <u>parameters form</u> [31<sup>°</sup>] is changed (User's Guide chapter 3.5 and 5.1):

- ⇒ in MCA mode of running "TTL Lemo configuration" group of options lacks
- ⇒ in MCS mode of running "TTL Lemo configuration" and "External stop" groups of options lack but options concerned with external triggering are inactive.

The serial number of the analyzer can be viewed in "Spectrum information" box available in "File" menu or "Inform." box available in "Help" menu.

Modifications were performed in respons for users requests.

## 2 General description of program

The main purpose of the program is to allow the user to perform: acquisition control, collection, visualization and archiving of experimental data, to run spectra analysis and to generate reports containing acquisition results.

The following chapter contains description of the program architecture, rules of data flow between modules of the program and specification of data files structure.

## 2.1 **Program files**

The Tukan8k program consists of the following files:

Tukan8k.exe	- the main program
Tukan8k.PLK	- resource file for Polish language version
Tukan8k.ENU	- resource file for English language version
TukanFit.dll	- mathematical library for spectra analysis

During installation procedure the following dynamic-link library files are added to the main directory of the program:

pthreadGC2.dll	<ul> <li>POSIX threads for Windows32 library</li> </ul>
mingwm10.dll	<ul> <li>library file for Windows</li> </ul>
SiUSBXp.dll	- USBExpress library from 'Silicon Labs Inc.'
FTD2XX.dll	- USB direct access library from 'Future
	Technology Devices International Ltd.
borlndmm.dll	from 'CodeGear'

They are necessary for proper program functionality.

During installation process several working directories are establishes for the program and program initial settings are saved the to the Windows Registry.

Language of interface of the program and working directories settings can be changed due to configuration options available in the program.

## 2.2 Program modules

The program has modular construction – selected purposes are realized by separate program modules.

The whole program is supervised by "manager", which is responsible for proper functionality of each module, data exchange among them, initialization of display parameters etc. One of important elements of the program is the modules selection panel published below, where tasks performed by each module are also presented.



Module selection can be performed by

1. click on an icon representing selected module placed on the module selection panel

2. menu selection: Module | Go to ...

General description of functionality of each module is presented in the following chapters:

Hardware module 14 Analyzer module 15 Calibration module 16 Analysis module 17 Report module 18

#### 2.2.1 Hardware module

#### **Purpose:**

define an acquisition path, set values of all measurement parameters, full online acquisition control.



#### **Functionality:**

- > adding, deleting and ordering acquisition paths,
- > filling descriptive options (laboratory, user, geometry, detector),
- > filling data concerned to mass of a sample,
- > type of analyzer selection,
- analyzer parameters definition,
- mode of running (MCA, MCS) selection,
- calibration control (for selected acquisition path),
- > selecting of automatic acquisition stop criteria,
- acquisition control (start, stop, reset),
- > on-line monitoring of acquisition (parameters and spectra),
- "live" spectrum preview for selected acquisition path.

see also:

Acquisition path 23

#### 2.2.2 Analyzer module

#### Purpose:

acquisition control and visualization, initial spectrum analysis, spectra basic manipulation.



#### **Funcionality:**

- > acquisition control,
- modification of selected acquisition parameters: length of acquisition time, automatic acquisition stop criteria,
- spectra displaying in channel and energy scale,
- > visual comparison of current acquisition with spectra loaded from files
- > automatic or manual defining of Regions of Interest,
- initial "on-line" spectrum analysis containing calculation of base parameters of a peak
- > adding, subtracting, smoothing and compressing spectra,
- > automatic peak search,
- nuclide identification,
- > saving live spectrum to a file,
- Ioading spectrum from a file,
- > export/import to/from files in ASCII format.

see also:

Measurement 46

#### 2.2.3 Calibration module

#### **Purpose:**

energy, peak shape and efficiency calibration run, veryfication of the spectra calibration



#### **Functionality:**

- > inserting and edition of calibration data,
- > selection of a type of calibration equation (formula),
- > energy, peak shape or efficiency calibration execution,
- visualization of the results formula coefficients and diagram of calibration curve,
- > inserting calibration parameters to a spectrum,
- > saving/loading spectrum to/from a file,
- > automatic peak search,
- > nuclide library,
- library of calibration data,
- > editor of nuclide library and libary of calibration data.

see also:

Calibration 108

#### 2.2.4 Analysis module

#### Purpose:

quality and quantity analysis of a spectrum, nuclide identification, peak table creation



#### **Functionality:**

- > automatic peak search based on peak shape calibration,
- > peak fitting with modified Gauss function,
- double peak separation,
- > selection one from dozen fitting functions,
- > nuclide identification based on selected nuclide library,
- nuclide library editor,
- > efficiency, activity and concentration calculation for selected peak,
- > ROI editor,
- peak table editor.

see also:

Analysis 90

#### 2.2.5 Report module

#### **Purpose:**

preparation and configuration of reports from acquisition, report printing, saving reports to files



#### **Functionality:**

- > automatic report creator for selected acquisition spectrum,
- > configuration of the report contents: elements selection,
- > personalization of peak table structure (contents, placement, units etc.),
- > personalization of spectrum diagram,
- > possibility to input extra descriptions,
- > report printing selection of printer device and additional printing options,
- > saving report as HTML type file,
- > saving report as text type file.

see also: Report 127

### 2.3 Data files

The measured spectra and various information about them can be saved in the specialized files:

#### Spectra

MCA spectrum files	"* <b>.wdm</b> ",	binary format	(native format of the program)
MCS spectrum files	"* <b>.wds</b> ",	binary format	(native format of the program)
spectrum data files	"*.dat"	ASCII format	(one column contains counts in channel values only)
spectrum data files	"*.lst"	ASCII format	(number of sequential channel and count value are placed in two columns)
spectrum data files	"*.lst"	ASCII format	(three columns: number of channel - energy - counts)
spectrum data files	"* <b>.tab"</b> ,	ASCII format	(table with counts grouped in 10 columns)

#### **Calibration and ROI tables**

calibration files – binary format – "\*.clb" ROI definition files – binary format – "\*.roi"

#### Reports

report files – HTML format – "\*.htm" report files – text format – "\*.txt"

#### Libraries

nuclide library files – text format – "\*.tnc" calibration standards library files – text format – "\*.eff"

#### Configurations

hardware setup configuration files – text format – "\*.cfh" report configuration files – text format – "\*.cfr"

#### **Auxiliary directories**

The Tukan program installer creates auxiliary directories **Library** and **Spectra**. Library files: "\*.tnc" and "\*.eff" are stored in **Library** directory. Spectrum files, data files and reports are stored in **Spectra** directory. The other files are stored in program default directory. see also:

Spectra files formats 20 Setting directory of program 140

## 2.4 Spectra files formats

#### File format of .wdm - (binary file of MCA-type spectrum)

Nr of byte	Length in bytes	Data format	Contens
03 45 68005 (32768)	4 2 4 * 8k	integer word integer	version code number of channels of a spectrum counts (up to 8192 channels * 4 bytes/ chn) <i>(length depends on number of channels)</i>
8006	4 8 1	longint double byte	check code sample mass sample mass unit
	n n n n	ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte)	type of analyzer serial number geometry name of spectrum spectrum description
	8 4 4	double integer integer	date and time of start of acquisition (format: TDateTime:Year:Month:Day: Hour:Min:Sec) acquisition time (in s) – real acquisition time (in s) - live
	4	integer	indicator if calibration performed and check code
			energy, peak shape and efficiency calibration data list of ROIs

Nr of byte	Length in bytes	Data Format	Contens
03 45 68005 (32768)	4 2 4 * 8k	integer word integer	version code number of channels of a spectrum counts (up to 8192 channels * 4 bytes/ chn) (length depends on number of channels)
8006	4 8 1	longint double byte	check code sample mass sample mass unit
	n n n n	ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte) ASCII (n*byte)	type of analyzer serial number geometry name of spectrum spectrum description
	8	double	date and time of start of acquisition (format: TDateTime:Year:Month:Day: Hour:Min:Sec)
	4	integer	acquisition time
	4	integer	number of sweeps
	4	integer	Inumber of channels of MCS
	4	integer	DwellTime
	1	byte	units of DwellTime

File format of .wds - (binary format of MCS-type spectrum)

Formats of spectra text files are described in chapter Export to ASCII format 72

## 2.5 Start of the program

The Tukan8k program can be started directly from the file **Tukan8k.exe** typically placed by the installation program in directory **c:\ProgramFiles\Tukan8k** or

from the icon also placed by the installation program at the desktop.

When started, the program verifies if any analyzer is connected to PC or if <u>USB</u> <u>Dongle</u> 22 is plugged in.

If none of them is present, the message below will be displayed on a screen and the program will not start.



Similar effect will arise when analyzer is corrupted or USB slot in PC is out of order and device is not detected by the program.

see also:

<u>Connecting analyzer</u> 25 Appendix B: Instalation of Tukan8k analyzer and program 149

### 2.6 Work with USB Dongle key

The Tukan8k program can be run in PC where instead of the Tukan analyzer, the USB Dongle is connected to.

The USB Dongle is supported by version 1.7 of the program, or higher.

The Tukan8k program activated with the USB Dongle acts as a tool for "offline" analysis of the spectra. The functionality of the program is the same as with an analyzer connected.

## 3 Acquisition path

Acquisition path is a set of devices and their settings applied in a measurement process, which form experimental spectrum as a result of their activity. It consists of the following elements: detector, high voltage supplier, spectroscopy amplifier and pulse height analyzer.

In the program concept, acquisition path is a structure uniquely defined by the parameters like: type of analyzer and its settings, detector type, measurement geometry, mass of a sample etc.

The program allows to handle many analyzers at a time on one PC. For better clarity, in a new version of the program (2.0) the new way of data presentation was introduced. The new way is more flexible in comparison with earlier versions in aspect of simultaneous control of many analyzers, like:

- different type of analyzers configuration,
- preset parameters display,
- current parameters display,
- access to data,
- common control of several acquisitions.

Inspection of current status of acquisition path and changing of its parameters is possible in <u>Hardware module</u> [14] only.

Acquisition control commands are available in 'Hardware' module as well as in <u>Analyzer module</u> 15.

## 3.1 Defining of acquisition path

Defining of *acquisition path* which means a process of selecting of particular parts from which it consists of, is the very base activity which influence for functionality of the analyzer. Usually it is performed once, because the program saves actual settings for future use.

List of configuration and descriptive parameters are grouped in a tree structure. Extended structure with many branches, which can be freely collapsed or expanded, allow quick access to all data, even then, when many acquisition paths is supported simultaneously by the program.

On figure below a part of "Acquisition path" module screen is shown. Tree diagram is seen in both modes: collapsed and expanded.



Tree structure performs important rule during acquisition path configuration process. All parameters for selected acquisition path are available for a user in dynamically changed forms which are displayed due to context of selected branch of a tree.

It is possible to move through the tree by mouse or keyboard. Expanding and collapsing of selected branch is done after mouse click on "+" or "-" field or after pressing <+>, < -> (arrow) or <->, < <-> (arrow) key. Due to selected branch, corresponding form is displayed in a center of the program screen.

To change any parameter's value, the user has to edit it in a form and <u>accept</u> <u>modifications performed by click of "Apply" button available at a top part of each</u> <u>form</u>. For user comfort, those parameters, which value was changed are distinguished by a different background color (one form can contain many parameters, and many of them can be changed at a time).

Types of forms available in current version of the program:

- acquisition path description: laboratory, detector, geometry, sample mass 33
- analyzer type and mode of running selected 25
- setting of acquisition parameters 31
- analyzer parameters in MCS mode 59
- stop criteria in MCA mode 34
- acquisition path calibration 35

#### - measurement session configuration 37

#### 3.1.1 Acquisition path name - spectrum name

During creation of a new acquisition path (see <u>Adding and removing acquisition</u> <u>path</u><sup>[40]</sup>) the program automatically assigns its name as "New path" (or "Nowy tor" if the program is switched to the polish language version). If another acquisition path with this name already exists, then index part of the name is automatically added, e.g. "New path [1]", "New path [2]" etc. Indexes are added in sequence of their creation and are not related to the place of their existence in the acquisition path tree.

When defining an acquisition path, which is dedicated for specified type of measurements or for dedicated type of apparatus, it is very recommended to change name of an acquisition path for a such one, which describes by its name performed measurements, e.g. "Air filter", "Soil samples", "Detector tests" etc. The new name for acquisition path can be set in a form described in chapter Measurement description prameters [33].

After connecting an analyzer to a new acquisition path, the program allocates in memory "measurement spectrum" object to which the program automatically put data collected in memory buffer of specified analyzer. Name of a spectrum automatically given by the program is identical to a name of acquisition path, so acquisition performed in selected acquisition path is identified by a name of its path. This name can be modified in a form described in chapter <u>Connecting</u> analyzer <sup>25</sup>.

In "Acquisition path" module, at the bottom of each form being displayed in a middle part of a screen, a box is displayed, which is dedicated to display actual measurement spectrum.

More information about "live spectrum" and maintenance of all measurement spectra are available in chapter Measurement spectrum [56].

Remark: in the program, many acquisition paths can be defined, but spectra will be shown only in those, where analyzer was defined.

#### 3.2 Connecting analyzer

The program allows to control the analyzer, which is:

1. connected to PC,

2. installed in PC (see: Appendix B: Instalation of Tukan8k analyzer [151])

and

3. selected in the tree diagram.

If 1 or 2 condition is not performed, the program will not start and the following message will be displayed: "Neither Tukan analyzer nor USB Authorization Key found." (see: <u>Start of the program</u>  $22^{\circ}$ ).

Accessing analyzer when the program starts

→ If the analyzer is connected to PC and properly installed, but is not defined in the program, the following message will be displayed when the program starts:



- if on response **"No"** button is selected, then the program starts, all functionality is available for the user except those which concern to acquisition,

- if on response **"Yes"** button is selected, then "Analyzer type selection/ configuration" dialog window appears, in which it is possible to:

1. expand list of analyzers supported by the program (mouse click on a button with an arrow) and select a proper one. When done, contents of a form is filled by elements suitable for selected type of analyzer,

**2.** click **Detection** button to display a dialog box containing a list of devices of selected type which are currently connected and recognized by PC,

**3.** select a proper one from a list and press "**OK**" (attention: even then, when a list contains only one item, it has to be selected) - dialog box disappears and an appropriate serial number will be displayed in the "Serial no" field of dialog box no 2 displayed below.

Analyzer type Tukanik-USB Tukanik-KPL	r type			
Tukan8k-US8 no analyzer	III Compassion of filters of air> A	nalyzer type sel		
	Analyzer type Tukan8k-USB	Simulation		
ОК	Mode of running © MCA C MCS	2		
	Serial no 1	Detection		
	III C	Detect Tokan8k-USB		×
	230	free	3	
				_
		✓	Ok X Cancel ? He	P

#### Insert an analyzer from the tree

Selecting analyzer from the tree diagram takes a course very similar, and runs

as follows:

- 1. select in the tree an "Analyzer" item and click with left mouse button,
- 2. in a central part of a screen a form shown below will appear,

3. from a list of "Analyzer type" select a proper one and continue process as described before.

🔣 Tukan 8k A	nalyzer		_ 🗆 🗵
<u>File M</u> odule M	deasurement Configuration Help		
1	Measurements of filters of air     Description	Apply S Cancel Measurements of filters of air Analyzer: Tukan8k-USB	[] Measureme OFF Status not ready Real time [c] 0
Acquisition path	⊡-nut Analyzer Tukanok-utsa ⊡-Ø Type -Ø Version: 0	Analyzer type Tukan8k-USB	Read time [s]         0           Live Time [s]         0           Limit live Time [s]         300           Dead time [%]         100.00
Analyzer	→ Serial no: 230 → Mode of running: MCA ⊕ 1 Parameters	Mode of running © MCA © MCS	CPS 0 Counts in ROI 0 (+) Measur, se not started
Enof(k)	Stop criteria:     Calibration:     Calibration:     Measurement session:     EM, Tests of detector	Serial no 230 Detection	[] New path VOID
Calibration	⊕ 🔂 New path		

Additional remarks about connecting analyzer to the program are placed in next chapter: Detection and identification of analyzer device 27.

## 3.3 Detection and identification of analyzer device

The Tukan8k-PCI as well as the Tukan8k-USB analyzer can be detected by the program. For both types detect process is performed in the same way. For the Tukan8k-USB analyzer it is described in the chapter <u>Connecting analyzer</u><sup>[25]</sup>.

Each copy of the **Tukan8k-USB** analyzer contains its serial number, which allows for unique identification.

The program reads that number during detection process and displays it in "Serial no" field ("Acquisition path" module).

The Tukan8k-PCI analyzer is identified by its local address set on the board (number from 0 to 7).

So, the list of devices which appear in "Detection" window is the list of serial numbers of Tukan8k-USB analyzers or list of local addresses of Tukan8k-PCI analyzers.

→ When after click on "detection" button instead of a list of analyzers the following information is displayed: "**No devices of selected type**" it means that the program does not detect any analyzer of selected type. In such a case it is recommended to verify if an analyzer is properly powered (it is mostly important for Tukan8k-USB powered via USB) and if is properly plugged in.

Information about type of analyzer and its serial number is added to each acquisition spectrum and both are saved to a file (<u>file ".wdm"</u>[20<sup>th</sup>] or <u>".wds"</u>[20<sup>th</sup>]). Thank's to that, each spectrum "knows" in which analyzer was collected.

Serial number of an analyzer is also available in <u>Information about main</u> <u>spectrum</u> 72<sup>1</sup> dialog box and when <u>opearatin with several acquisition paths</u> 43<sup>1</sup> allows to identify in additional way, from which acquisition path observed spectrum comes.

#### 3.3.1 Hardware registers of the analyzer

The program allows to read the hardware registers of an analyzer. The proper command is available in "Acquisition path" module only:

#### menu: Measurement | Analyzer internal register...

Information being presented in windows is read-only, current status of internal registers is shown being refreshed about every 1s. Appearance of the window may depend on an analyzer type and mode of running.

For the **Tukan8k-USB** analyzer, this window contains hardware register names and addresses with their values. Parameters are split into two groups: Parameter Registers and Result Registers. Meaning of each bit of them is

described in a window which can be displayed after click on 12 button.

Tukan 8k USB - hardware regi	sters monitor - f	or acq. path:	Measurements of filters of air		×
Parameter Registers			Result Registers		
Primary Control Register (PCR) Auxiliary Control Register (ACR)	7 00 00000 01 00001	0 000 ? 100 ?	Status Register		2
Lower Level Threshold Upper Level Threshold Limit of time Lower window boundary Upper Window Boundary	+0 +1 +2 02 32 00 04 A0 0F 06 2C 01 00 09 00 00 08 FF 1F	[=50] [=4000] [=300] [=0] [=8191]	Real time (s) Live time (s) Counts in window Overflow channel nr Dead time (%)	+0 +1 +2 01 00 00 00 [=0] 04 00 00 00 [=0] 07 00 00 00 [=0] 0A 00 00 [=0] 0C 00 [=0]	
Limit of counts in selected region	0D 40 42 OF	[=1000000]	Counts per sec.	00 00 00 00 [=0]	
·			🗸 Ok	Cancel ?	Help

In case of the **Tukan8k-PCI** analyzer, this window contains two tabs. The name of the first agrees with the current mode of work. It contains a list of the internal memory cells. Second tab shows the PCI bus communication registers. Meaning of particular bits in a register shown in binary mode is described at the right part of the form.

fukan 8k PCI - hardware registers monitor - for acq. path: Nowy tor (1)					
MCA PCI configuration				-0	
Pamięć podręczna	24	16	8	0	
Control and Status Register (CSR)	0000 0.00	01001 11	000100 0000	0010	
	+0 +1 +2	+3	CSR · bit desc	niption —	
Lower Level Threshold	0004 32 00	[=50]	1 · R_READY		
Upper Level Threshold	0006 9F 0F	[=3999]	2 · R_G0	,	
Limit of time	0008 2C 01 00	[=300]	4 · S_GATING	,	
Lower window boundary	000C 00 00	[=0]	5 · S_COINC 6.7 · S_RANGE		
Upper Window Boundary	000E FF 1F	[=8191]	00 · 8k		
Limit of counts in selected region	0010 40 42 OF (	0 [=1000000]	01 · 4k 10 · 2k		
Czas rzeczywisty	0014 00 00 00	[=0]	11 · 1k		
Czas żywy	0018 00 00 00	[=0]	8-S_CSTOP 9-S_TSTOP		
Counts in window	001C 00 00 00 0	00 [=0]	10 · S_LIVE		
Overflow channel nr	0020 00 00	[=0]	18 · R_UVF 19 · R_SECONE		
Czas martwy	0022 00	[=0]	22 · R_SCAN		
Counts per sec.	0024 00 00 00	[=0]	23 · S_USER		
		🗸 Ok	Cancel	? Help	

Information shown in the dialog window "Analyzer internal registers" has auxiliary meaning only and is destined for advanced users only.

#### 3.3.2 Default values of parameters

The program allows to load "factory defaults" - default settings for given mode of running (MCA or MCS). It is available in "Acquisition path" module only:

#### menu: Measurement | Default settings...

When the command is selected, window containing a list of parameters accomplished with their default values appears on a screen. Loading displayed values to an analyzer takes place after selecting **"Load"** command.

🛄 Default values of parameters: Tukan8k-USB 📃 🔲 🗙
E- Mode MCA
Bramkowanie sygnalu wejsciowego: no gating
- Number of channels: 8192
- Lower Level Threshold - channet 100
- Upper Level Threshold - channet 8000
- Thresholds defined for number of channels selected: 8192
- Time stop criterium active: no
- Stop criterium - time selection: live
- Stop criterium - time limit: 300
- Counts in region stop acq. criterium enabled: no
- Lower R0I boundary: 0
- Upper ROI boundary: 8191
- Limit of counts in ROI: 1000000
- Port B enabled: no
- Port C enabled: no
Load X Cancel ? Help

Meaning of particular parameters is described in the following chapters:

see also:

```
Appendix C: Technical parameters of Tukan8k-USB Analyzer [154]
Setting of parameters [31]
Stop criteria [34]
```

## 3.4 Mode of running (MCA, MCS)

Irrespective of the type of analyzer (USB, PCI), two modes of running are available:

multi-channel pulse height **MCA** (see <u>Tukan8k-USB MCA mode</u> 156) or <u>Tukan8k-PCI MCA mode</u> 166),

or

multi-channel scaler **MCS** (see <u>Tukan8k-USB MCS mode</u> 157) or <u>Tukan8k-PCI MCS mode</u> 163).

#### Mode of running selection:

Changing mode of running can be performed in "ACQUISITION PATH" module only. To do that:

- 1. select "Mode of running" item in the acquisition path tree (see figure below),
- 2. in a form displayed in a center of a main form of the program select one of two: MCA or MCS.



Changing mode of running is a very easy task - it is enough to select in "Mode of running" form appropriate radio button:"**MCA**" or "**MCS**"- but keep in mind that it results in many changes in the program, because mode of measurement becomes different. Changes refers to the acquisition path tree view, forms content, parameters of measurement, rules for calibration of acquisition path.

Basic and most frequently applied mode of running is MCA, so in "Acquisition path" and "Measurement" chapters this mode of running is first of all described. <u>Multi-channel scaling (MCS) mode</u> sectibed in separate chapter of this manual.

### 3.5 Setting of parameters

Modification or changing parameters of an analyzer can be performed in <u>Hardware module</u> 14 only.

Settings of basic parameters of an analyzer, like lower and upper threshold, are displayed in the acquisition path tree at the "Analyzer/Parameters" branch. When Click on "Parameters" item, the dialog form will appear which contents depends

on the type of analyzer and selected type of running (MCA, MCS).



On figure above, form for Tukan8k-USB analyzer running MCA mode is shown. The following parameters can be set there:

**Lower and upper level threshold** – values of the appropriate threshold may be change by writing their absolute value in millivolt [mV] or by defining particular number of channel from (or to) which a spectrum will be reduced. When changing number of channel, corresponding voltage value will be updated automatically. Minimal and maximal range values are available on the form.

Level thresholds can be also set in the following way:

- select "Analyzer" module and start acquisition,
- when observing spectrum, set position of both markers to a such ones where you expect thresholds to be,
- return to "Acquisition path" module, press "Set thresholds to markers" button - the following message will be displayed:

Confirm	×
2	Left marker position - 691 channel Right marker position - 829 channel Set marker positions as threshold values ?
	Yes No

> press "Yes" button - displayed number of channels in the box above will be input as the new values for thresholds.

Number of channels - number of channels of area where spectra are

accumulated (1024, 2048, 4096 or 8192) selected from a pull down list.

**Input signal gating** – selecting mode of gating of analog input signal; then only those signals, which are in coincidence or anti-coincidence with gating signal are being registered. Usually analyzer operates without any external gating (No gating setting).

**TTL Lemo configuration** – these options are responsible for output signals at TTL connectors. Detailed description of those signals may be found in Appendix C: <u>MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode</u> [156].

After changing any value, suitable part of a form gains different - yellow color background, what means, that parameter was intended to be changed, but not confirmed yet. Input of changed values to the program occurs after selecting "Apply" button.

see also:

Appendix C: Technical parameters of Tukan8k-USB Analyzer [154] Default values of parameters [30] Hardware registers of the analyzer [28]

# 3.6 Measurement description prameters - Sample mass

Measurement description parameters include those parameters of acquisition path which describe conditions in which measurement was done and characterize sample being examined. They are placed in acquisition report and (some of them) are stored in a file of spectrum.

Form containing measurement description parameters is available in "Acquisition path" module after selecting "Description" item in the acquisition path tree.

Mossurements of filters of air     Mossurements of air     Mossurements of air     Mossurements of filters of air     Mossurements of filters     Mossurements of air     Mossurements     Mossureme	Apply Cancel Measurements of filters of Analyzer: Tukan8k-US	air SB
	Acq. path name Measurements of filters of air Spectr. file name Filter 0Ax	
	Laboratory Environmental Laboratory User Zola Angel	
C) Calibration: Measurement session: Spectra:	Detector Type [Ge(Li) Model [MP_2301	
	Sample — Description friter DAx Mass — Value 100.000 Unit g	

Most of boxes on the form are text edit boxes, in which user can input describing and identifying information.

**Sample mass:** - numerical value and unit type entered in this place are applied in quantity analysis of examined spectrum to calculate concentration of radiative material in a sample (see <u>Activity and concentration calculate</u> 105).

Value of sample mass input to a spectrum, is also shown in Information about main spectrum  $\overline{172}$  box.

### 3.7 Stop criteria

In the Tukan program acquisition can be stopped manually (see: <u>Acquisition</u> <u>control</u> 46) or automatically after reaching selected in "stop criteria" values.

Selected stop acquisition criteria can be set individually for particular measurement (see chapter "Measurement" <u>Setting of stop criteria</u> [51]), or for complete acquisition path defining defaults for measurement of samples of the same type.

The program allows to set two independent criteria for automatic acquisition stop:

- time (with possibility of distinguish between two types of time calculation: real or live) and

- total counts, which compares number of counts in defined region with a limit

set by the user.

To set (change) stop criteria, select "Stop criteria" item in the acquisition path tree. The form displayed on a figure below will appear:



In the form, one or both criteria can be set simultaneously:

#### Acquisition time control:

The program performs control of acquisition time only then when **Active** check box in **Acquisition time** group of options is set.

Only one of two, live or real time flow can be controlled at a time.

Amount of time should be placed in **Limit of time** field given in seconds units

(available range is from 1s to 16777215s  $(2^{24}-1)$ ).

#### Counts in region control:

When **Active** check box in **Counts in region** group of options is set, it means that the program performs control of number of counts in selected region. Region is defined by two parameters: **Home channel** and **End channel**.

Acquisition is stopped when number of counts in selected region exceeds value

set in **Limit of counts** field (available range is from 1 to  $2^{32}$ -1 of counts).

After selecting values, press "Apply" button.

see also:

<u>Setting of stop criteria</u> ित्री <u>Acquisition process inspection</u> 48

## 3.8 Acquisition path calibration

Acquisition path is defined for specified type of measurements performed in precise conditions of a job, i.e. analyzer and detector types or specific geometry of measurement.

Energy calibration (as well as timed and efficiency) performed on acquisition

spectrum is provided to acquisition path and in case when no any diametric changes were done (e.g. different level of amplification of input signal) can be automatically added to sequential spectra obtained in acquisition path. The program does not control changes performed in real acquisition path. User needs to control by itself if calibration of acquisition path is still proper for aiven conditions.

On figure below is shown the form being displayed after selecting "Calibration" item in the acquisition path tree. The form allows a user to examine calibration parameters, watch calibration curve and to perform **Remove calibration** command from acquisition path.



The following rules are obligatory:

1. calibration introduced to acquisition spectrum becomes current calibration for acquisition path,

2. this calibration is saved when exit the program and is loaded when the program is started again,

3. this calibration is automatically input to each experimental spectrum being collected in given acquisition path.

see also: Calibration 108
## 3.9 Measurement session

Term '**Measurement session**' defines sequence of common measurements performed in the same conditions and at the same analyzer parameter settings. Each cycle consists of the following steps:

- acquisition start
- acquisition stop after defined period
- saving spectrum to a file
- removing spectrum from buffer of an analyzer
- acquisition restart after defined period (break)

On figure below is shown the form being displayed after selecting "Measurement session" item in the acquisition path tree:

N		
Tests of detector	Tests of detector	[] Tests of d CRF
E-2 Description	Apply X Cancel Analyzer: Tukan8k-USB	Status ready
- / Laboratory Laboratory		Real time [s] 0
/ User name: Anna-Janta	Start 🛞 Stop 💦 Beset	Live Time [s] 0
Delector CdTe ()		Dead time [%] 100,00
Detector: Care (-)	Measurement session status	CPS 0
-/ Geometry/Sample:	MOT STARTED	counts in ROI 0
Sample mass: not avail	NOT STAKIED	[] Measur not started
International Analyzer: Tukan8k-USB		Time start 00:00:00
😟 🛷 Type		Break[s] 0/10
- @ Simulation	C Start type	Sweep 0
- Mode of supping: MCA	Manual     Manual	
P D Paramatara		[] New path OFF
E Markey of share 0	C Scheduled 09:15:00 🚔 2011-11-29 🚔	Status ready
- M Number of chan. 8		Real time [s] 0
-M Lower Level Thresh	- Durles	Live Time [s] 0
Upper Level Threst	Cyulos	Dead time [%] 100,00
Stop criteria:	Number of sweeps 12 😴 (0 - not valid parameter)	CPS 0
- Calibration:		Counts in ROI 0
Measurement session:	Last sweep no	[+] Measur not started
F W New nath	Mater then 13:25:26 - 2011-12-12 -	
Constru		
- Specua		
	Length of single cycle Break between sweeps [s]	
	Time mode	
	C Live Value [s]	
	• Real 1000 👻	
	Spactra Bat Ba with wether stical words	
	Special ites are with mathematical results	
	V Culput on	
	C Spectra files	
	Dava name of a Re. Manu rement certing	
	Didate manife or a title miledatmentitierit sessioni	
	Starting index 1 😨 Number of digits 3 😨	
	Folder name C:\Documents and Settings\All Users ···	
	File format Spectrum binary file (*.wdm)	

The form contains the following information and values:

Measurement session status	status description
Start type	<b>Manual</b> - start of measurement session is performed when acquisition is started after selecting START of acquisition button

Measurement session status	status description
	<b>Scheduled</b> - start of measurement session is performed automatically at the selected date and time
Cycles	
Number of sweeps	number of sw eeps can be set in a range from <b>0</b> to <b>1000</b> . Value 0 means, that this parameters in omitted, sw eeps will be periodically repeated as long as a user stops acquisition manually, selected "last sw eep not later then" occurs or number of sw eeps exceeds terminal value.
Last sweep no later then	sense of this parameter appears in simultaneous control of time by the program. After reaching selected date and time, start of next sw eep w ill not occur, but currently performed w ill finish normally
Length of single cycle	time set in this place is automatically moved to <u>acquisition</u> <u>stop criteria</u> 51 <sup>h</sup> of single measurement and this w ay becomes obligatory for acquisition performed outside of measurement session
Break between sweeps [s]	period betw een end of last and begin of next acquisition. Permitted range is from $10 \ s$ to $10000 \ s$ .

Current status of measurement session can be observed on the panel at the right side of the screen when operating in ACQUISITION PATH or ANALYZER modules. Date being displayed in that panel are described in chapter Acquisition control during measurement session <sup>54</sup>.

Each measurement from a session can be saved to a file and results of particular measurements can be saved in a text file. Settings for those files are placed at the bottom of the main form and consists of two tabs: **Spectra files** i **File with mathematical results**.

<u>Spectra files:</u> - after switching **Output on** option, the program saves automatically spectrum to a file which name consists of **Base name of a file** and sequential number. Files are stored in directory selected in **Folder name**.

Spectra can be saved in binary form (\*.wdm) or in one of ASCII form (see Export to ASCII format  $\overline{72}$ ).

Names of spectra saved due to settings shown in the Figure above will be as follows:

D:\DaneTukan\ZywnoscSeria\_001.wdm, D:\DaneTukan\ZywnoscSeria\_002. wdm, .... etc.

#### Saving numerical result parameters of acquisition in one text file:

After finish of each acquisition of measurement session it is possible to calculate parameters of selected peaks and save them to a text file. File with mathematical results: - after switching Output on option, the program saves automatically peak parameters to a file with a given name. That file is saved in directory selected in Folder name.

For each region to be analyzed, parameters can be defined individually in a dedicated dialog form available after click on **Parameters selection** button (see Figure below).

■         Measurements of filters of air           ■         Description           ✓         Laboratory Environmental Lal           ✓         Usen ranne: Zola Angel           ✓         Detector: GelLi  MP,2031)           ✓         Geometry/Sample: Rier Dax           ✓         Sample mass: 100%	Apply X Cancel Measurements of filters of ai Analyzer: Tukan8k-USI     Start S 500     Reset     Not STARTED     Start type     Manual     Start type     Manual     Scheduled 109.03.08     2011.01.00	[] Measureme         Oil           Status         Real time [s]         2132           Live Time [s]         1918         Dead time [s]         71, 37           CPS         7342         Counts in Rol 14125150         Counts in Rol 14125150           [] Measur.s         not started         Time start         00:000           Break[5]         01:0         Sweep         0
Adde of nurning MCA     Bestantetes     Persontetes     P	Cycles     Paramet       Cycles     Number of sweeps       Number of sweeps     10       Last sweep no     12:20:02       2011-11:30     2011       Length of single cycle     Break between sweeps [state in the ingle cycle       Time mode     Value [s]       © Real     1000	Add new         X
	File name     File ortaining parameters     File name     Folder name     C \Documents and Setting:\All User      Parameters selection	neters to culput for selected RDI  cted Available  PurtM [chri] PurtM [chr] PurtM [chri] PurtM [chri] PurtM [chri] PurtM [

Generally, in MCS mode 59 of running the measurement sessions are defined in the same manner. Spectra are saved to disk as ".wds" files. Set of available parameters to be calculated for selected regions is different in comparison to MCA mode of work

see also

Acquisition control during measurement session 54

## 3.10 Working with several analyzers

The program allows to control several analyzers connected to different acquisition paths.

Adding and removing acquisition path 40 Select analyzer to control 41 Several measurement spectra control 43

### 3.10.1 Adding and removing acquisition path

Controlling by the program a second (or any other) analyzer needs to be preceded by defining additional acquisition path. This can be done in ACQUISITION PATH module only.

#### Adding acquisition path



menu: File | Add acquisition path ...

This command adds "empty" acquisition path and assigns to it a name "New path" followed, if necessary, with a new "not assigned" index in brackets. Next, it is necessary to assign an analyzer to the newly defined acquisition path and define its other elements in a way described in the chapter: Defining of acquisition path 23

#### Removing acquisition path

menu: File | Remove acquisition path...

Confirm	×
2	Are you sure delete selected acquisition path ? (index: 1; name: 'New path')
	Yes No

Removal of acquisition path is realized irrespective of its contents and status of acquisition.

<u>Remarks</u>

- removal of acquisition path from the program does not influent on a status

of an analyzer, in particular does not stop acquisition

- 🛶 in case when only one acquisition path is defined, it can not be removed
- restoring previous settings of an acquisition path is possible only by

means of utility Configuration files of acquisition patho 45

see also: Defining of acquisition path 23

## 3.10.2 Select analyzer to control

After defining several acquisition paths and several analyzers it could arise a problem with which of them we would like to operate at the moment. Operation with one analyzer means here changing measurement settings and start, stop and reset of acquisition.

Selection of acquisition path can be done in the following ways:

- > mouse click on any item of acquisition path in the acquisition path tree, or
- mouse click on any box in acquisition control panel (see: <u>Hardware</u> <u>module</u> 14<sup>1</sup> and <u>Acquisition process inspection</u> [48<sup>1</sup>), or
- in text context menu of the acquisition control panel (as shown on a figure)
   item "Set as selected".

Acquisition path being selected is marked in the acquisition control panel by a background color, which in this case is a little lighter then for other paths.

🔝 Tukan 8k Ar	alyzer			_ 🗆 🗙
<u>File M</u> odule M	easurement Configuration Help		] 🛛 🕒 🛈 🖻	000·
Acquisition path	Measurements of filters of air     H-11     Description     trop Analyzer: Tukan8k-USB     H-07     Type     H-07     Simulation	Concel         Tests of detector           Analyzer type         Tukan8k-USB           Analyzer type         Tukan8k-USB	[] Measurement Status Real time [s] Live Time [s] Limit live Time [s]	0FF ready 0 0 300
Analyzer	Mode of running: MCA     Parameters     Stop criteria:     Calibration:	Mode of running	Dead time [%] CPS Counts in ROI [+] Measur. ses	100,00 0 0 not started
En/F(k) Calibration	Messurement session:      Messurement session:      Tests of detector      Hostingtion      trop Analyzer: Tukangk-USB      Ø Ø Type	Type  White noise  C Disk pattern	[] lests of dete Status Real time [s] live Time [s] Dead time [%] CPS	11 9 66,27 6874
Analysis	Simulation     Mode of running, MCA     M	File name "C-VPlogram Files/Tukan5k/WildmaWaip3.mdm"	Counts in ROI [+] Measur. ses [] New path Status	65714 not started OFF ready
Report	Messurement session: New path Description Rest Analyzer: Tukan@k-USB Calibration:	Analyzer selected to control	art op eset op criteria	
	Messuement session:	50 M 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	it os selected easurement session co art measurement session re ormon control opand all opand all snel configuration	onfiguration sion eset

For selected acquisition path, the following elements of the program are being adjusted:

- contents and status of icons grouped in toolbar of acquisition control,
- contents and status of items of Measurement menu,
- contents and status of items in context menu of the acquisition control panel.

Context menu as shown in the figure appears after right button mouse click done on the acquisition control panel.

Contents of context menu depends on a place from which was displayed. All items in a context menu are divided into five groups of items. Two upper refer to acquisition path it concerns, the other are common for all acquisition paths. Contents of acquisition control panel is described in chapter: <u>Acquisition process inspection</u> [48].

It is possible to control only one selected analyzer or several analyzers at the time. Manner of control are described in chapters: <u>Acquisition control</u> [46] and <u>Common acquisition control</u> [53].

Selection of **acquisition paths for common control** can be performed from Measurement menu or from context menu described above. In both cases **Common control** item should be chosen which contains sub items for adding and removing selected acquisition path and **Show panel** sub item to select and unselect acquisition paths from a list.

Panel shown in figure below allows to make selection easier.



Acquisition paths selected for common control are distinguished by common yellow color of background.

### 3.10.3 Several measurement spectra control

When operating with several analyzers it is comfortable to have possibility for simultaneous observing all (or selected only) spectra. After selecting **Spectra** item in the acquisition path tree, in a central part of a screen spectra for all analyzers could be seen.



At the top of the screen a toolbar is displayed containing icons allowing to control way of plot of spectra. After moving mouse pointer on each of them, a hint explaining its functionality will appear.

# 🔊 🗵 🖻 💷 📖 🖽 🖽 🖿 🔃 🗮 😤

Icon	Hint	Command description	
	Select all spectra	selection of all spectra for common control	
×	Show chosen spectra	selection of a spectrum to be controlled (changing scale and markers position).Selected spectrum is displayed with yellow background	
	Horizontal layout	display all spectra in horizontal manner	
	Vertical layout	display all spectra in vertical manner	
<u>Jul</u>	Show full spectrum	dis play full s pectrum	
<b>Ì</b> ,	Markers at the center of plot panel	setting markers on positions of 1/3 and 2/3 of selected range	
<b>•</b> ••	Expand On spectrum between markers	expanding on a part of a spectrum lying betw een both markers to full diagram space	
<b>!</b> =	Expand Off spectrum between markers	expanding twice number of displayed channels	
† <b>^</b>	Automatic Y scale	sw itching to automatic Y scale selection adjusting to the highest value of a part of a spectrum being displayed on a screen (increased 20% for the highest value)	
	Set Y scale	setting exact values for Y scale in a range "from", "to" (dialog window appears on a screen)	
	Set logarithmic scale	switching Y scale type between logarithmic and linear	
#	Include the grid	sw itching on/off displaying of coordinate grid	
ې	Spectrum zooming	sw itching on/off zoom: w hen zoom is sw itched on, the cursor has a follow ing view , the markers do not move and you can arbitrary enlarge selected part of a spectrum: to zoom, drag the pointer w ith the left mouse button pressed over the part of the spectrum w hich	

ь

lcon	Hint	Command description
		you may to magnify

Commands related to changing marker positions and scale are performed for one or several selected spectra.

Spectrum selected to be controlled is marked by yellow background. Selection can be performed by pressing icon with "x" on a toolbar or at selected spectrum.

In "**From**" and "**To**" boxes placed below a spectrum, position of markers is displayed in channel and energy scale (if a calibration for a spectrum exists).

## 3.11 Configuration files of acquisition path

Current configuration of acquisition path can be saved to a file. It can be performed by running "Save hardware configuration as" menu command available in <u>Hardware module</u> 14<sup>1</sup> only a dialog box appears on a screen:

#### menu: File | Save hardware configuration as...

The box looks very similar to the standard Window "Save as" dialog box giving possibility of selecting path and name for a file. Extra field "Description" allows to introduce additional information describing acquisition path. This information might be useful when loading configuration from a file.

When opened, "Description" and "File name" fields contain text equal to "Acq. path name" parameter.

Files containing parameters of acquisition path have default ".cfh" extension.

Configuration of acquisition path earlier saved to a file can be easily loaded to the program. It can be performed in "Acquisition path" module only in "Save as" dialog box available after selecting the following command:

#### menu: File | Load hardware configuration...

The box looks like the standard Windows "Load" dialog box with additional two fields at the bottom. "Acquisition path name" field contains text entered to a filed of the same name when saved to a file. Second field is dedicated to display parameters of acquisition path saved in a file.

see also: Defining of acquisition path 23

# 4 Measurement

All acquisition control and diagnostic commands are available in "Acquisition path" and "Analyzer" modules.

In this chapter, the following can be found:

- acquisition control for one analyzer i.e.. start, stop and reset 46,
- <u>Common acquisition control</u> 53 applied when operating with several analyzers at a time,
- command for visual <u>acquisition process inspection</u> [48],
- how to perform measurement session 54<sup>1</sup>,
- backup acquisition commands protecting collected data against lost; mechanism of <u>time backup</u> [57]; rules for creation, displaying, archiving and analyzing of <u>measurement spectrum</u> [56].

Most of commands relevant to acquisition control is available via icons, menu "Measurement" or by context menu of  $\frac{\text{acquisition parameters panel}}{48}$ 

## 4.1 Acquisition control

Commands related to manual or automatic measurement control can be performed in ACQUISITION PATH or ANALYZER module only:

- via icon placed in toolbar,
- from Measurement menu,
- from context menu of the control acquisition panel, which displays current status of measurement. Contents of this panel is described in <u>Acquisition</u> <u>process inspection</u> [48],
- ➢ from keyboard.

#### Acquisition control commands:

lco n	Menu: Measur ement	Key	Command description	Re mar ks
$\bigcirc$	Start	F2	start of acquisition	1)
	Stop	F3	stop of acquisition	2)

O	Reset	F4	clear of acquisition data buffer and zero time counters in an analyzer and in the program	
	Stop criteria		display of dialog window for <u>setting of stop</u> <u>criteria</u> [51]	

- 1) Acquisition can not be started if "Status" field on <u>measurement parameters</u> <u>panel</u> [48] contains information: "not ready". In such a case it is necessary to perform Reset command and wait till "ready" text is displayed.
- 2) Stop acquisition perform ed by "Stop" com m and is signalled in that field by m essage "stop on request"

Notice, that grey color of an icon ( or local context) means that command linked to it can not be run.

All acquisition control icons stay grey if the program has no analyzer attached (i. e. an analyzer is disconnected).

If the program <u>controls several acquisition path</u> [43] then additional items in menu and additional icons related to <u>common acquisition control</u> [53] appear:

Figures below explain possible configurations of acquisition control toolbar depending on program status or an analyzer state:



only one acquisition path is defined, but no any analyzer is linked to it

only one acquisition path is defined and an analyzer is ready to start acquisition

only one acquisition path is defined and an analyzer is busy (acquisition is performed)

there are several acquisition paths defined, but common acquisition control options are not set

there are several acquisition paths defined and common acquisition control options are set

In last figure combo box for setting type of measurement is shown, which is descripbed in chapter "Acquisition path": <u>Setting of parameters</u> [31<sup>°</sup>]. This field can be hidden/visible thanks to context menu for toolbar.

Acquisition can also be started and stopped automatically by mechanism of

measurement sessions 37 or by setting of stop criteria 51.

## 4.2 Acquisition process inspection

The acquisition parameters panel is a frame placed at the right side of a screen in ACQUISITION PATH and ANALYZER modules.

It contains fields describing actual status of acquisition and its parameters; all data are periodically refreshed

] Measurements	OFF
Status	ready
Real time [s]	0
Live Time [s]	0
Dead time [%]	100,00
CP5	0
Counts in ROI	0
[+] Measur, session	not started

The acquisition parameters panel conteining basic items

	•
[] Measurements	OFF
Status	ready
Real time [s]	0
Live Time [s]	0
Limit live Time [s]	300
Dead time [%]	100,00
CPS	0
Counts in ROI	0
Limit of counts	1000000
Range of ROI	0 - 8191
[] Measur, session	not started
Time start	00:00:00
Break [s]	0/10
Sweep	0

The acquisition parameters panel conteining extended items

In particular lines of the acquisition parameters panel, the following information can be found:

Parameter name (left column of panel)	Parameter status (right column)	Description
	ON	acquisition is running
	OFF	acquisition is stopped, information displayed in "Status" item describes cause of acquisition stop
[] Path name: here: <b>Measurements</b> of filters of air	VOID	analyzer is not defined - no any information about status of acquisition is displayed; the acquisition parameters panel contains only one item
	unrecognized	the program can not recognize a type of an analyzer, so no link w ith device is performed

Parameter name (left column of panel)	Parameter status (right column)	Description
		status line item is empty if: acquisition is on and runs normally or analyzer is not defined or not recognized by the program
	ready	analyzer is ready to start acquisition
	stop on request	user stopped acquisition performing STOP command
	live time limit	acquisition w as automatically stopped after reaching selected period of live time of measurement defined in automatic stop criteria form
Status	real time limit	acquisition w as automatically stopped after reaching selected period of real time of measurement defined in automatic stop criteria form
Status	limit of counts	acquisition w as automatically stopped after reaching count limit criterion in a region defined in automatic stop criteria form
	channel ovf [ ]	acquisition w as automatically stopped because overflow in channel has occurred; number of channel is given in square brackets [] (refers to USB analyzer only). Overload occurs w hen in any of channels number of counts exceeds 1048575
	not ready	analyzer is not initiated - it is necessary to perform "RESET" command
	unrecognized	acquisition is stopped (OFF status), but reason is not know n
Real time [s]	0 ÷ 16777215	duration of the acquisition run (in seconds)
Live time [s]	0 ÷ 16777215	global amount of time (in seconds) w hen the device is active, i.e. the time w hen ADC is active or ready

Parameter name (left column of panel)	Parameter status (right column)	Description
Limit live time [s]		limit of live time set in stop criteria $5^{1}$ - displayed only then, when automatic stop criterion is set; in such a w ay, acquisition can be stopped after expiration of selected live time
Limit real time [s]		limit of real time set in stop criteria 51 - displayed only then, when automatic stop criterion is set; in such a w ay, acquisition can be stopped after expiration of selected real time
Dead time [%]	100,00 ÷ 0,00	proportional ratio of real and live time subtraction to real time
CPS	0 ÷ 100000	(counts per second) number of counts registered by an analyzer in a period of 1 second of real time
Counts in ROI	0 ÷ 2^32 - 1	total counts in region defined in stop acquisition criteria dialog box
Limit of counts		limit of counts in region set in stop criteria 51 - displayed only then, w hen automatic stop criterion is set; in such a w ay, acquisition can be stopped after reaching count limit criterion in selected region
Range of ROI		region defined for count limit criterion set in <u>stop criteria</u> 51 - displayed only then, when count limit criterion is active
[+] Measur. session	not started	see: Acquisition control during measurement session 54

Context menu of acquisition parameters panel

0	Start	
0	Stop	
0	Reset	
R	Stop criteria	
	Set as selected	
	Measurement session configuration	
0	Start measurement session	
	Measurement session reset	
	Common control	×
	Expand all	
	Collapse all	
	Panel configuration	

Contents of displayed context menu depends on a region of the panel in which mouse pointer is placed at the moment of click of right button. It is mostly important when operating with several acquisition paths, because two upper sections of the context menu refer to one acquisition path only - that one, which is selected by mouse pointer (see <u>Common acquisition</u> <u>control</u> [53]).

In the first upper section of the context menu are grouped commands referred to acquisition control described in <u>Acquisition control</u> 46, in the second commands referred to measurement session described in <u>Acquisition control during measurement session</u> 54

The last two parts contain commands referred to appearance of the panel. "Panel configuration..." command provides access to dialog box containing list of all parameters possible to display in the panel. Each of them can be easily visible or hidden.

→ In the ANALYZER module, if acquisition is not running or it is not necessary to control its parameters, the acquisition parameters panel can be hidden.

#### Hide acquisition parameters panel: menu: Module | Measurement panel

see also:

Measurement control in MCS mode 62 Acquisition control 46

# 4.3 Setting of stop criteria

Automatic stop criteria 34 are described in Acquisition path 23 chapter. They can be defined for selected acquisition path thanks to mechanism of defining its properties in forms displayed in the program when moving though the acquisition paths tree in ACQUISITION PATH module.

When operating in ANALYZER module it is easier to set those parameters in the dialog window displayed:

by click on the icon Measurement menu or from context menu of acquisition parametrs panel [48].

When "Stop criteria" command is performed, the dialog window as shown below appears on a screen. Its contents is described in chapter Stop criteria

🔝 Stop criteria - for acq. path: Mea	asurements of filters of air 📃 🔲 🗙
Acquisition time	Counts in region Counts in region Home channel 0
	V OK X Cancel

#### Activating acquisition time control:

- in Stop criteria dialog box select "Active" check box in "Acquisition time" group of options
- > select "Time mode": "Live" or "Real"
- ➢ fill "Limit of time [s]"
- > press OK button

#### Activating counts in region control:

- in Stop criteria dialog box select "Active" check box in "Counts in region" group of options
- > fill "Home channel" and "End channel" bounds of selected region
- > fill "Limit of counts" for selected region
- > press OK button

After pressing OK button selected options are set for appropriate acquisition path and are displayed in the acquisition parameters panel.

Remark: both stop criteria can be set simultaneously. Acquisition will be performed till selected time limit occurs or total counts in region is reached.

see also:

Acquisition - stop criteria 34 Acquisition process inspection 48

# 4.4 Common acquisition control

The rules for assigning several analyzers into one program was described in chapter "Acquisition path" (see <u>Several measurement spectra control</u> [43<sup>-</sup>]).

If the program controls several analyzers, each of them can be controlled individually but common start, stop and reset is also possible. Selection of acquisition paths for individual or common control is described in chapter <u>Select</u> analyzer to control 41.

<u>Acquisition paths selected for common control</u> are distinguished in the acquisition parameters panel (see <u>Acquisition process inspection</u> 48 by yellow color.

lco n	Menu: Measure ment	Key	Description	Remar ks
$\bigotimes$	Common start	FS	common start of acquisition in selected acquisition paths	
	Common stop	F6	common stop of acquisition in selected acquisition paths	
0	Common reset	F7	common clearing of spectra buffers and reset of time counters for selected acquisition paths	

The rules of actions for described commands are the same as for individual analyzer (see: remarks in the command description table in <u>Acquisition control</u> 46).

$\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigtriangledown \bigcirc \blacksquare \bigcirc $	<mark>9</mark> 9 ,
[] Measurements of	. ON
Status	
Real time [s]	16
Live Time [s]	14
Dead time [%]	45,49
CPS	587
Counts in ROI	10334
[+] Measur. session	not started
[] Tests of detector	OFF
Status	stop on request
Real time [s]	2520
Live Time [s]	2268
Dead time [%]	9,02
CPS	8361
Counts in ROI	16682400
[+] Measur. session	not started
[] New path	ON
Status	
Real time [s]	16
Live Time [s]	14
Dead time [%]	48,63
CPS	128386
Counts in ROI	1946628
[+] Measur, session	not started

Irrespectively of that, if acquisition paths are selected for common control or not, automatic stop criteria need to be set individually for each of them.

The figure near by offers a view of acquisition parameters path for three acquisition paths (analyzers) supported by the program. First and third are selected for common control and in addition first is selected for individual control

## 4.5 Resumation of measurement after program exit

After starting the acquisition, the program can be closed. Exiting the program does not result in acquisition stop – acquisition once started runs autonomous until one circumstance will occur:

- ► exceeding limit of <u>automatic stop criterion</u> [51<sup>h</sup>] (time flow or counts in region)
- acquisition stop by user
- counts overflow in a channel.

When measurement is on and the program is reopened, actual status of acquisition is detected and if is on, actual parameters of current acquisition are displayed in the acquisition parameters panel.

## 4.6 Acquisition control during measurement session

Definition of measurement session and way of controlling its parameters is described in chapter "Acquisition path" Measurement session 37.

🔣 Tukan 8k	Analyzer	
<u>File M</u> odule	Measurement Screen BOI And	alysis <u>C</u> onfiguration <u>H</u> elp
] ▲ X .	Start <f2></f2>	AE AE AU %
电影	C Reset <f4></f4>	0 500 600 700
Acquisition	🗹 Stop criteria	
path	😫 Measurement session 🕨	Configuration
100	Acquisition time backup	🙆 Start
Analyzer	380-	Stop 5 Reset

The dialog box containing parameters of measurement session described in mentioned chapter is also available in ANALYZER module in Measurement menu ( "Measurement session" | "Configuration") or in context menu of the

acquisition parameters

panel. 🖲 🕒 🖸 🖻 [--] Measurements ... Status Real time [s] 7 Limit real time [s] 30 Live Time [s] 6 Dead time [%] 14,90 CPS 2032 3425 Counts in ROI [--] Measur, session Measurement Time start 09:24:33 Break[s] 0/10 Sweep 2

The acquisition parameters panel described in chapter <u>Acquisition process inspection</u><sup>[48</sup>] contains in the last bottom part the item: "[+] **Measurement session**". On figure near by expanded state of this item is shown containing parameters of measurement session.

Parameter r (left column	Parameter (right colui	Description
[] Path nar here: <b>Meas</b>	•	
		(items referring to measurement are described in: Acquisition
	not started	measurement session is off
	Waiting for	measurement session is configured and ready to start - w aiting for manual or automatic start at predefined time
	Measureme	measurement sw eep is running
[] Measu	Break	lasts break betw een sequential sw eeps - remaining period is displayed in a field <b>Break [s]</b>
	Interruoted	measurement session was interrupted by a user - STOP command was performed
	Finished	measurement session was finished correctly - all sweeps were performed

Parameter r (left column	Parameter (right colui	Description
Timo sta	00:00:00	situation when measurement session is not started (in brackets exemplary time of start is show n)
this f for th	this filed remains empty when acquisition is going to be started for the first time ("Waiting for 1 start" condition)	
Break [s]	x1/x2	x1 is not zero during breaks betw een sw eeps only - then it displays number of seconds left till end of brake x2 displays length of break in seconds set for measurement session
Sweep	0	number of current sw eep of measurement session

Generally, for MCS mode 59, the measurement sessions are defined in the same manner. Spectra are saved to disk as ".wds" files. Also set of available parameters to be saved in a text result file is different in comparison to MCA mode of work.

## 4.7 Measurement spectrum

**Acquisition spectrum** is created automatically by the program for each acquisition path. This is a spectrum which collects data taken directly from a buffer of an analyzer device.

Rules for assigning names to acquisition spectra is described in chapter: Acquisition path > Defining of acquisition path >  $\frac{\text{Acquisition path name -}}{\text{spectrum name}}$ 

Actual parameters of "live" spectrum: time of beginning, duration, number of channels, CPS, id of analyzer where spectrum is being collected, geometry settings etc. are available in dialog window Information about main spectrum [72]. In that dialog, name of acquisition spectrum and additional description can be provided/changed if needed.

Acquisition spectrum, during measurement, is **"live" spectrum -** its contents is refreshed in 1 sec. periods.

Experimental data collection process can be watched in ACQUISITION PATH and ANALYZER modules only – in the rest of modules, acquisition spectrum is treated similarly to all other spectra loaded to the program, i.e. as formed, not changing spectrum.

Calibration of acquisition spectrum becomes at the same time <u>acquisition path</u> <u>calibration</u> 35.

If acquisition path contains calibration and the ROI table, then they are automatically introduced to each spectrum being collected in such an

acquisition path.

For "live" spectra displayed in the ANALYZER module **"on line" analysis** is performed. The program, after every data refresh, calculates current number of counts in channels placed between the markers and performs peak analysis displaying results in the peak parameters panel; it allows a user to observe flow and value of width of peak at half height. Peak parameters are calculated based on <u>Peak analysis 'on-line'</u><sup>[90]</sup> method described in "Analysis" chapter.

All spectra being analyzed by the program are grouped in <u>spectra container</u> [67]. Acquisition spectra are placed there always at the top - they can not be moved or removed from the spectra container.

see also:

<u>Working with the spectra</u> 6ि7ी <u>Measurement spectrum periodical backup</u> [57ी

## 4.8 Measurement spectrum periodical backup

To protect against lost of experimental data (e.g. in case of power failure) the program can automatically, in preset periods, save acquisition spectrum to a file.

#### Defining options for acquisition time backup: menu Configuration | Acquisition time backup

Enable saving		Each copy to seaparate files 🗌
Backup rate	1 🔆 (min)	
Spectrum file name	"C:\Documents and Setti	ngs\All Users\Tukan8k\TimeCopy_N 選

**Enable saving** - when checked, it assures, that the program, in preset periods defined in **Backup rate** field, will automatically (i.e. without the user activity) save actually collected spectrum to a file with a name given in **Spectrum file name** field.

The file containing acquisition time backup can be created earlier, but if does not exist the program creates itself. By default, backup file is created in the main folder of the program and is named "**Tuk.wdm**" (or "Tuk.wds" in MCS mode of work).

**Each copy to separate file:** - when checked, actual spectrum will be saved to different files at each rate of time. Names of those files consist of base spectrum file name followed by sequential number.

By default, this option is not checked, so acquisition time backup is always saved to the same file which contents is <u>overwritten</u> every time.

- Acquisition time backup occurs only then, when acquisition is on.

see also:

Measurement spectrum 56

# 5 Multi-channel scaling (MCS) mode

Basic mode of running of the analyzer is pulse height analysis mode (MCA). Changing mode of running from MCA to MSC (multi-channel scaling) mode is possible only in ACQUISITION PATH module in a way described in <u>Mode of</u> <u>running (MCA, MCS)</u> [30] chapter.

After switching to MCS mode of running, the following changes are performed automatically in the program:

- > list of parameters available in the acquisition path tree,
- > contents of the acquisition parameters panel,
- forms for setting parameters displayed in the middle of the screen in the ACQUISITION PATH module,
- format of collected spectra (different set of parameters saved with spectrum),
- > calibration is switched to automatic timed calibration,
- algorithms of peak analyze and set of parameters displayed below the spectrum.

Acquisition control and rules for working with experimental spectra are the same as for MCA mode of running.

<u>Notice</u>: mode of running change from MCA to MCS is possible only then, when analyzer assigned to the program was equipped in this facility. This remark is not valid for Tukan8k-USB analyzers which are always equipped in MCS mode of running.

see also:

<u>MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode</u> 163) for <u>Tukan8k-PCI</u> 160) analyzer <u>MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode</u> 157) for <u>Tukan8k-USB</u> 154) analyzer

## 5.1 Analyzer parameters in MCS mode

Parameters available to be set in MCS mode of running:

**Number of channels** – number of channels defining one acquisition cycle – channel nr 0 is always the first and is not related with lower level threshold value.

Range established in this place is marked in the diagram by horizontal line displayed in the same color as markers are.

**Number of sweeps** – number of sweeps which combine one measurement – set in a range from 1to 1048575 ( $2^{20}$ -1).

**Lover level threshold, Upper level threshold** – set by entering a channel number or voltage value in mV.

Threshold level values can also be set by copying position of markers in MCA mode of running. This command can be performed by clicking **Set thresholds as for MCA** button placed at the bottom of that dialog window.



**Dwell Time** – duration of processing in one channel – can be set in a range between 2  $\mu$ s and above 8000 s, a user must select **unit** of time and set **value**.

**Normalization factor** - number by which "Dwell Time" is multiplied.

Normalization factor allows to eliminate possible inaccuracy in measurement of "Dwell Time" by an analyzer, when a user affirms such inaccuracy.

Normalization factor can be set above or below value 1, so can correct internal clock in an analyzer when is slow or fast. In most cases, this factor can remain 1.0 which is neutral position.

Signal input – selection of a type of pulse input socket: Analog (BNC): - analog input TTL (A-sub) - TTL input

**Triggering** – selection of a type of acquisition cycle triggering: **internal** (automatic) or **external** 

Advancing – selection of a manner of advancing channel: internal (automatic) or external pulse

Multi **sweeps** – selection of a manner of next cycle activation: **Yes** - automatically or **No** - by external pulse

Accumulation – switching on (Summing) and off (Overwrite) of accumulation of counts in channels in sequential cycles

**Stop mode** – selection between three types of rules when acquisition stop is performed:

#### Immediate, After current channel update After current sweep

**Input signal gating** – selection of gating mode for input signal, i.e. only those signals are registered which appear in coincidence or anti coincidence to gating signal. Most often the analyzer operates in "no gating" mode.

**TTL Lemo configuration** – enabling these options cause to appear output signals in TTL sockets of the analyzer. Detailed description is available in Appendix C: <u>Tukan8k-USB MCS mode</u> [157].

see also:

<u>Measurement control in MCS mode</u> ြ<sup>2</sup>ါ <u>MCS mode</u> ကြိုင် Tukan8k-PCI ကြို analyzer <u>MCS mode</u> ကြာ for <u>Tukan8k-USB</u> ကြေ analyzer

# 5.2 Measurement control in MCS mode

The acquisition parameters panel is a frame placed at the right side of a screen in ACQUISITION PATH and ANALYZER modules. It contains fields describing actual status of acquisition and its parameters.

When MCS mode of running is set, the acquisition parameters panel contains the following parameters:



In particular lines of acquisition parameters panel the following information can be found:

Parameter name (left column of panel)	Parameter status (right column)	Description
	ON	acquisition is running
	OFF	acquisition is stopped, information displayed in "Status" item describes cause of acquisition stop
[] Path name: here: <b>Test of detector</b>	VOID	analyzer is not defined - no any information about status of acquisition is displayed; acquisition parameters panel contains only one item
	unrecognized	the program can not recognize a type of an analyzer, so no link with device is performed
		status line item is empty if: acquisition is on and runs normally or analyzer is not defined or not recognized by the program
	ready	analyzer is ready to start acquisition
	completed	acquisition was finished normally
Status	stop on request	a user stopped acquisition performing STOP command
	not ready	analyzer is not initiated - it is necessary to perform "RESET" command
	unrecognized	acquisition is stopped (OFF status), but cause is not sure
Time [s]	0 ÷ 16777215	total time of acquisition in seconds
Curr. channel		nr of channel currently being processed
Number of chan.	1 ÷ 8192	selected number of channels (for one sw eep)
Sw eep count	1 ÷ 1048575	selected number of sweeps
Dw ell Time	2 µs ÷ 143 min	duration of processing in one channel; value selected by user

Remarks:

- 1. Acquisition interrupt performed by STOP Command effects to reset of: time counter, current channel pointer and sweep counter.
- 2. After stop of acquisition performed by STOP command, next start must

be preceded by RESET Scommand, i.e.measurement parameters reset and data buffer clean.

## 5.3 Acquisition spectrum MCS

Rules for creating MCS acquisition spectrum are the same as for MCA mode of running described in chapter <u>Measurement spectrum</u> [56<sup>h</sup>].

In dialog box <u>Information about main spectrum</u> <sup>72</sup> the following information is available: time of acquisition start, total time of acquisition, selected parameters of measurement, average number of counts for Dwell Time and type of analyzer and its serial number. Similar as for MCA mode of running, in this box name of spectrum can be modified and description can be added.

MCS spectrum is saved to files in ".wds" format (see Spectra files formats 201.

In <u>spectra container</u> both types of spectra (MCA or MCS) can be saved. The program adjust automatically set of parameters and units displayed below a diagram regarding type of spectrum.

## 5.4 Calibration and analysis of MCS type spectra

#### Calibration of MCS spectrum

The program automatically defines time calibration in which time values are calculated directly depending on Dwell Time.

Time scale is displayed on a top border of the spectrum plotting panel. Applied units are selectable in configuration dialog box:

Configuration	×				
Measurement Display Analysis Language File location					
Peak parameters         ✓ Automatic calculate parameters         ✓ Automatic calculate activity and concentration         ✓ Automatic peak ident         ✓ Parametrs in energy units	Peak parameters gisplay Peak position Background line Evhm position Keep fit results				
Model G0 options Peak parameters based on netto count - Model G0 Peak parameters based on total count - model G0_c Peak position (Ctr) in maximum - model G0_m	Activity units				
Tidentification criteria C 1/4 FWHM @ 1/2 FWHM C Set. 1 ⊒ [keV]	CeV CkeV CMeV Time Units (MCS) Cms Cs Cmin				
Nuclide library ngs\All Users\Tukan8k\Libraries\Standards.tnc*	Default settings				
🖌 Ok 🛛 🗶 Cancel 🧷 Help					

In CALIBRATION module – commands for defining or deleting calibration for MCS-type spectra are disabled. For such kind of a spectrum calibration can not be edited.

Every change of Dwell Time leads to automatic change of time calibration of a spectrum.

### Analysis of MCS type spectrum

Changing type of main spectrum between MCA and MCS effects in different set of parameters displayed below a spectrum, i.e. those parameters which are calculated on-line for selected peak. Besides, set of available parameters to be put in the Peak Table and in the report is changed as well.

During "on-line" analysis the program calculates the following parameters for MCS spectra:

integral of counts for part of spectrum bounded by the markers (including channels on which the markers are placed) and

Counts per second (CPS) for the same region.

For information purpose only, value of Dwell Time calculated in seconds is displayed as well.

4					
ROI:#	(0) •	From: To: Unit	10,19 (254500) 12,67 (254500) [ms]	Integral o CPS: DT:	f counts: 158044500 6362500000 [c/s] 0,0000040 [s]
Spectrum: POMIAR_1_MCS					Acquisition start: 2010-03-05 13:01:51

Bounds of selected region (From, To) are displayed in the same units as applied for time scale of a spectrum. Time units can be switched to counts in

channel thanks to the button placed on a toolbar above a spectrum. For MCS-type spectra, the user can define Region Of Interest (ROI) and create based on them Peaks table 106.

# 6 Working with the spectra

The program can display and analyze either spectrum actually acquired or other spectra, loaded from files. Each of them can be copied to memory and stored there until program shut down.

Therefore, the program distinguishes three types of spectra: acquisition, memory and disk:

<u>Acquisition spectrum</u> – spectrum obtained during current measurement process <u>Memory spectrum</u> – a spectrum being copied to memory <u>Disk spectrum</u> – a spectrum loaded from a file

Each of above spectra is identified by its name and description.

To facilitate manipulation of many spectra, in the program Spectra container of is defined, in which the user can store up to 15 spectra of different types. Therefore, the selection of a spectrum to work with (working spectrum) is reduced to pointing at it in a list of spectra stored in spectra container. The selected spectrum, called *main spectrum*, is distinguished, is displayed and analyzed. Other spectra selected in spectra container can be only displayed in a background of a main spectrum.

## 6.1 Spectra container

The spectra container holds all spectra, which are available during the work with the program. In addition to the measured spectrum, the container may contain all the spectra (or their copies), which the user wants to display.

The spectra container may hold up to 15 spectra.

If program is shut down and invoked again then all accessible spectra are copied to memory.

#### Open spectra container dialog box:

icon: 🗐 menu: File | Spectra container...

Spectr	a container					
PSC	Spectrum name	М	А	Τ	D	
	New acquisition	۷	v			📴 Load from file
	Calibration standard		v			
	SREu-3 SRAm-6				v	Copy to mem.
	SREu-3; SRAm-6 - flat source				۷	💯 Save to file
	POMIAR_1_MCS				v	
	Mix2dn1_Calib				v	Export ASCII
	Ra226 900 1us				v	E Delete selected
	Ra226 900 3us				۷	
	Ra226 900 6ms				۷	🔀 <u>C</u> lear container
						🛄, <u>M</u> ain spectrum
						Spectrum color
						🔯 Spectrum style
						🛄 Inform.
			/ 0	)k	X	Cancel <b>?</b> <u>H</u> elp

In the dialog window of spectra container there is a table with a list of spectra and a set of buttons to manage the spectra and assign attributes to particular spectrum. The table header contains letter symbols of the attributes (may be seen by clicking on the table header):

P displayed spectrum (it can be plotted) – w hen a spectrum is not displayed,					
s C	its name is italicized *) plotting style – the spectrum may be displayed in four styles: line segments, points, bars and filled areas: spectrum color				
M A T D	main spectrum, its name is in bold. current acquisition spectrum. temporary spectrum - copy of a spectrum in memory. spectrum from a disk file.				

#### \*) "Displayed" and "not displayed" spectra.

All spectra included in the spectra container can be seen in the <u>list of reference</u> <u>spectra</u> **7**(1), thus visible on a screen, but they do not have to. The reference spectra list contains only those spectra, which have 'display' attribute set. To change "display" status, click the appropriate box on the P column in the table. This allows displaying only theses spectra, which are interesting in a given moment, while all other spectra remain in the container.

#### Commands available in the spectra container:

P.	Load from file	<u>Open spectrum ि </u> from a file
P	Copy to mem.	Copy spectrum to memory *)
<u>19</u>	Save to file	Save spectrum 701 to a file
2	Export ASCII	Export to ASCII format 72
	Delete selected	Remove selected (highlighted) spectra
	Clear container measure from the	Erase the spectra container – all spectra, except ement spectrum and main spectrum, are removed container
L <mark>II.</mark>	Main spectrum attribute clicking t	Assign to a selected (highlighted) spectrum an of a main spectrum – it can be done also by double he spectrum name
	Spectrum Color	Change color <sup>84</sup> of the selected spectrum
Ŵ	Spectrum Style	Change plot style 84 of the selected spectrum
ш <mark>а</mark>	Inform. spectrun can be c	Show spectrum information 72 <sup>1</sup> dialog box – n name can be renamed and spectrum description hanged

\*) **Copy** command causes displaying the dialog box <u>Information about main</u> <u>spectrum</u>[72<sup>2</sup>], in which word 'Memory' is automatically added to a name of a spectrum. In this box user can select another name for a spectrum and add description.

memory spectra are hold by the program only during current session - if you want to leave them for a future purpose save them to files before exiting the program.

see also:

List of reference spectra 71

## 6.2 Open spectrum

Opening a spectrum from a file may be done from menu or from the dialog box of Spectra container [67].

### Open spectrum from a file

icon: 📴 menu: File | Open spectrum....

If this command is performed from File menu than the opened spectrum is immediately displayed on a screen – it becomes a main spectrum and its name is appended to the list of reference spectra  $71^{\circ}$ .

If a spectrum opening command is performed from **Open** button of the <u>Spectra</u> <u>container dialog box</u> [67] then a given spectrum is only appended to the list of referenced spectra and it is not displayed on a screen.

In both cases, the open dialog window is displayed. It is a lightly modified default box of the Windows system, oriented for files opening. Modification consists of the monitoring sub-window, which allows to plot selected spectrum and watch its parameters such as measurement session name, its creation date, time of acquisition and information about the spectrum type. All spectra with \*.wdm format created by SWAN and TUKAN ver. 1.4 and 2.0 analyzers (these are predecessors of the TUKAN 8K program) can be opened .

Reading a spectrum in text format is possible only by operation  $\frac{\text{Import from}}{\text{ASCII format}}$ 

Opening a spectrum is possible in ANALYZER, CALIBRATION and ANALYSIS modules.

## 6.3 Save spectrum

Saving an experimental or any other spectrum placed on the spectra container to a file can be done from menu, from the icon placed on a toolbar or from the dialog box of Spectra container  $\boxed{67}$ 

Saving spectrum to a file:

icon: 🖾 menu: File | Save as...

Command is performed in default dialog box of the Windows for saving files. Spectra being collected in MCA mode of running are saved with default "**.wdm**" extension, and measured in MCS mode with "**.wds**" extension.

Binary spectra files formats 20 Export to ASCII - files formats 72 Before saving a spectrum, it is recommended to fill in <u>Information</u> 72 dialog box. This will give you a possibility to check status of a saved spectrum, attach a name to it, which is different from a file name, and describe the spectrum.

## 6.4 List of reference spectra

Each spectrum, either measured or retrieved from a disk file, is inserted into <u>Spectra container</u> **67**, accessible via dialog box. On the icon toolbar there is s drop down list of all opened spectra. Initially, this list contains the name of a *main spectrum* accompanied with a small square showing the color of the displayed spectrum. Measurement spectra are signed by 'x' in that square.

List of referenced spectra is a way for quick selection of displayed spectra.



Close to the drop down box containing spectra list, on the same toolbar the following icons are placed:



<u>inst</u>

simultaneous display of all spectra from the list; all spectra other than the main are displayed in background

\*) In the ANALYZER module, user can observe live measurement spectra, data are refreshed every 1 sec. After switch to CALIBRATION or ANALYSIS modules measurement spectrum stops to be "live". "Refresh" command allows to update data in the buffer to actual state.

## 6.5 Information about main spectrum

To show information about main spectrum, select:

icon:

menu: File | Spectrum Information...

**Spectrum information** command performed from the **File** menu or toolbar, opens a dialog box "Main spectrum information". Invoking this command in the spectra container allows to change the information about any spectrum.

Main spectrum informa	ation	X			
Spectrum file name:	C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k\Spectra\SREu-3 S				
Spectrum name:	SREu-3; SRAm-6 - flat source				
Spectrum description:	Calibration certificate: DP3-1-81/82				
Acq.parameters					
Date of acquisition start:	2006-01-25 10:30:50	Analyzer type: Tukan8k			
Live time:	1659 s	Serial number: 003			
Real time:	1669 s	Geometry: Marinelli			
Number of channels:	8192	Sample mass: 450 ml			
Count per second:	719,7 counts/s	Parameters edit			
Calibration					
energy:	YES				
peak shape:	YES				
efficiency:	YES	Show all calibrations			
		V OK X Cancel ? Help			

In "Main spectrum information" box user can change name of a spectrum and add description. It is recommended to do it before saving spectrum to a file. For spectra being actually measured parameters in the right column (type of analyzer, serial number, geometry and mass sample) are introduced automatically from acquisition path settings and can not be changed here. **Parameters edit** button is active only then, when information refers to a spectrum loaded from a file.

## 6.6 Export to ASCII format

Collected spectra can be saved to files in one of three ASCII forms. **Export ASCII** command is available in the **File** menu (in ANALYZER and
ANALYSIS modules only) or in the spectra container 67.

#### Export spectrum in ASCII form:

icon: 🕮 menu: File | Export ASCII...

When performed, the following dialog box appears in which a user selects one format:

🔣 Export spectrum to ASCII format	
Spectrum to export: "SREu-3 SRAm-6.w	ıdım ''
🔲 add measurement data heading to the ASCII fil	e
Format of the data record:	Area of the spectrum to save:
O 1 column (counts only) - *.dat	Full spectrum
2 columns (chan. number - counts) - *.lst	Selected area Markers
C 3 columns (channel - energy - counts) - *.lst	From channel: 0
C Table (counts only) - *.tab	To channel: 8191 🚊
Save to directory: D:\Dane TUKAN\Export ASI	
ASCII file name: SREu-3 SRAm-6	Ist
	✓ Ok X Cancel ? Help

#### **ASCII** spectra export options:

Counts in channels saved to text files are by default preceded by header containing name of a spectrum, measurement description and date. Setting this option off causes, that to text files only counts in channels are saved.

Format "\*.dat": - file contains one column with counts in channels

**Format "\*.lst":** - file contains two columns of data are placed: one with number of channel and second with number of counts, or file contains three columns: number of channel, energy and number of counts in this channel.

Format "\*.tab": - file contains counts in channels values are placed in ten columns.

#### Area of the spectrum to save:

In all formats the whole spectrum or its part can be saved:

## 6.7 Import from ASCII format

The program performs function of importing spectra saved to files in ASCII format described in Export to ASCII format [72], i.e. "Ist", ",dat", ",tab" and ",rpt" (report files) type.



When performed, the "import spectra" dialog window is displayed containing textual description of procedure concerned with importing data from ASCII files. As described there, to the program can be imported data from any ASCII file, not necessary saved in the formats described earlier

ASCII spectrum	data editor							×
🚊 Open file	Instruction							
— Data from ASCII f	ile							
C:\Projekty\Tuka	n\Widma\SRE	u-3; SRAm-6	- flat source l	Eng.tab				
Tukan8k 20 Spectrum: SE	06-06-05 Fu-3: SDAm	-6 - flat	enurce	counte i	n channel	From.	1450 To:	1500
Speccedan. SI	Lu o, sida		, 200420C,	00000000			1400 10.	
152	145	160	152	137	151	171	177	206 🗸
•								
r – Spectrum data –								
Spectrum name:	SREu-3; SRA	m-6 - flat sou	rce Eng.tab					
Spectrum desc.:								
Acquisition date:	2006-06-05		Live	time [s]:		Num	ber of channel	s: 1500
	(format: yyyy-rr	ım-dd)	Real	time [s]:		From:	SRE To	o: 1500
329	521	1011	1701	2891	4243	5813	7188	8040 📥
7514	6156 105	4731	3130 105	1955	1094	611 125	341 106	205
115	112	120	110	112	116	102	116	108
113								
								-
•								
Number of co	olumns: 10	Cł Er	nannel counte nergy value in	er in first colum I first column	in		Data	convert
					<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	Import	🗶 Cancel	? Help

The "import spectra" dialog window is divided into two parts: upper displaying plain contents of ASCII file from which data is being imported and bottom, containing data as processed by the program. Based on that data, after selecting the "**Import**" key, the program creates a spectrum (in "wdm" format) and places it in the spectra container. When quitting the program, such a spectrum will not be saved. If needed to be saved in "\*.wdm" format, user must run appropriate command.

"Instruction" button will open detailed instruction how to proceed in case of another file formats.

## 6.8 Smoothing spectrum

Smoothing spectrum operation is accessible in menu Analyze in ANALYZER or ANALYZE modules only.

#### Smoothing spectrum:

icon: Malysis | Smoothing...



## 6.9 Adding and subtraction spectra

Addition and subtraction commands are available in the same dialog window. This window is accessible in Analyze menu in ANALYZER or ANALYZE module only.

#### Add and subtract spectra:

icon:

menu: Add /Subtract spectra...

Spectra (S1 and S2) for adding or subtraction may come from the Spectra container  $67^{-1}$ .

Mathematical rule is done based on the formula: (S1 \* A + C) +/- (S2 \* B) seen in the dialog box.

ipectrum S1:			
Old alarm clock.		•	1 400
Real time: 10000 s live time: 9991 s	Multiplier A: 1,000	X	1 200 -
dd constans value C:	Value C: 1,000	20	800
Spectrum S2:			600
background for old clock	<	v	400
Real time: 10000 s live time: 9997 s	Multiplier B: 0,999		
ubtract Add	(S1 * A + C) +/- (Si	2 * B)	
Result spectrum:			1 400
Did alarm clock - backgroun	d for old clock.		1 200 -
escription:			1 000 -
fodification: \$1 * 1,000 · \$2	* 0,999	×	800- 600-
Date of acquisition start: 20 Real time: 10 .ive time: 95	009-09-21 08:29:12 0000 : 391 :	_	

#### Subtraction of background spectrum

Normalization multiplier **B** is automatically calculated as a quotient of "live time" value of a spectrum **S1** to a "live time" value of a spectrum **S2**. So, a background spectrum should be input as **S2** spectrum.

#### Adding of constant value

Constant value C is applied only then, when "Add constant value C" check box is set.

If **S2** contains no spectrum it will be performed rule of adding constant value to a spectrum **W1**. All operations are processed in float numbers but final results are rounded to integers and negative numbers are zeroed.

Command is performed after press Add or Subtract button.

After command is performed, the description field of the result spectrum contains algorithm description and performed values of parameters. This field is editable, can be modified by a user.

Result spectrum is stored in memory after pressing **OK** button. Name of result spectrum is automatically created as mix of name of spectra being processed. This name can be changed before saving spectrum or later in

information about spectrum 72 dialog box.

## 6.10 Compressing spectrum

Operation of spectrum compression may be run only in ANALYZER or ANALYZIS modules.

### Compressing spectrum:

icon: 腿

menu: Analysis | Compressing...

Operation relies on adding of counts in 2, 4 or 8 following channels and storing results in a new spectrum.

Compressing spectrum	×
Original spectrum	60
	40
Compression level	25 20 15 10 5
Compression start	0 1 000 2 000 3 000 4 000 5 000 6 000 7 000 8 000
Spectrum after compression:	180
mushroms 2 05_10_2006 · compr_4x	140 - 120 -
Description:	100 80 60 40 -
<u> </u>	20
Save as	V Ok X Cancel ? Help

The dialog window shows shape of the result spectrum. It is saved in memory after pressing OK button.

# 6.11 Printing a spectrum

Each spectrum (or their composition), displayed on a screen can also be printed:

icon: 🕒 menu: File | Print spectrum...

This operation opens a dialog window showing a print preview and allowing printer selection and setting printing parameters. The spectrum is printed in the same proportions as seen in the preview (all printing colors are identical if available on the printer).



It is recommended, for printing speed reasons, to display a spectrum in the line segment plotting style.

More advanced printing options are available in the REPORTS module.

# 7 Plotting a spectrum

A spectrum is displayed in the special panel, which has spectra scrolling bars (vertical and horizontal) and buttons for changing of the scaling range. Using keyboard or mouse you can see any fraction of the spectrum enlarged to required level. Both scrolling bars are joined in the bottom right corner of a panel by a # button , which restores the display of the full spectrum.



To change the spectrum scale and its plotting style:

- move the markers controlled by a mouse directly on the displayed spectrum (zoom icon),
- > click the appropriate icon on the toolbar:
- > choose a command from context menu of the display panel:
- > choose a command from the Screen menu:
- > use the keyboard 143.

Before displaying, the spectrum is analyzed and display scale is automatically adjusted to vertical and horizontal spectrum maxima.

Maximum of **X s cale** is equal to a number of channels in a spectrum (1024, 2048, 4096, 8192, etc). Maximum of **Y s cale** is set to 20% over maximal value of a spectrum, minimum is 0 and can not be negative.

At every change of a main spectrum, displayed scale is adjusted automatically to its contents.

#### **Displaying energy scale**

If the spectrum contains energy calibration then in the field of the spectrum plot two horizontal scales are displayed: bottom scale in channels units (black color), upper scale (navy blue color) is displayed in units set in program configuration form (see <u>Configuration analysis options</u> 137). If a spectrum has no calibration, than upper scale is not displayed.

## 7.1 Markers

There are two markers implemented (the left – L and the Right – R), which are displayed as the two thin vertical bars and may be moved across a spectrum using either a mouse or a keyboard via Cursor keys 143.

When you position the cursor (via mouse) on the marker then the cursor shape

is changed either to left, or to right. In this situation, you may move selected marker independently from the other. When cursor is placed between

markers, than its shape is changed to + and you move markers jointly.

The cursor shape the means, that zooming has been turned on and markers cannot be moved. To move markers again, turn zoom off.

One marker can be moved either independently from the other or both markers can be moved together with constant distance between them – one marker cannot go past the other and they are always present on the screen. Therefore, setting the marker channel position beyond the screen causes the change the displaying scale.

In ROI window below the spectrum, the position of markers is displayed (in channel or energy) and the number of counts at these marker positions.



# 7.2 Display control

Changing of display scale can be performed by buttons and scroll bars of the spectrum display panel (see <u>Plotting a spectrum</u> 80), icons placed on toolbar, cursor keys, main and context menu.

#### Toolbars dedicated for display control



lcon	Menu: Screen	Command description
lu	Full spectrum	show a full spectrum
<u>التار</u>	Expand On spectrum	twice expand on a spectrum*)
.tt	Expand Off spectrum	tw ice expand off selected part of a spectrum
11	Set markers	set markers on given positions: a dialog box appears on a screen w here user can input required positions and confirm with OK button

lcon	Menu: Screen	Command description
ÌII.	Markers on centre screen	set markers on positions equal to 1/3 and 2/3 of a range
<b>•</b> ••	Expand On spectrum	expand on a part of a spectrum selected by markers to full size of a screen
	Expand Off spectrum	twice expand off number of displayed channels
<b>†</b> ^	Automatic Y scale	adjust automatically Y scale to the highest value displayed on a screen additionally enlarged by 20%
门	Set Y scale	set Y scale in a given range "from" "to": a dialog box appears on a screen w here user can input required positions
	Logarithmi c / Line scale	sw itch Y scale betw een logarithmic and linear
#	Grid	set on or off a grid of coordinates on a screen
Q.	Mouse zoom	set on or off a zoom: if a zoom is on, then shape of a cursor is the
B	Print spectrum	print a spectrum displayed on a screen (see <u>Printing a spectrum</u>
ny VV	Hide ROI	hide or expose ROIs of a spectrum. That command does not change a structure of ROIs but only hide or expose colorful parts of a spectrum
M	Spectrum style	see Spectrum plot style changing 84
	Spectrum panel colors	see <u>Colors of the plot panel</u> 84
	Refresh screen	delete and redraw a spectrum in a spectrum plotting panel - sometimes necessary after closing dialog box displayed earlier on the same area
Ä	Show peaks position	display calculated values of centroid of peaks and related to them nuclide

\*) Command expands a picture in a way, that preset marker positions (and the area they enclose) are preserved and are always visible on the screen. Each

pressing of the icon causes the number of channels remaining between markers to decrease twice symmetrically on both sides until marker reaches any panel border. In such a case decreasing is continued one-sided (at side of that marker which does not reach end of panel). When moving markers leads to exit any of them outside of a panel, then command does nothing.

## 7.3 Spectrum plot style changing

Default plotting style is line - spectrum is plotting connecting spectra points. It is the quickest and most recommended type of plot.

Change of *main spectrum* plotting style is performed by icon placed on a toolbar.

Style of any other spectrum can be changed in spectra container 67.



After selecting "down to triangle" at the right of an icon, menu containing available styles of plotting appears. To change style of plotting click on selected style from a list.

Plotting style of each spectrum may be changed at any time, however this attribute is not retained after program shut down.

# 7.4 Colors of the plot panel

Set of colors of a spectrum plotting panel consisting **background** color and **marker** color is an independent attribute of each module of the program. Color settings are saved after program shutdown (they are included in the configuration parameters) and are restored when the program is started again. For a **spectrum** is differently, color is its attribute, so the same spectrum is always displayed in the same color in all modules of the program.

**Changing colors** 

icon: 🗰 menu: Screen | Colors



In plot panel colors selection dialog box only color for *main spectrum* can be selected - colors for other spectra can be set in <u>spectra container</u> 671. When changing color of background it is important to watch if to none of spectrum placed in the spectra container is given the same color; in this case such a spectrum becomes not visible on a background.

#### see also:

Display spectrum options 136

# 8 ROI

A **ROI** (Region Of Interest) is a fragment of a spectrum of special interest, since it contains a peak or group of peaks. It is defined uniquely by two parameters: channel number at the beginning of the region and channel number of the end of the region – both channels are a part of the region.

The **ROI table** is a set o ROIs created for a spectrum. It can be built automatically by executing <u>automatic peak search</u> 100 command or manually using markers and commands described in next chapter.

The ROI table can be **saved** to the same file as a spectrum is, or can be saved in a separate file (see <u>ROI files</u><sup>[88]</sup>) and then moved to the next measured spectra.

The program uses the idea of "working region of interest". It is a part of a spectrum contained between markers together with the channels, where the markers are set. For such region, the program continually calculates and displays the parameters using <u>"direct" model</u> [93]. These parameters are calculated after each change of the marker position or after each change of data. Working region of interest does not belong to the ROI table.

### Colors of ROIs

ROIs are shown as color-filled area under a spectrum.

By default, three colors are applied to signify different states of ROI:

- "unanalyzed" ROI color beige or grey (depends on Windows color scheme)
- "analyzed" ROI containing one peak color green
- "analyzed" ROI containing doublets (two peaks) color blue

Colors are user configurable (see Display spectrum options 136).

**Parameters of ROI** are displayed in <u>Peak parameters panel</u> [90<sup>•</sup>]. Parameters of all selected regions are placed in the ROI Table.

## 8.1 ROI controlling commands

All commands related to ROI can be performed via icons on toolbar, commands available in main menu of the program or commands available in context menu for the spectrum plotting panel.

## Toolbar dedicated to perform commands on ROI:



lcon	Menu: <b>Screen</b>	Command description	Re mar ks
<u>_</u>	Save ROI	save region selected by markers to the ROI Table (available also from keyboard by lns key)	1)
X	Delete ROI	delete ROI selected by markers (available also from keyboard by key)	2)
X	Delete all ROI	delete entire ROI table	
<b>≜</b> ⊱	Prev ROI	set markers position on ROI lying to the left of left marker (available also from keyboard by combination of htt keys)	
-24	Next ROI	set markers position on ROI lying to the right of right marker (available also from keyboard by combination of Att the keys)	
	Hom e ROI	set markers position on the first ROI in a spectrum	
÷.	End ROI	set markers position on the last ROI in a spectrum	
12	Peak search	run command Automatic peak search 100	
<u>λ</u> Σ	Calc ROI parameters	calculate parameters of a peak for a ROI surrounded by markers	3)
<u>12</u>	Calculate parameters all ROI	calculate parameters for all ROIs in a spectrum	4)
<u>Å</u> Id	Nuclide identificatio n	run command <u>Peaks identification</u> 1031 for a ROI surrounded by markers	
<b>⊧∕</b> ≮ <b>€∕</b> ∦	Switch ROI param. unit - keV/chn	switch units of peak parameters displayed below the spectrum plotting panel: energy or channel. Appearance of an icon depends on a kind of unit actually selected	5)
	Peak table	show dialog box containing peaks table 106 for actually displayed spectrum	

Remarks:

- 1) Saved region is highlighted. Each region is automatically numbered. Given to ROI number is visible at left part of a panel of <u>peak parameters</u> [90]. Each new ROI is added to the ROI table, such that the whole table is sorted by the first channel number of ROI. ROI can be nested and overlapped; the same ROI cannot be saved in the table twice.
- 2) There are no special mechanisms for edition of ROIs. If it appears that any ROI is improperly defined, a user should delete it, move markers to proper positions and save region again.
- 3) ROI newly added to the table by Save ROI command is automatically "recalculated", i.e. parameters for a peak contained in a region are calculated (in ANALYZER module it is "direct" method, in ANALYSIS module it is function selected). Calculate ROI parameters command allows to calculate those parameters again.

ROIs saved in acquisition path and those loaded from a file are not "calculated" by default.

- 4) **Calculate parameters all ROI** command allows to calculate parameters for all regions applying e.g. different fitting function (see <u>Advanced analysis</u> 94<sup>th</sup>).
- 5) Selection of unit can also be done in Configuration dialog box (see <u>Display</u> <u>spectrum options</u> 136).

Except methods explained above, the program offers mechanism of fast switching of markers for the chosen ROI with buttons in navigation panel (see <u>Peak parameters panel</u> 90) and keyboard (see <u>ROI system navigation keys</u> 144).

## 8.2 ROI files

ROI files are binary type files. To a file are saved: ROI borders and type of function applied to calculate peak parameters.

The program assigns default extension ".roi" to ROI files and name compatible to a name of a spectrum.

ROI files are saved to working directory 140 of the program.

Commands for loading and saving ROI tables are available in ROI menu only.

Save ROI table to file

icon: 🕮 menu: ROI | Save to file...

### Sets ROI table from file to a spectrum

icon: 🖾 menu: ROI | Load from file...

The operation of inserting data from a ROI file to the ROI table of the program may simplify analysis of the set of measured spectra, if the same ROIs are used for calculations.

# 9 Analysis

Mathematical analysis is always performed on the *main spectrum* actually being displayed. It consists of: calculation of single peak parameters, manual or automatic peak search and nuclide identification. These commands can be performed in ANALYZER, CALIBRATION and ANALYSIS modules.

In ANALLYZER and CALIBRATION module peak parameters are calculated performing "on-line" method - directly from experimental data, see <u>"Direct"</u> method of peak analysis<sup>[90]</sup>.

In ANALYZE module set of available methods is enlarged by single peak and doublets Gauss fitting operations - see chapter Advanced analysis 94.

Results of spectrum analysis are placed in <u>peaks table</u> 100 which is developed based on the ROI table, what means that every peak needs to exist in ROI structure. The ROI Table can be created manually or automatically thanks to <u>"Peaks search</u> 100" command. This table together with set of data describing measurement is available in <u>REPORT</u> 127 module.

## 9.1 Peak analysis 'on-line'

"Direct" method of peak analysis, applied mostly in ANALYZER module, is based on calculation of peak parameters directly from experimental data without using any special mathematical functions. Such algorithm is very fast and can be performed on "live" spectrum after every data refresh or every change of markers position.

see also: <u>Peak parameters panel</u> ାଡି Peak parameters calculate ୨୬୩

### 9.1.1 Peak parameters panel

In ANALYZER and CALIBRATION modules parameters of peaks present in ROI are displayed in panel of ROI parameters.

This panel (placed below a spectrum) consists of two parts: navigation and parameters.

Navigation part contains total number of ROIs in a spectrum (in brackets) and

number of a ROI on which markers are currently set. Current number of ROI is preceded by # sign; if the field after this sign is empty, it means that markers are not placed exactly at the borders of ROI. In such a case markers define so-called <u>"working area"</u>[86], that is any part of a spectrum.

→ If markers are not placed on selected ROI, then panel of parameters contains "live" values calculated "on-line" for working region of interest, but if markers stay exactly on ROI bounds - panel contains parameters calculated earlier, saved in the Peak Table.



Thanks to navigation buttons a user can easily move markers among ROIs.

Parameters available in the ROI Parameters Panel:

Name	Value	Description	Rem arks
From:	xxxxx.xx	position of a channel defining beginning of region - displayed in energy or channel units*)	1)
	(xxx)	number of counts in channel "From"	
То:	xxxxx.xx	position of a channel defining end of region - displayed in energy or channel units*)	1)
	(xxx)	number of counts in channel "To"	
Unit:	[kev] or [chn]	type of unit applied to data displayed in tw o beginning columns of the panel*)	1)
	G0	symbol of mathematical model applied to calculate peak parameters**)	2)
Ctr:	xxxxx.xx	peak centroid - placement of middle part of a peak	
	(xxx)	number of counts in channel placed closest to peak centroid	

Name	Value	Description	Rem arks
Fwhm:	xxxxx.xx	width a peak at half of maximum	3)
	(0.xx%)	percentage ratio of half peak width to placement of middle part of peak (Fw hm/Ctr * 100%)	
Fwtm:	xxxxx.xx	width a peak in 1/10 of maximum	3)
Nuclide:	(xxx)	name of a nuclide identified for ROI - in brackets is given know n energy value for that nuclide	
Integral:	XXXXX.XX	total counts in all channels belonging to ROI (Net plus background field)	
Area:	xxxxx.xx	net total counts in a peak	
	(xx.xx%)	relative error of net field	
Cps[c/s]:	(xx.x)	number of counts per second	

Remarks:

- 1) Energy (or time for MCS mode of running) units are selected in the program configuration dialog box (see <u>Configuration analysis options</u> 137).
- 2) List of used symbols of mathematical models applied to calculate peak parameters is described in chapter <u>Mathematical models of peak analysis</u> [95]. In ANALYZER module peak parameters are calculated based on "direct" method only (symbols **G0**, **G0**, **c** lub **G0**, **m**).
- 3) Segment of a line showing peak cut in 1/2 and 1/10 of its maxima can be enabled by selecting proper option in the program configuration dialog box, in <u>Analysis</u> 137 tab.

In ANALYZER module peak parameters are calculated based on "direct" method only. Rule of this method is available in chapter: <u>Peak parameters</u> calculate [93].

If a spectrum being displayed has linked efficiency calibration and in <u>configuration analysis options</u> [137] there is "Automatic calculate activity and concentration" set in, then in peak parameters panel efficiency, activity and concentration (specific activity) are also displayed.

The parameters displayed in this panel correspond to the ones calculated for the current setting of the markers, and are recalculated each time when markers are moved when the option **"Peak parameters - Automatic calculate parameters"** is turned on (see <u>Configuration analysis options</u> [137]). If this option is turned off, peak parameters may be calculated by executing command

**Calculate ROI**; then they are displayed only up to the moment of markers move or to refreshing of *"live" spectrum*.

### **Calculate ROI parameters**

icon: 🔊 menu: Analysis | Calculate ROI

All parameters of a peak are calculated in channels unit, and from such form can be recalculated into energy units. In the program these parameters are displayed in channels or energy units.

### 9.1.2 Peak parameters calculate

Base model for "direct" on-line calculation of peak parameters is model G0 (see <u>Mathematical models of peak analysis</u>)<sup>[95]</sup>. This model is available in two variants: G0\_c and G0\_m selected in <u>Configuration analysis options</u>[137].

**Model G0** - "direct" (i.e. without fitting function) model of peak parameters calculation. Peak parameters are calculated based on counts in channels belonging to a region set by markers (together with those channels on which markers are placed on).



Peak parameters calculation:

Name	Mode of calculation
Backgro und	set based on line function leaded betw een interpolated first and last channels of peak. Interpolation is calculated based on three channels lying outside of a region and a channel on w hich marker is placed.
Integral	calculated by summing counts in all channels laying within peak boundaries
Area	computed as a sum of net counts in a peak: $Area = Integral - \frac{(B_t - B_p)N}{2}$ where BL an average count number in 3 channels laying to the left of a peak, BR an average count number in 3 channels laying to the right of a peak, N is a number of channels inside a peak
Ctr.	peak position (center) calculated using the net counts with a weighted average method
Fwhm	peak half width calculated using net counts. The program calculates with line interpolation method position of two channels laying on a half of peak height on a left and on a right of peak's side – their subtraction defines Fw hm value
Fwtm	peak width calculated for 1/10 of its height calculated with the method similar to Fw hm value

**Model G0\_c** – similar to Go model, the only difference is, that for calculation of **Ctr.**, **Fwhm** and **Fwtm** total counts for channels belonging to the region are taken into account.

**Model G0\_m** – **Fwhm** and **Fwtm** parameters are calculated similar as in G0\_c model. Placement of **Ctr.** is fixed in a channel with highest number of counts.

## 9.2 Advanced analysis

Advanced analysis is accessible only in module ANALIZIS. Its includes ie. Gauss function fitting and double peak separation.

see also:

Mathematical models of peak analysis 95 Selection of fitting function models 96 Peak parameters display 98

## 9.2.1 Mathematical models of peak analysis

Advanced analysis methods are available in ANALYZE module only. Applied functions are available in <u>Appendix A: Library TukanFit.dl</u> 11451, containing set of procedures which fit the model's parameters to the experimental data. All fits return parameters of fitting functions with Chi^2 and Chi^2 per degree of freedom errors and calculate peak parameters such as Fwhm, Fwtm, full area under the peak and others.

The implemented version of the library uses thirteen models of peak fitting functions. These models contain data fitting algorithms for a single or double peak Gauss function and different functions for background treatment. Each model is distinguished by its symbol, which is later available in a set of peak parameters.

Symbol of model	Description of model
models ava	ailable in menu: Configuration / Options / Analysis 137
G0	"direct" calculation - based on net counts
G0_c	"direct" calculation - based on total counts
G0_m	"direct" calculation - peak position in a maximum counts
models ava <u>models</u> 96 <sup>°</sup> 1)	ailable in ANALYZE module panel (see <u>Selection of fitting function</u>
G1_Pn	Gauss function with polynomial background, n - degree of polynomial $(n = 1 \div 3)$
G1_F	Gauss function with background defined as Fermi function
G1_fF	Gauss function with background defined as fixed Fermi function
G1_EPn	Gauss function with background "Exponential function with polynomial", $n - degree of polynomial (n = 1 \div 3)$
G1_PLPn	Gauss function with background "Pow er function with polynomial", n - degree of polynomial (n = $1\div3$ )
G2_Pn	2 Gauss function and polynomial background, n - degree of polynomial (n = $1\div3$ )
G2_F	2 Gauss function and "Fermi function" background
G2_fF	2 Gauss function and "fixed Fermi function" background
G2_F_Pn	2 Gauss function with common <b>Fwhm</b> and polynomial background, n - degree of polynomial ( $n = 1 \div 3$ )

The following table contains list of all models available in the program.

Symbol of model	Description of model
G2_Q_Pn	2 Gauss function with depend fields and polynomial background, n - degree of polynomial (n = $1\div3$ )
G2_EPn	2 Gauss function and "Exponential function w ith polynomial" background, $n - degree$ of polynomial ( $n = 1 \div 3$ )
G2_PLPn	2 Gauss function and "Pow er function w ith polynomial" background, n - degree of polynomial (n = $1 \div 3$ )
G2_D_EPn	2 Gauss function with fixed centroid difference and polynomial background, n - degree of polynomial (n = $1\div3$ )

see also:

Appendix A: Library TukanFit.dll 145

### 9.2.2 Selection of fitting function models

In <u>Mathematical models of peak analysis</u> shapter 16 mathematical models for peak analysis is presented.

In <u>ANALYZE module</u> peak parameters panel differs to one available in ANALYZER module. Only left part of this, i.e. ROI navigation part, stays unchanged (see <u>Peak parameters panel</u> 90).

The fitting function selection panel consists of five parts. Selection of mathematical model is reduced to pointing appropriate options. Three exemplary settings are shown below:

C-1- 001	Fitting function	Background function	2 Gauss	Field relation	Centroid difference
Caic RUI	C no fit G 1 Gauss C 2 Gauss	Fixed Fermi function	no additional depend.     common FWHM     dependent fields     fix centraid difference	Area1 1.00 m Area2 0,40 m	dff.Cir 1,00 🚆
moder		N			

Selection of G1\_fF model

Calc ROI	Fitting function C po fitt C 1 Gauss C 2 Gauss	Background function Polynomial Polynomial degree:	C Gauss     C no additional depend.     C common FWHM     C dependent fields     C fit centraid difference	Field relation Area1 1.00 = Area2 0,40 =	Centroid difference
model	· Foodst		The centroid difference		

Selection of G2\_F\_P3 model

Calc ROI	Fitting function C no fitt C 1 Gauss C 2 Gauss	Background function Polynomial Polynomial degree: 2	C gauss c no additional depend. c common FWHM dependent fields fix centroid difference	Field relation Area1 1.00 = Area2 0,40 =	Centroid difference

Selection of G2\_Q\_P2 model

## Model selection:

#### Fitting function:

- no fit selection of G0 model, i.e. model without fitting function after selection, all other options remains unavailable (grayed)
- 1 Gauss selection of one from five models for fitting single peak
- 2 Gauss selection of one from eight models for fitting doublet

### Background function:

drop down list contains five items:

- ✓ Polynomial
- ✓ Fermi function
- ✓ Fixed Fermi function
- ✓ Exponential function with polynomial
- ✓ Power function with polynomial

**Polynomial degree** - selected in range from 1 to 3 - available only then, when background function is polynomial

#### 2 Gauss

- no additional depend
- common FWHM selected with polynomial background only
- dependent fields only when polynomial background function is selected, then "Field relation" becomes active,
- fix centroid difference applies to polynomial background function only " Centroid difference" becomes active

### Centroid difference

distance between centroid of peaks needs to be given in channels

Selection of "2 Gauss" option influence to other fields of the panel. If second, third or fourth option is set, the program automatically selects "Polynomial" item in "Background function" field.

### Step by step description of analyse process:

- 1. set markers on bounds of selected region,
- 2. in the fitting function selection panel select parameters of function,
- 3. press Calc ROI button,
- 4. if result is not satisfactory, repeat steps  $1 \div 3$ ,
- 5. insert analyzed region to the ROI table.

Description of **fixed model** option (available at the left of the fitting function selection panel)

- when <u>off</u>, the program cancels previous settings of fitting function model and sets model G0 (no background) after every movement of markers
- when <u>on</u>, settings of fitting function model <u>do not change</u>

The result of the fit is displayed as a diagram of fitting function. Calculated parameters of function are displayed in peak parameters panel described in chapter Peak parameters display

## 9.2.3 Peak parameters display

In ANALYZE module the peak parameters panel is displayed at the right side of a screen.

Fitting results are shown in two forms:

- ✓ graphic fitting functions are displayed on a screen Gauss function with a blue line, background with a gray line
- ✓ text available in the peak parameters panel

Model	G2_F_P3	Info
From:	1098,38	keV
To:	1430,49	keV
Chi^2/N: Integral:	<mark>2,080</mark> 2158109	
Ctr:	1171,64	±0,050 keV
Fwhm:	70,13	±0,022 keV (5,78%)
Fwtm:	127,81	±0,040 keV
Area:	965787	±280 (0,03%)
Nuclide:	Co60 (11)	73,21keV)
Effi.: Activity: Concent:	0,021 30712,0 307,1	±8,904 Bq ±0,089 Bq/ml
Ctr:	1330,53	±0.049 keV
Fwhm:	69,85	±0.022 keV (5,11%)
Fwtm:	127,30	±0.040 keV
Area:	742912	±1248 (0,17%)
Nuclide:	Co60 (13	32,46keV)
Effi.: Activity: Concent:	0,015 33161,0 331,6	±55,715 Bq ±0,557 Bq/ml
4		

Figure near by shows contents of the peak parameters panel after applying fitting function: 2 Gauss with common Fwhm and background as polynomial of 3 degree.

At the top is seen symbol of applied model, near by is placed "Info" button which allows to display description of mathematical models.

Context menu is available after right mouse button click at any place on the panel:



This way a user can display (and plot) mathematical parameters of fitting function and obtain description of applied model.

If the results are not satisfactory, change the fitting function model or marker setting and press **Calc ROI** button again.

All values are calculated in such units as set in Configuration analysis options

137. By pressing button, it is possible to obtain values calculated in channels.

Calculated data are saved to the ROI Table in the same units as were displayed, but user can change it in Report configuration options (see <u>Peaks</u> table configuration 130).

Detailed description of all models implemented in the program is available in: <u>Mathematical models of peak analysis</u> 95<sup>1</sup>.

## 9.3 Automatic peak search

Automatic peak search allows searching for peaks by marking ROI that should contain peaks on a spectrum. It is done using very fast algorithm that is based on rectangular autocorrelation function. If beginning parameters are set correctly, then it yields proper results with spectra obtained by both types of detectors: semiconductor and scintillation.

The input parameters of the algorithm determine the result, which is the number of peaks found in a spectrum and the width of marked ROI.

#### Peak search



After performed, appears a dialog box in which a user can define conditions and can start search process by click on OK button:

XX	<u>A</u> 9 9 <u>A</u>	Å?	¢ <b>۸</b>	1 12	34	34	M	⊮∕c	
Peak search Data input for peak sea Quality levet Peak width parameter	rch function	8	H H	×	0				
Attention: Removing the current with new data will cause	table of ROI and se performing ar Ok.	I filling up operation ancel	х ? ⊟•	4					

**Quality level** – determines confidence level of peak search. It can be set in range from 1 to 20; lower value means more sensitive of the method. **Peak width parameter [chn]** – sets each peak starting width – the parameter should be close to the mean width of the peaks in the spectrum.

Both above parameters are closely related with a spectrum and are stored with it in the spectra container. The program preserves those values and when command is run again on the same spectrum, they should not be set again.

Automatic peak search command can be started in ANALYZE as well as in ANALYZER and CALIBRATION modules. In both cases process

proceeds a little differently. In ANALYZER and CALIBRATION module as a result of command performance is creation of the ROI table, from which next the program calculates peak parameters applying "direct" method (see <u>Peak parameters calculate</u> <sup>[93\*]</sup>), run nuclide identification and input results to the peak table.

In ANALYZE module, in the peak search dialog box additional option is available:

Automatic peak fitting – if set, this command marks those ROIs, which contain doublets. Next performs fitting command for all regions applying **G1\_fF** model if single peak is found or **G2\_fF** model for doublets (see <u>Mathematical models of peak analysis</u> [95<sup>°</sup>)). If not set, command is performed in the same way as in ANALYZER and CALIBRATION modules, that is without fitting.

As the result of automatic peak search, found ROIs are displayed in a spectrum, and the <u>peaks table</u> 106 is built in memory. The peak table contains calculated parameters for all ROIs.

# 9.4 Nuclide libraries

Nuclide libraries available in the program are loaded from files. Files have "tnc" extension. They are placed in directory "Library" established during program installation process.

In <u>Configuration analysis options</u> [137] user may declare name of library automatically read into the memory during each program execution. Option "Libraries editor..." available in "Analysis" menu shows dialog window in which a user can watch and edit nuclide library or change it on another one.

### Preview and library edition:

icon: Image: icon: icon:

Lu			n						_
N	uclide	Energ	/[keV]	Inten	sity	- 1	1/2	Unit 11/2	ł
Am	1241		26,36	0,0	2500		433,3	year	1
Ba	133		30,90	0,9	7000		10,91	year	
Ba	133		35,20	0,2	3000		10,91	year	
Eu	152		39,82	0,0	3880		13,21	year	
Ba	133		53,20	0,0	2200		10,91	year	
≽ Am	i241		59,54	0,3	5900		433,3	year	
Yb	169		63,12	0,4	4200		32	day	
Ta	182		67,80	0,4	1000		115	day	
Hg	197		77,35	0,2	4100		2,71	day	
Ba	133		81,00	0,3	4100		10,91	year	
Тb	160		86,79	0,1	3700		72,1	day	]
	1 4	1.	1			1.	1.0		~
	-	•	PI		_	-	~	- 75	e -
Data	sort -						-		

#### Sorting data

The library dialog window allows to sort data using: names of nuclides, energies, line intensities and half lifetimes.

Sort is run by clicking a header of given column or by choosing a sort criterion in "Data sort" field.

#### Edition of the library of nuclides

The following commands are available in editor:

- > insert item ("+" button in navigation toolbar)
- > delete item ("-" button in navigation toolbar)
- > modify selected item

Library file should be saved after any changing - program informs about that in communicate after closing dialog window.

All changes may be canceled using button Cancel changes.

#### Creation of new library of nuclides

Menu of the dialog window contains item **New library**. This command or combination of keys **<Alt+N>** removes all the library data from memory of the

program (clears the data table).

Buttons available in the navigation bar of the data table is useful for filling new data. Using <Tab> key or mouse pointer simplifies movement on the tables fields.

New library should be saved to file with default extension "tnc".

#### Format of the library file

Library file contains ASCII text. Each item is represented by a new line. Columns are separated by two spaces.

see also:

Peaks identification 103 Peaks table 106

## 9.5 Peaks identification

Identification of nuclides is done only when two conditions are passed:

- 1. spectrum has a calibration
- 2. <u>nuclide library</u> 10 his loaded to memory of the program

Program identifies automatically all peaks each time after recalculating of the peak parameters only then, when

Automatic peak ident is enabled in <u>Configuration analysis options</u> [137]. ROI selected between markers is analyzed and all ROIs in the peak table also. If **Automatic peak ident** is disabled, then identification could be run manually from ROI navigation bar:



or from identification dialog box: menu: Analysis | Identification...

Sta	ary riante. andards the					त्व		
	Nuclide	Energy [keV]	Intensity	T 1/2	Unit T1/2			
Þ	Ba133	53,16	0,02200	3848	day			
	Am241	59,54	0,35900	433,3	year			
	Ba133	79,62	0,02600	3848	day			
	Ba133	81,00	0,34000	3848	day			
	Cd109	88,03	0,03900	1,24	year			
	Eu152	121,78	0,28370	4931	day			
	Co57	122,11	0,85700	270	day			
	Co57	136,47	0,11100	270	day			
	Eu152	244,69	0,07510	4931	day			
	Ba133	276,40	0,07100	3848	day			
	1 1					리		
-		1	1	1		1		
_			► ►	4	<u>م</u>			
Identification criteria C 1/4 FWHM C 1/2 FWHM C 1/2 FWHM C peak table								
C Set: 30 [keV] Run identification								

#### Identification criteria:

The identification procedure searches the library for the nuclide with the closest energy to the peak energy. The program searches the library in the energy range:

E+/- E

where: E - peak energy, E - width of the energy window

Width of the energy window **E** is defined in the **identification criteria** and is: 1/4 Fwhm or 1/2 Fwhm of the identified peak, or has the value set in the **Set** window

The identification results are displayed in the peak parameters window and saved in the peak table.

see also: <u>Nuclide libraries</u>101 Peaks table106

# 9.6 Activity and concentration calculate

The program calculates efficiency and activity for ROI region (peak) if:

- 1. handled spectrum contains efficiency calibration,
- 2. identified nuclide exists in selected region.

**Efficiency** for given energy E is calculated based on calibration fitting function applied in Efficiency of detection calculation 120

$$\epsilon(E,q_i) = \exp(\sum q_i \ln^i(E))$$

Activity is calculated based on formula:

$$A = \frac{N}{\epsilon(E) \cdot I_{\gamma} \cdot t_{m}}$$

where:

e[E]	- efficiency of detection for energy E
Ν	<ul> <li>number of net counts in peak (net area)</li> </ul>
lg	<ul> <li>line intensify (or quantum efficiency)</li> </ul>
tm	- time of measurement (lifetime) in seconds

**Concentration** (activity for sample mass unit) is calculated only then, when in a spectrum there is defined mass of a sample.

**Sample mass** value is put automatically into a spectrum if it was defined in the acquisition path (see <u>Measurement description - sample mass</u> 33). To any disk spectrum, sample mass parameter can be added in <u>Information about main spectrum</u> <sup>[72]</sup> dialog box.

All parameters mentioned above are automatically calculated only then, when in <u>analysis options</u> [137] option **Automatic calculate activity and concentration** is checked. If this option is not set, those values and all other

peak parameters are calculated after performing **E** Calculate parameters all ROI command available in the main toolbar, in the ROI navigation toolbar or in the ROI menu.

see also: Efficiency calibration process गा9

## 9.7 Peaks table

The peak table contains parameters of the selected *ROI regions*: left and right marker position limiting ROI, width a peak at half of maximum, integral end the like.

Peak table displayed in ANALYZER, CALIBRATION and ANALYSIS modules is an auxiliary structure - allows to control all ROIs selected in a spectrum. Final peak table treated as documentation of performed measurements is created in REPORT module.

The ROI table may be created manually or automatically by the Peak search roth command.

Peak table - show dialog box with peaks table

icon: IIII menu: Analysis | Peak table

or the ROI toolbar:



The contents of the peak table is related to the main spectrum. It will change with respect to change of the main spectrum.

<u>/c</u>							_					
Nr	From[keV]	To[keV]	Ctr[keV]	Fwhm[keV]	Fwtm[keV]	Area	Netto error	Integral	Cps [c/s]	Nuclide	Md	
1.a	25,62	87,78	39,27	2,74	4,99	93809	±126		1290,0	×	f6	-
1.ь			68,10	22,86						Am241		F
2.	117,06	162,58	134,89	81,52	148,57	1064848	±2023	1230352	812,1	Co57	f3	F
З.	251,65	311,46	276,38	29,08	53,01	1216219	±7034	2335767	1541,8	Ba133	f3	t i
4.	320,91	392,90	355,02	32,91	59,98	486665	±4362	1536733	1014,3	Ba133	f3	t i
5.	624,26	712,55	663,18	47,17	85,98	657387	±6957	1260115	831,8	Cs137	f3	F
6.	784,56	891,16	835,27	55,16	100,54	262707	±5199	969663	640,0	Mn54	f3	F
7.	1118,36	1240,62	1174,29	66,12	120,51	865385	±5994	1100149	726,2	Co60	f3	
•			+		-	1	-	-	-	-		•
	4								ж 🗶 с	ancel	?⊦	ielp i

First item in the table shown on figure refers to doublet included in ROI nr 1. Contents of the table can be displayed in channels or energy units selected in Configuration analysis options 137.

If analyzed spectrum contains efficiency calibration then set of parameters in the

J. Pe	eak table										_	
<b>E</b> /c												
Nr	From[keV]	To[keV]	Ctr[keV]	Fwhm[keV]	Area	Netto error	Effic.	Activ.[Bq]	Conc.[Bq/kg]	Nuclide	Md	
1.a	41,26	102,49	54,76	2,70	93809	±126	×	×	×	ж	f6	
1.ь			83,17	22,47						Ba133		
2.	131,12	175,40	148,49	79,36	1064848	±2023	0,110	57446,0	574,5	Co57	f3	
3.	261,39	318,76	285,14	27,91	1216219	±7034	0,087	1,295E5	1295,0	Ba133	f3	
4.	327,81	396,59	360,42	31,44	486665	±4362	0,077	6689,5	66,895	Ba133	f3	
5.	617,74	702,91	655,20	45,49	657387	±6957	0,051	10002,0	100,0	Cs137	f3	
6.	773,02	878,18	822,82	54,38	262707	±5199	0,040	4387,9	43,879	Mn54	f3	
7.	1109,79	1239,90	1168,77	70,26	865385	±5994	0,021	27335,0	273,3	Co60	f3	<b>_</b>
			1									
								✓	ок 🗶 с	ancel	?	Help

peak table changes as follows:

### Edition of peak table

This program version does not allow direct edition of peak table, because it is a direct copy of the ROI table; you can delete and add new ROI directly on the spectrum.

see also

ROI controlling commands 86

# **10 Calibration**

All commands concerning the calibration are grouped in <u>Calibration module</u> 16. In ANALYZER and ANALYSIS modules <u>visual control of calibration</u> 113 is available for the main spectrum.

The program can realize three types of calibration: energetic, peak shape and efficiency:

**Energy calibration** is necessary process for nuclide identification in examined sample. It relays on assigning energy value to each channel.

**Peak shape calibration** describes function defining dependents of width a peak at half of maximum to energy. It is applied in automatic peak search algorithms. **Efficiency calibration** is necessary for procedures of calculation quantitative parameters of examined sample, i.e. activity and concentration.

CALIBRATION module main screen is divided into two parts: calibration editor panel and calibration spectrum panel:



The **calibration editor** panel contains calibration parameters and set of related commands. The panel consists of three tabs sheets, one for each of calibration types.
Tab selection means changing of set of displayed information respectively for energy, peak shape and efficiency calibration. Changes refers to: data table contents, type of calibration equations and coefficient of calibration function diagram.

Spectrum displayed in the bottom panel may, but has not to be calibration spectrum.

- Calibration available in editor and calibration within a spectrum loaded to the bottom panel are <u>independent</u>, i.e. can be the same but not have to. White field separating both panels contains description informing if calibration in a spectrum is CONSISTENT or NOT CONSISTENT with calibration available in editor.

Such program philosophy causes, that in CALIBRATION module is possible to:

- insert calibration from editor to a spectrum displayed in the bottom panel
- insert calibration from editor to any number of spectra sequentially loaded to the bottom panel
- ◆ transfer calibration beetwen spectra 112,
- insert calibration from calibration files to spectra.

# **10.1** Calibration operations

Commands related to calibration process are available in CALIBRATION module or from menu **Calibration**:



In calibrations operation panel there are distinguished two groups of commands: related to calibration editor and related to a spectrum:

### Calibration file group:

Load	load calibration from calibration file (file with ". <b>clb</b> " extension) to calibration editor: includes data table contents, type and degree of equation, coefficients of equation together with error factor and calibration curve data
Save	save calibration to calibration file; name of a file is user selectable (default name is the same as for a spectrum displayed in the bottom panel).

#### Calibration data group:

ROI from	get ROI parameters (Ctr and Fwhm) from a
spectrum	spectrum displayed in the bottom panel to data
	table of calibration editor

Data from library	open dialog box to display selected nuclide library - there a user can move energy values from nuclide library to data table of calibration editor
Delete	delete all data and results in calibration editor
Set calibratio n to spectrum	insert calibration available in calibration edit panel to a spectrum displayed in the bottom panel. Command can be run repeatedly for different spectra.

#### Calibration in spectrum group:

Delete	delete calibration in a spectrum displayed in the bottom panel - actual spectrum status becomes NO CALIBRATION
Show	show full calibration of a spectrum displayed in the bottom panel in separate dialog window. This is useful to compare calibration available in calibration editor with calibration set in a spectrum.
Move calib. to program	copy calibration data, like: type and degree of equation, coefficients of equation from spectrum to calibration editor. It is useful for copying calibration to another spectrum.

## 10.1.1 Inserting calibration to spectrum

Insert calibration command refers to loading description of calibration equation, i.e. type of function and coefficients to a spectrum.

Calibration should be available in calibration editor and a spectrum to which calibration is inserting should be displayed in the bottom panel.

### Inserting calibration to spectrum:

# menu: Calibration | Set to spectrum operation panel Set calibration to spectrum

After executing this command, at the upper axis of the spectrum diagram additional energy scale is displayed (in blue) and peak parameters displayed below a spectrum are recalculated to be given in energy units. Command can be executed repeatedly for many spectra by loading them from

the spectra container to the calibration spectrum panel.

#### Change calibration in spectrum

If a spectrum already contains calibration, after execution of **Set calibration to spectrum** the following question is displayed:

Confirm	
2	ابرج Are you sure change calibration in spectrum?
	<u>Y</u> es No

For every spectrum placed in the spectra container calibration can be set many times. Permanent including occurs then, when calibration parameters with counts in channels is saved to a file.

Before changing, it is possible to verify existing calibration in a spectrum. To do that, it is necessary to run **Show** command to display a dialog box of <u>visual</u> <u>control of calibration</u> [113].

### 10.1.2 Transfer calibration beetwen spectra

In some cases (ie. series of measurement) is needed to transfer calibration from one spectrum to another. This operation can be done in the following way:

- read a spectrum containing calibration to the <u>spectra container</u> [67] and then read this calibration to the spectrum panel in <u>Calibration module</u> [16],
- press the button Move calib. to program placed in the calibration operation panel - calibration from a spectrum will be transferred to the calibration editor panel
- read the target spectrum to the spectrum panel,
- run operation <u>Set calibration to spectrum</u> [111]

see also:

Calibration operations 109

# 10.1.3 Delete calibration

Calibration can be removed from a spectrum in CALIBRATION module only and only then, when a spectrum is displayed in the calibration spectrum panel.

### Delete calibration in spectrum

icon: Example to the second se

Calibration can be also removed from a spectrum by inserting empty calibration. To do that, it is necessary to perform **Delete** command (available in a panel related to calibration editor) and then perform **Set calibration to spectrum** command.

Delete calibration command is preceded by "Are you sure that you want to delete calibration in the spectrum?" message which at the same time is a notice and allows to cancel performed command. This message is displayed a dialog box. Calibration is removed after "**Yes**" response to this question.

- Remark: **Delete** command available in "Calibration data" block of commands removes data in calibration editor only, but do not remove calibration from a spectrum.

see also: Inserting calibration to spectrum ा11ी

# 10.1.4 Visual control of calibration

The dialog window with calibration preview is showed below. It shows coefficients of the calibration equations and function plots for three types of calibration.

Show calibration of main spectrum: Filter OAx						
Energy Calibration         Peak Shape Calibration           Modet         Polynomial           Polynomial degree:         2           Coefficients:	ibration Efficiency Calibration	7				
	0 1 000 2 000 3 000 4 000 5 000 e 000 Channel number	7000 8000				

This window is presented after executing operation **Spectrum calibration show**, which can be find in ANALYZER and ANALYSIS modules, in menu Analyse. Calibrations presented in this window always concern to the main spectrum.

#### Show spectrum calibration in ANALYZER and ANALYSIS module

icon: 🞴

menu: Analysis | Show calibration ...

#### Show spectrum calibration in CALIBRATION module

icon: 🖆

menu: Calibration | Show calibration operation panel: Show

see also:

Calibration 108

# 10.2 Inserting of calibration data

To calibration editor, calibration data can be insert in the following way:

- manually,
- from calibration spectrum (moving placement of peaks) and from nuclide library,
- from calibration file.

Coefficients and parameters of calibration equations can be also input from any spectrum containing calibration.

	Nr	Ctr[chn]	Eng [keV]	Fwhm[chn]	Netto	Effic.[%]
	1	561,50	356,00	53,54	1115525,7	0,009
	2	709,13	383,85	57,12	417553,5	0,017
	3	1292,58	661,64	84,94	<b>1</b> 7055,8	0,0089
	4	2255,16	1173,21	119,47	768072,1	0,0041
>	5	2552,03	1332,46	128,46	703131,3	0,0037

Table of the calibration data is common for three types of calibration:

data form column	1	and	2	are related to the energy calibration,
data form column	1	and 🕻	3	are related to the peak shape calibration,
data form column	2	and	5	are related to the efficiency calibration.

The above table is never showed in program as a whole - only parts related to selected calibration type exist.

Data can be edited directly in a table fields. New position are added after pressing "+" button on the bottom navigation panel. Navigation on the table fields can be done using "Tab" key or mouse pointer.



Order of filed date is free. After pressing **Calculate** button (see <u>Energy</u> <u>calibration process</u> (117)) the program checks and sorts data with respect to the values in the first column.

# 10.2.1 Inserting data from calibration spectrum

To automate process of calibration data input, you have to use the ROI table and a nuclide library, which contains descriptions of those nuclides, which are present in a standard of calibration. The rule of operation is following:

- Make a measurement of the calibration spectrum,
- Choosing calibration lines and define them as <u>ROI regions</u> [86<sup>1</sup>]. It could be done manually or automatically (ie. in the module ANALYZIS run <u>Automatic peak search</u> [100] with fitting peaks),
- Switch to Calibration module 16 and make a calibration spectrum with

ROIs visible in the spectrum panel,

Run operation **ROI from spectrum**:

icon: Image: menu: Calibration | ROI from spectr. calibration operations panel

This operation automatically fills <u>data table</u> 114 using the following parameters from ROIs: positions of centroid to column **1**, FWHM values to column **3** and net areas to column **4**.

- Column 2 will be filled after operation Data from library (see Inserting energy from nuclide library [116])
- Values in column s will be filled after Calc. efficiency operation (see <u>Efficiency of detection calculation</u> [120]

see also:

Energy calibration process 117 Peak shape calibration process 118 Efficiency calibration process 119

# 10.2.2 Inserting energy from nuclide library

The program allows to move energy values related to calibration peaks from nuclide library to calibration data table.

Set of <u>calibration operations</u> 10<sup>g</sup> contains one button, which adjust its function due to type of calibration actually selected on the <u>calibration editor panel</u> 10<sup>g</sup>. For energy and peak shape calibration it is **Data from library**, for efficiency calibration it is **Calc. efficiency**.



After execution of Data from library command dialog box appears as

presented below. The left table contains calibration data. The right table contains data taken from the nuclide library. User can select another nuclide

library with	È	
inorary main		-

button

alib	ratio	n data edi	tor										×
							Nu	clide library	) La de auro 10 de Kastania	31-770PCE1	TNC		2
Ca	librati	on data table					I.	- v= tojekty (1	UK dri vo ibilovek	NWZONCE I.	INC		
	Nr	Ctr[chn]	Eng [keV]	Fwhm[chn]				Nuclide	Energy [keV]	Intens.	T 1/2	Unit.T1/2	
	1	509,13	121,78	6,42		_		Co57	136,47	0,11100	270	day	
Π	2	1039,58	244,69	6,71		< Eng		Eu152	244,69	0,07510	4931	day	
Π	3	1469,45	344,27	7,02				Ba133	276,40	0,07100	3848	day	
>	4	1758,08	411,11	7,09				Ba133	302,85	0,18330	3848	day	_
Г	5	1899,86	443,98	7,30				Eu152	344,27	0,26580	4931	day	
П	6	3346,96	778,89	8,44				Ba133	356,00	0,62300	3848	day	
	7	3729,26	867,38	8,71				Ba133	383,85	0,08920	3848	day	
Г	8	4147,04	964,05	8,96			>	Eu152	411,11	0,02234	4931	day	_
	9	4673,29	1085,83	9,41				Eu152	443,98	0,03121	4931	day	
Г	10	4786,69	1112,08	9,37				5r85	513,98	1,00000	65,19	day	
	11	6065,13	1408,03	10,39			Г	Cs137	661,64	0,85100	30,19	year	
Г					-1			Eu152	778,89	0,12960	4931	day	<b>T</b>
P	• •		+ -	▲ S</td <td>&lt; ল</td> <td></td> <td>Ē</td> <td>H</td> <td></td> <td>- <b>H</b></td> <td></td> <td>6</td> <td></td>	< ল		Ē	H		- <b>H</b>		6	
						1 1				ОК	🗙 Cance	?	Help

To move energy value, first select with the mouse or keyboard an appropriate row in the table of calibration data (left one), then in the library table select the correct row containing data for selected nuclide. Pressing the **Eng** button, copies the value of energy for selected nuclide to the calibration data table. Command should be performed separately for each item (row) of the table.

see also:

Energy calibration process 117

# 10.3 Energy calibration process

Energy calibration is calculated using data pairs: peak position - energy. If these data points are placed into the table automatically, the program calculates their errors and takes them into account while calculating the calibration curve.

Fitting of energy values to the peaks position is done using polynomial function:

 $y(x, A_i) = \sum A_i x^i$ 

where: y - energy value in [keV], x - channel number, Ai - i-th coefficient of equation, i - equation degree, (i = 1,2,3)

After <u>inserting of calibration data</u> [114]: peak position - energy, process of energy calibration relies on calculation of coefficients of calibration equation. Polynomial degree number should be defined in editor panel (see figure below).



#### Calculate calibration equation coefficients menu: Calibration | Calculate context menu of calibration panel: Calculate

After invoking **Calculate** command, the program verifies whether the table of calibration data is complete and whether the number of rows in the table is enough to fit the polynomial of required degree – if it is not then the message is displayed on screen:

Tukan 8k 🛛 🔀 🔀	Tukan 8k 📃 🔀
Not enought data! Cannot perform calculations.	Too few data points! Cannot perform calculations.
СК	CK

or

After performing calculations, the equation coefficients values are displayed on a screen with errors and calibration curve.

In case when a curve does not fit calibration data properly, then operation may be repeated with different polynomial degree.

After finish of calibration process, operation <u>Inserting calibration to spectrum</u> [11] should be performed.

# 10.4 Peak shape calibration process

Peak shape calibration is calculated using data pairs: peak position – Fwhm. If automatic peak search command was executed before, then table of data is filled automatically by data pairs: peak position - peak half width. The command is executed in the same way as in a case of energy calibration with only one

difference, that you have a choice between two types of calibration equations:

### polynomial:

$$y(x;a_i) = \sum a_i x^i$$

square root of polynomial:

$$y(x;a_i) = \sqrt{\sum a_i x^i}$$

where for both types, equation degree can be set in a range from zero to three.

There are two ways of invoking process of peak shape calibration:

- from calibration panel: mouse click on tab Peak shape calibration
- from menu Calibration | Peak shape calibration

To perform calibration, do the following:

- fill data table input data pairs: peak position (Ctr) width a peak at half of maximum (Fwhm) for that peak. Both data should be given in channel units. When entering data from ROI selected on a spectrum, this table is filled automatically.
- choose model (type of calibration equation) between "Polynomial" or "Square root of polynomial").

Peak Shape C	albration	Efficiency Calibration
Fwhm(chn)      55,75     115,83     128,45	Modet Polynon Square Polynon	teal ▼ toot of polynomial teal Calculate
	A0 = 2	ents: 3,690 +-66,87

- select Polynomial degree (0, 1, 2 or 3)
- calculate coefficients of equation by pressing Calculate button
- calculated coefficients of equation are displayed on a screen together with error factors and preview of <u>Calibration curve</u> 125.

# 10.5 Efficiency calibration process

Efficiency calibration is calculated using data pairs: energy – efficiency. Correct efficiency calibration requires sure identification of the energetic lines in the calibration spectrum and calculating detector affectivity for each line. Detector efficiency is a ratio of counts under the line peak to gamma-ray photons with corresponding energy emitted from a source. This quantity strongly depends on

energy and measurement geometry.

Calibration fitting function in this case is an exponent of polynomial of logarithm:  $y(x; q_i) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i \ln^i(x)\right)$ 

where: y - efficiency, x - energy value in [keV], qi - i-th coefficient of equation, i - polynomial degree (can be chosen from 0 to 6).

Efficiency of detection is calculated based on parameters of calibration peaks and data coming from libraries of standards or input directly from keyboard.

To invoke process of peak shape calibration:

- 1. mouse click on tab Efficiency calibration in calibration panel,
- 2. select in menu: Calibration | Efficiency calibration

Calibration data table can be obtained by:

Inserting data from calibration spectrum 115 and Efficiency of detection calculation 120

Efficiency calibration should be performed in the same way as <u>energy</u> <u>calibration</u> [117] selecting appropriate degree of calibration equation (from 1 to 6).



After performing calculations, the equation coefficients values are displayed on a screen with errors and <u>calibration curve</u> [125] is drawn.

In case, when a curve does not fit calibration data properly, then operation may be repeated with different polynomial degree.

After finish of calibration process, operation <u>Inserting calibration to spectrum</u> [11] should be performed.

# 10.5.1 Efficiency of detection calculation

**Efficiency of detection** defined as quotient of number of pulses calculated for photo peak to number of gamma ray quantum of certain energy related to photo peak emitted by radiation source. This value strongly depends on energy of

gamma ray and on geometry of measurement.

Determination of the efficiency requires: data coming from calibration source measurement with correct peak recognition and data coming from certificate of the source given by the producer of the source.

$$\varepsilon[E] = \frac{N}{Ad \cdot I_y \cdot t_m}$$

- $\epsilon[E\,]\,$  efficiency of detection for energy E
- N number of net counts in peak (net area)
- **I**γ intensify (or quantum efficiency)
- tm time of measurement (lifetime) in seconds
- Ad nuclide activity given by formula:

where:

$$\mathbf{Ad} = \mathbf{Ao} \cdot \mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{bn2} \frac{(\mathbf{T_d} - \mathbf{T_0})}{\mathbf{T_{1/2}}}} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{Ao}} - \text{activity of the standard according to}$$
the certificate (in Bq)  
$$\mathbf{Td} - \text{date and time of the measurement with}$$
additional lifetime of measurement (in seconds)  
$$\mathbf{T0} - \text{date and time coming from the}$$
certificate (in seconds)

T1/2 - nuclide half-lifetime in seconds

Calculation of efficiency of detection for particular energy lines of calibration spectrum is necessary for calculation of <u>efficiency calibration</u> 119.

### Efficiency of detection calculation:

menu Calibration | Calc. efficiency calibration operations panel: Calc. efficiency

Operation "**Calc. efficiency**" is an element of the main menu and the calibration operation panel, but only when "**Efficiency calibration**" tab is selected (for other tabs, the same button has linked different meaning).



Running this operation causes showing a dialog window. Program will automatically fill the following fields in this window:

- data of the calibration spectrum: name, date and time, lifetime,
- data according to the calibration peaks: photo peak energy and net area,

certificate data (if has been loaded to the memory earlier)

Calibration spectrum							_		Calibration standard					
Spectrum name:         SREu-3; SRAm-6 - flat source           Date of acquisition start:         2006-01-25 10:30:50           Live time:         1659 s           Different time (for standard and spectrum) [s] = 80477909					C: My Inst. Standard r Description Reference Mass or vo Density:	allShield 11 name: n: e date: plume:	SRE carbi 200: 0,11 0	Tukan 8k ws u-3 SRAm-6 on it filter - di <b>3-07-09 0</b> g/cm <sup>-3</sup>	ameter 60 0:00:00	ary\SHE 🗾				
libration	n data table								, Standard da	ta table				
Nr E	na (keV)	Netto	Effi (Eng)	Nuclide	Eng (keV) [Int	ens			Nuklid	Eng [keV]	Intens.	T1/2 [day]	Ao [kBq]	Err Ao [% 🔺
1	53.16	3613	(3)						Am241	59,54	0,35900	1,583E5	4,500	0,80
2	121.78	124245						<	Eu152	121,78	0,28370	4941	3,700	0,80
3	244,69	141086							Eu152	244,69	0,07510	4941	3,700	0,80
4	344,27	22210					_	<<	Eu152	344,27	0,26580	4941	3,700	0,80
5	411,11	60501							Eu152	411,11	0,02234	4941	3,700	0,80
6	443,98	3559							Eu152	443,98	0,03121	4941	3,700	0,80
9	964,05	3028							Eu152	778,89	0,12960	4941	3,700	0,80
10	1085,83	10602							Eu152	867,38	0,04160	4941	3,700	0,80
							┚							▼ 
		•		+	-   -				K		1	▶	M	~
See fields with errors values Calc efficiency Standard editor														

If there is no standards library loaded in memory, it can be read from a file by

pressing button **Standards Editor** and then fill data from certificate (see <u>Standards editor</u> 123).

#### Filling calibration data table

A set of date is required for making efficiency calibration for energy line. They are read from a nuclide table and standard certificate (see <u>Efficiency of</u> <u>detection</u> 120). Columns containing this data are seen in the table. Horizontal scroll bar may be needed to reach all of them:

	Effi.(Eng)	Nuclide	Eng.[keV]	Intens.	T1/2 [day]	Ao [kBq]	Ad [kB 🔺
	0,0309	Eu152	443,98	0,03121	4941	3,700	
	0,0305	Eu152	443,98	0,03121	4941	3,700	
	0,0177	Eu152	778,89	0,12960	4941	3,700	
	0,0144	Eu152	867,38	0,04160	4941	3,700	
	0,0148	Eu152	964,05	0,14620	4941	3,700	_
	0,0158	Eu152	1112,08	0,13560	4941	3,700	
	0,0133	Eu152	1112,08	0,13560	4941	3,700	
Þ	0,0107	Eu152	1408,03	0,20580	4941	3,700	
							•
4							•

Data can be copied from the right to the left table by selecting given rows in

each of them and pressing button **I**lying between tables.

If values of energy in the left table are correct and agree with the right one, then

pressing button </ will copy all data.

### **Calculating efficiency**

Except data from the tables, it is needed a time since the standard measurement (from certificate) to the moment of given measurement of the calibration source. This time is calculated automatically by the program.

#### Calculation if the efficiency must be done separately for each energetic line.

Select the row in the table and press button <u>Calc efficiency</u>. First of all the program calculates activity Ad for given energy and then efficiency. Both values are stored in the orange columns of the table.

ffic	ienc	y calibratio	n data ed	itor											×
Ca	ibrati	on spectrum								Calibration standard					
5	Spectrum name: EMS-A2 zrodio punktowe					"C:\Projek	ty/Tukan/K	alibracjaVI	EA Reaktor\	EMS-A2.e	r 🖻				
Date of acquisition start: 2006-01-25 09:45:44 Live time: 2357 s					Standard name: EMS-A2 gamma-emiting source Description: IAEA The 8 sources constituting			rce uting the SET							
Different time (for standard and spectrum) [s] = 712319101				Reference Mass or Density:	ce date: volume:	198: 0 0	9 g/cm^3	):00:00							
Cal	ibrati	on data table								Standard d	lata table				
Π	Nr [	Eng [keV]	Netto	Effi.(Eng)	Nuclide	Eng.[keV]	Intens.			Nuklid	Eng [keV]	Intens.	T1/2 [day]	Ao (kBq)	Err Ao [% 🔺
1	4	411,11	13518	0,0018	Eu152	443,98	0,03121			Eu152	778,89	0,12960	4931	462,500	2,00
	5	443,98	17799	0,0017	Eu152	443,98	0,03121	-1	<	Eu152	867,38	0,04160	4931	462,500	2,00
٦	6	778,89	44070	0,0010	Mn54	834,83	0,99976			Eu152	964,05	0,14620	4931	462,500	2,00
1	7	867,38	13145	0,0009	Mn54	834,83	0,99976		<<	Eu152	1085,83	0,10160	4931	462,500	2,00
٦	8	964,05	40404	0,0008	Eu152	964,05	0,14620		_	Eu152	1112,08	0,13560	4931	462,500	2,00
1	9	1085,83	24730	0,0007	Eu152	1112,08	0,13560	_		Eu152	1408,03	0,20580	4931	462,500	2,00
٦	10	1112,08	33389	0,0007	Eu152	1112,08	0,13560			Mn54	834,83	0,99976	312,5	356,800	1,00
1	11	1408,03	42163	0,0006	Na22	1274,54	0,99940			Na22	1274,54	0,99940	950,3	338,200	1,00
4							Þ	-		•					• •
	14	•	•	H	+	-   -	. 1			14	•		►	H	e
Г	See	fields with e	rrors values			Cak	efficiency	,						Stan	dard editor
													ок 🗙	Cancel	7 Help

After calculating efficiency for all nuclides, OK button should be pressed. It turns focus back to the Calibration module.

Calculated calibrating points will be seen on the plot. It helps for additional control of all process.

see also:

Efficiency calibration process 119

### 10.5.2 Calibration standars libraries

The library of the calibration standards is useful during calculating efficiency of the detector for given energy lines of the source. The library data are filled based on the certificate of the standard. Calibration sources usually have a

standard contents of the nuclides. Having a package covering a standard sources causes, that in a future, only little update is required during calibration. Access to the library editor is possible only form Calibration module.

### Preview and edition of calibration standards

icon: Immenu: Analysis | Standards editor

Selection command **Standards editor** opens the dialog window. In this window is possible to:

- create new library and fill it with date from standard certyficate
- view and/or edit of existing library
- load library from disk

### **Creating new library**

User should fill data fields in the "Standard data editor" window, corresponding to the standard parameters and save as a new file. If (some) fields were filled before then **New standard** option should be execute. This will remove all data from memory.

For simplicity, user may use **Get data from nuclide library** (available at the bottom of the dialog window) and fill only field with activity of the standard lines. Set of parameters of library of standard except data necessary to calculate efficiency contains also name and description of library allowing this way better identification of library.

t. Standard da File <u>N</u> ew stand	ata editor ard				-	
File standard name:						
C:\Projekty\1	C\Projekty\Tukan\Kalibracia\IEA Reaktor\EMS-A2.eff"					
	_					_
Standard name:	EMS-A2	gamma-em	iting source			_
Description	LACA TH	. 0	a an aith dia a t	the CET No	. 10	_
Description.	JAEA IN	e o sources	constituting	one SET No	(12	
Reference date	c	1983-07-	01 1	3 00.0	0	-
Mass or volume		0			2	T.
mass or rounie		10		_ 011	-la	-
Density:		0		Un	t g/cm^3	-
						_
Standard data	table:					
Nuklid	Eng [keV]	Intens.	T1/2 [day]	Ao [kBq]	Err Ao [%]	-
Eu152	411,11	0,02234	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	443,98	0,03121	3121 4931		2,000	
Eu152	778,89	0,12960	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	867,38	0,04160	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	964,05	0,14620	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	1085,83	0,10160	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	1112,08	0,13560	4931	462,500	2,000	
Eu152	1408,03	0,20580	4931	462,500	2,000	
Mn54	834,83	0,99976	312,5	356,800	1,000	
Na22	1274,54	0,99940	950,3	338,200	1,000	¥
	-	H +		. 1	X	e
Get data from nuclide library Save to file						
			🗸 ОК	🗙 Cano	xel 🧷	Help

see also:

Efficiency of detection calculation 120

# 10.6 Calibration curve

Calibration results are displayed on a screen as the coefficients of calibration equation and calibration curve diagram.

Calibration nodes taken from the calibration data table are displayed on a diagram. Either diagram axis coordinates automatically adjust to the calibration curve or, in case if there is no curve, to calibration nodes.

There is a splitting bar between calibration and spectrum panel to change the heights of both panels. You can zoom any part of calibration spectra. To do this,

drag the mouse over the part to zoom. Right clicking of the mouse allows dragging the calibration plot freely horizontally and vertically.

Context menu of calibration curve panel:



Operation "**Print curve**" opens a dialog window showing a print preview and allowing printer selection and setting printing parameters. The curve is printed in the same shape as in the preview (all printing colors are identical if available in the printer).



# 11 Report

Report of measurement may be printed after switching to REPORT module. This module consists of two parts:

- print preview panel representing page of paper and
- thumbnail preview panel with miniatures of all pages of the report.

Thumbnail preview helps with navigation on multi pages report.

Report contains header with information about spectrum and measurement, calibrations information, table of peaks and figure of the spectrum.

Report content may be easily changed, each part of report is fully configurable (see next subsections). Report module allows to print generated reports by windows print dialog. User may scale the **print preview** by changing **Zoom** drop down menu.

see also:

<u>Report configuration</u> 128) <u>Printing report</u> 132) HTML and Text format of the report 133)



# 11.1 Report configuration

There are two ways to configure content of the report:

- · click on button Configure report
- from menu: Configuration | Configure report...

The Report configuration window contains 4 tabs sheets:

- General
- Acquisition information

- Calibrations
- Peak table

Each tab corresponds to the section of the report presented in the main panel and allows to configure the section:

.u-3; SRAm-6 - flat source 💽	🖬   50% 💽 🖻 😤
<u></u> REPORT - configuration Configuration General Acquisition information Cal	ibrations   Peak table   HTML
Report contains Calibrations	Paper orientation Portrait C Landscape
I ROI table I Spectrum	

**General** tab gives possibility to plug-in and plug-off parts to the report by setting on or off to options related to particular parameters.

In this tab it is also possible to set orientation of the paper (only A4 paper size is supported now) and decide if spectrum plot should be included.

Acquisition information tab allows to add to report some descriptive information, like name of a spectrum file, identification of a person who performed measurement, name of acquisition path etc.

**Calibration** tab allows to configure information about calibration of a spectrum - only if a spectrum contains it.

The most extended tab is **Peak table**, which has been described in section: <u>Peaks table configuration</u> 130.

Clicking **OK** button (common for all tabs of Report configuration dialog box) closes window, stores all setting and generates new report regarding new settings.

At every moment it is possible to save actual settings of report to <u>configuration</u> <u>file</u> [132].

Report module allows also to configure contents of diagram of a spectrum - see: <u>Spectrum plot configuration and spectrum</u> - see: <u>Spectrum plot configuration</u> - see: <u>Spectrum plot configuration</u>

## 11.1.1 Peaks table configuration

The window <u>Report configuration</u><sup>[128]</sup> contains the tab **Peak table**.

**Peak table** gives possibility to mange the contents of the ROI/peak table, recapitulating information about all ROIs in a spectrum. Particular visual controls allow to select units in which parameters will be plot in columns. User may choose which column will be displayed and if error factors should be added to report.

Configuration							
General Acquisition information	General Acquisition information Calibrations Peak table HTML						
✓ <u>ROI table</u>	<u>ROI table</u> ■						
ROI limits in ◯ chn ⊙ keV ◯ MeV	– Table col	umns (with err [•]	ors] [%]				
Centroide, in	🔽 Centre	oide C	0	• [keV]			
🔿 chn 💿 keV 🔿 MeV	🔽 Area	0	0	[counts]     [			
Activity in	🔲 Integr	al 📀	0	🔿 [counts]			
O BO O KBO O MBO	🔲 Backy	ground 📀	0	🔿 [counts]			
Mass - multiplicity	FWHI	v e	0	O [keV]			
	FWT	4 ©	0	O [keV]			
ROI number	🗖 Cps	6	0	🔿 [counts/s]			
From To	🔽 Activi	y C	0	• [Bq]			
Model	🔽 Efficie	ncy 🖲	0	0 [%]			
Chi^2/N	☐ Detec	tion lim 📀	0				
	Conce	ent. C	0	• [Bq/g,ml]			
	FWHI	M/E ©	0				
Row shadow	🔲 Sigma		0	O [keV]			
Vertical lines							
Horizontal lines	Fixed	number of sigr	nificant c	ligits			
BOI number From To	Cer	troide Area	•	Nuclide			
				•			
		∕ок 🖌 🗙	( Cance				

Bottom part of **Peak table** tab allows to select sequence of columns in a table - applying "drag and drop" mechanism, a user can easily move columns to any place in a table.

All report settings can be saved to <u>configuration file</u> [132] of report.

# 11.1.2 Spectrum plot configuration

Report module makes possible configuration of the contents of the figure with spectrum, which is add

to the report.

Configuration window is run from:

icon: 🛄





**Report spectrum configuration** dialog window makes possible to set many properties of plotted spectrum. These settings are similar to other settings in the Tukan 8k program: spectrum size, colors, add grid, add peak description etc. (see <u>Plotting a spectrum</u><sup>80</sup>).

Changed size of Report spectrum configuration window influence on proportions of a spectrum displayed in a main window of Report module and in

print copy.

# 11.1.3 Configuration file

Settings of the report configuration may be saved in configuration file. It could be done only from menu of the configuration window:

menu of the configuration window: **Configuration | Save configuration...** 

Configuration					
Default configuration	Calibrations Peal	< table	HTML		
Save configuration					
Load configuration 🖄					
	errors	no	[%]	[units]	
Energy Calibration		۲	0	0	
Efficiency Calibration		۲	0	0	

Configuration file may be loaded by:

Configuration | Load configuration...

Additionally, the program contains built-in standard configuration settings, loaded by:

### Configuration | Default configuration

Configuration data are saved in files with extension \*.cfg. These files are saved in working directory by default, but may be saved anywhere else.

# 11.2 **Printing report**

Report printing process can be started from the icon of the toolbar of Report module or from "File" menu of this module.

Print report:

icon:	Ē.	
		_

menu: File | Print report

-Remark: Changing orientation in Windows Print... dialog does not effect -

program forces configured in **Report** module orientation.

# **11.3 HTML and Text format of the report**

The measurement report may be saved as HTML file or as a plain text - in both cases saved contents is similar to its preview on a screen.

Report saving may be done using icon available in Report module or **File** menu:

### Save report in HTML form:

icon: 趦

menu: File | Save as HTML...

or:

### menu: File | Save as HTML file and show in browser

HTML report looks similar to print preview in the program. Graphical elements (mathematical formulas and spectrum figure) are saved as JPEG files (Tukan8k version 1.6 or higher).

Second option, **Save as HTML and show in web browser**, opens automatically default browser with displayed just saved report.

### Save report in text form:

icon: 📴 menu: File | Save as text file...

or:

menu: File | Save as text and open in editor...

Report is saved as non-formatted (plain) text in a file with extension **.txt** and does not contain graphical elements.

Second option: **Save as text file and show in editor** saves file and opens it in default editor (e.g. Notepad). Contents of the report is editable.

# **12 Program configuration**

Program configuration contains: general style of modules view, the spectra display view and default parameters for mathematical analysis and peak identification.

## Windows Registry usage

For the storage of the chosen parameters and screen appearance setup, Windows Registry is used.

In Windows Registry the following parameters are stored:

- number of defined acquisition paths,
- parameters of each acquisition path, like: name, description, identification of an analyzer, mode of running, acquisition settings and other,
- general status of the program, dimensions, colors etc.
- program configuration options, like display and analyzes options, language of the interface of the program, etc.
- the spectra container contents.

Process of loading/saving parameters from/to Windows Registry is performed automatically during switching to other modules or at shutdown of the program.

### Menu Configuration - available options

Menu of each module except REPORT contains **Configuration** item with only one sub item: **Options...** When performed, dialog window appears on a screen, which contains five tab sheets:

- > Measurement
- Display
- > Analysis
- Language
- File location

Options available in each of them are discussed precisely in next chapters.

# 12.1 Measurement configuration options

Measurement configuration options can be preset in 'Measurement' tab sheet of 'Configuration' dialog box activated via the main menu of the program:

menu Configuration	Options	Measurement

Configuration	×
Measurement Display Analysis Language File location	
System sounds: ↓ End of acquisition signaling	
Acquisition spectrum saving option:	
${f ar v}$ Always ask for saving the acquisition spectrum when exit program	
After saving acquisition spectrum to file leave the copy in the spectra container	
Ask for leaving the copy in the spectra container	
Analyzer tests options:	
Automatic calculation nonlinearity differential (DNL)	
Default settings	
✓ Ok     ✓ Cancel     ✓ 1	P

#### System sounds:

End of acquisition signaling: - by default, this option is not checked

#### ACQUISITION spectrum saving option:

Always ask for saving the spectrum when exit program: - by default, this option is checked

#### Analyzer tests options:

Switching this option on causes, that in the peak parameter panel placed below a spectrum (in ANALYZER module only) additional line appears, in which DNL value is displayed. DNL means differential non linearity of a spectrum calculated "on-line" for a part of it surrounded by markers and given in percentage value. By default, this options is not checked.

# 12.2 Display spectrum options

Spectrum display options can be controlled and modified from the menu:

Configu	ration		×					
Measu	rement Display Analysis Language File location	~						
Disp	lay options	٦						
V	Preserve markers position							
₽	Preserve scale when spectrum changed							
₽	Preserve scale when module changed							
RO	l gingle 📃 💌 multipled 📃 💌							
D	efault settings	d <b>2</b> H	- ale					

menu Configuration | Options... | Display

Selectable options:

#### Parameters of displayed spectra:

#### ✓ Preserve markers position

- If this option <u>is set</u> then last markers position is preserved after change of displayed *main spectrum* or after switching to another module.

- If this option <u>is not set</u> then after each change of the main spectrum or each change of a module, the markers are displayed in the default position, i.e. the left on the channel laying at 1/3 and the right on the channel laying at 3/4 of the channel range width.

#### ✓ Preserve scale when spectrum changed

- If this option <u>is set</u> then the horizontal and vertical scaling is retained upon changing the displayed spectra.

- If this option is not set then, after each change of the displayed spectrum the new one is shown in full scale.

### ✓ Preserve scale when modules changed

- if this option <u>is set</u> then horizontal and vertical scaling is retained upon program module change, i.e. moving from ANALYZER to ANALYZE module, spectrum is displayed in the same scale.

## Colors:

Colors in which <u>ROI regions</u> <sup>86</sup> are displayed are obligatory for all modules of the program and do not depend on which color spectra are plotted.

- In the program there are three default colors used to distinguish states of ROIs:
  - ROI "not calculated" color beige or gray (depends on scheme of colors in Windows)
  - ROI "calculated" containing single peak color green
  - ROI "calculated" containing doublet color blue

Clicking on buttons with arrows it is possible to select different color from palette of 16 colors.

see also:

Colors of the plot panel 84

# 12.3 Configuration analysis options

Analysis configuration options can be preset in 'Analysis' tab sheet of 'Configuration' dialog box activated via the main menu of the program:

menu: Configuration | Options... | Analysis

Configuration	
Measurement Display Analysis Language File I	ocation
Peak parameters         Image: Automatic calculate parameters         Image: Automatic calculate activity and concentration         Image: Automatic peak ident         Image: Parameters in energy units	Peak parameters gisplay Peak position Background line Keep fit results
Model G0 options  Peak parameters based on netto count - Model G0  Peak parameters based on total count - model G0_c  Peak position (Ctr) in maximum - model G0_m	Activity units
Tidentification criteria C 1/4 PWHM @ 1/2 PWHM C Set. 1 ⊒ [keV]	CeV ©keV CMeV Time Units (MCS) ©ms Cs Cmin
Nuclide library "D:\Data\Library\Standards.tnc"	Default settings
✓ 0k	Cancel ? Help

The Configuration of analysis dialog window consists of the following groups of options:

### Peak parameters:

- ✓ Automatic calculate parameters switches on/off automatic calculation of peak parameters lying between the markers, performed after every change of marker placement or spectrum refresh.
- ✓ Automatic calculate activity and concentration if option is on, a spectrum contains efficiency calibration and in region surrounded by markers exists peak, which is identified, then the program together with calculation of peak parameters calculates activity and concentration.
- ✓ Automatic peak ident switches on/off mode of automatic peaks identification performed after every recalculation of peak parameters. The necessary condition for this is <u>nuclides library</u> 101 to be loaded from selected file.
- ✓ Parameters in energy units if set, then the program always displays peak parameters in energy units (if a spectrum is calibrated) when the main spectrum is changed.

### Way of calculation of peak parameters by "direct" model 90 :

Peak parameters based on net count – Model G0 – peak parameters are calculated based on net counts in channels as it is described in "Analyze" chapter - Peak analysis 'on-line' 901

- ✓ Peak parameters based on total count Model G0c peak parameters are calculated based on real counts in channels (without background subtraction), peak position (Ctr) is calculated as weighted average of counts in channels
- ✓ Peak position (Ctr) in maximum Model G0\_m peak parameters are calculated based on real counts in channels (without background subtraction), peak position (Ctr) is placed in a channel containing the highest number of counts

In the peak parameters panel (below panel of a spectrum view) and in the peak table, mathematical model based on which calculation was performed is always visible.

#### Identification criteria:

Selection of width of energy window necessary for automatic peak identification procedure (see <u>Peaks identification</u> 103).

#### Nuclide library:

File with default nuclide library for identification procedure (see <u>Nuclide libraries</u> 107).

### Peak parameters display:

The program allows to observe "on-line" analysis of peak (position, background cut function, Fwhm) at every movement of markers or every spectrum refresh. <u>It</u> is possible only then, when peak parameters are calculated by "direct" method (models G0, G0\_c, G0\_m) (see <u>Peak parameters calculate [93</u>)).

- ✓ Peak position if selected, then vertical line of constant dimension (depending on "panel of a spectrum view" size) is displayed which points to that channel which is placed closest to peak centroide (parameter "Ctr") calculated by the program. If "Ctr" for peak between markers can not be calculated, then line is not drawn.
- ✓ Background line displaying background cut function line for region surrounded by markers. Integral above this line is net total for peak.
- ✓ Fwhm position displaying Fwhm line, i.e. line connecting point in left edge with point in right edge, both placed in a half of peaks height.
- ✓ Keep fit results the fitted curves are shown between markers immediately after calculation. If this option is not set, it is displayed up to the changing position of markers. Selection of this option causes, that curve will be showed until next "Calculate" command will be run.

### Units:

Units selected in this place are obligatory for all program modules and for

all analyzed spectra.

Selected unit for energy is applied in peak parameters introduction and for energy scale description display.

The same rule is valid for units of time for MCS spectra.

In **Reports**, however, units can be set independently to mentioned above (see <u>Peaks table configuration</u> 130).

# 12.4 Selecting language of program

The program can operate in either **English** or **Polish**. Switching between languages:

### menu: Configuration | Options... | Language

Program will be closed after selecting the new language. One should execute it again.

The program starts in the language which was used at the program exit.

Once changed, a new language setting is effective in all layers of the program: on a screen, in messages, in data tables.

Attention  $\rightarrow$  If program is dedicated to service one language only, then panel Language is empty.

# 12.5 Setting directory of program

During program installation process, working directories are created on disk. Placement of these directories depends on selected option during installation: for all users or "for me" only.

In "File location" tab sheet of Configuration dialog window, user can change default directories placement.

Irrespective to group settings (selected in group of options "Localization") each directory can be defined independently.

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k\Spectra
1
C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k\Spectra
C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k\Spectra
C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k\Libraries
C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k
C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Tukan8k
ttings\All Users\Tukan8k\Spectra

After closing "Configuration" dialog window by "OK" button, selected directories become default for the program.

# 13 Keyboard

Acquisition navigation keys 142 Markers navigation keys 142 Displaying spectrum navigation keys 143 ROI system navigation keys 144

# 13.1 Acquisition navigation keys



Acquisition stop





Common acquisition stop

Common acquisition reset

# 13.2 Markers navigation keys



F3

F6

F7

select control to left marker

select control to right marker



5

move marker one channel to the left

move marker one channel to the right

select control to both (coupled) markers - next press selects control to one marker (the middle key of numeric pad)



move coupled markers right

move coupled markers left

push markers aside

bring markers closer



+

1

Ŧ

increase twice the number of channels displayed between markers

+

Ctrl

decrease twice the number of channels displayed between markers

Ctrl -

expand a spectrum between markers to the whole width of the panel

display spectrum in a full scale

# **13.3** Displaying spectrum navigation keys



decrease horizontal scale

increase horizontal scale

decrease vertical scalej

increase vertical scale



move spectrum to the right

move spectrum to the left

move spectrum up



move spectrum down



expand twice a spectrum selected between markers squeeze twice a spectrum selected between markers



expand a spectrum between markers to the whole width of the panel



display spectrum in full scale

# 13.4 ROI system navigation keys



insert area selected by markers to the ROI table

delete ROI area selected by markers



move markers on next ROI to the right

move markers on next ROI to the left
# 14 Appendix A: Library TukanFit.dll

In the Tukan program, all principal mathematical algorithms are included in independent DLL (Dynamic Linked Library) library: TukanFit.dll.

Library consists of three main modules, containing:

- Gauss fitting functions (non linear models),
- D Polynomial fitting functions and their variants (linear models),
- Automatic search for gamma lines.

#### Module of fitting non linear functions

Rules applied In the module rely on well known methods of minimization: Marquardta, BFGS and simplex in minimum chi-square method. Allows to fit to experimental data free combinations of single or double Gauss functions with the following background functions:

• Polynomial: 
$$\sum a_i x^i$$
 ,

$$A + \sum \frac{\delta_i}{1 + \exp(\lambda_i(x - x_i))},$$

- Fermi function:
- Fermi function with width parameter related to width of a line:

$$A + \sum \frac{\delta_i}{1 + \exp(\lambda_i (x - x_i))} \quad \lambda_i = \frac{4}{\sigma_i \sqrt{2\pi}}$$

ynomial: 
$$\exp(\alpha(x - x_e)) + \sum a_i x^i$$

$$A \cdot (x - x_p)^p + \sum a_i x^i$$

Exponential function with polynomial:

In all above mathematical formulas x is independent variable, other symbols respond to fitted parameters, is width of Gauss function.

In case of fitting double Gauss lines it is available a set of special variants of above functions:

- with constant ratio of fields of spectrum lines,
- with common width of both spectrum lines.

#### Module of fitting linear functions

In case of <u>calibration fittings</u> (energy, efficiency or peak width calibration) those mathematical methods are applied, which reduce problem of least square method to solving system of linear equations. It is possible, because in every model an equation was managed to be transformed to a linear type of its parameters.

The module contains the following functions:

- Polynomial:  $y(x, a_i) = \sum a_i x^i$ ,
- Exponent function of polynomial of logarithms:  $y(x;q_i) = \exp\left(\sum q_i \ln^i(x)\right)$
- Square root of polynomial:  $y(x; a_i) = \sqrt{\sum a_i x^i}$

#### Module of automatic search of gamma lines (Peak Search)

Separate module is a set of procedures for automatic search of lines in a spectrum. They use mechanism of auto correlation function. Based on many tests and trials it was introduced rectangular process of negative, positive and again negative value. Such a choice gave very efficient and simple algorithm which does not perform many time-consuming multiplication calculations. Algorithm was adjusted by mechanism which takes into account width of a peak, what essentially corrected its good results.

#### Mathematical description of certain models:

**Model G1\_Pn** – "Gauss and polynomial" - single peak fitting by Gauss function with polynomial background. Depending on a degree of polynomial, model is described by a symbol: **G1\_P1**, **G1\_P2** or **G1\_P3** 



**Model G1\_F-** "Gauss and Fermi" – single peak fitting by Gauss function with background defined as Fermi function



**Model G1\_fF**- "Gauss and fixed Fermi" – single peak fitting by Gauss function with background defined as fixed Fermi function



**Model G2\_Pn** – "2 Gausses and polynomial" – peak fitting by "double Gauss" function with polynomial background. Depending on selected polynomial degree, model is described by a symbol: **G2\_P1**, **G2\_P2** or **G2\_P3** 



**Model G2\_F** – "2 Gausses and Fermi" – peak fitting by "double Gauss" function with Fermi function as a background



**Model G2\_fF** – ",2 Gausses and fixed Fermi" – peak fitting by "double Gauss" function with background defined as fixed Fermi function



Where, in all above formulas:

x <sub>0</sub> , x <sub>i</sub> = 1, 2	centroid of the Gauss functions,
, <sub>i</sub> = 1, 2	widths of the Gauss functions (FWHM = 2,355 s),
P, P <sub>i</sub> = 1, 2	fields of the Gauss functions,
a <sub>i</sub>	parameters of the background polynomial,
A	offset,
i	steps highs in the Fermi function,
i	speed of the Fermi function increasing.

# 15 Appendix B: Instalation of Tukan8k analyzer and program

Installation process consists of two steps:

1. the Tukan8k program setup,

2. installation of drivers of an analyzer and/or USB protection key. Sequence of them is optionally because each of them is performed

independently.

After installation of the program and drivers, during the first program run  $\boxed{22}$  it is necessary to define a type of an analyzer supported by the program.

- For proper installation, administrative privileges are necessary.

Hardware requirements 149 Instalation of Tukan8k program 150 Instalation of Tukan-8k-PCI card 152 Instalation of Tukan-8k-USB box 151 Instalation of USB Protection Key 153

# 15.1 Hardware requirements

There are no special requirements for proper functionality of the Tukan 8k program. The program functions correctly on any present PC. The minimal recommended free space of a hard disk is 40MB.

In case of Tukan8k\_PCI analyzer it is obligatory presence of spare PCI slot compatible to 2.2 version of specification for that type of bus and such a computer mechanical construction, which allows to plug in the analyzer.

In case of Tukan8k\_USB analyzer, a spare USB slot of type A is needed.

In case of applying USB Protection Key, a spare USB slot of type A is needed only.

#### **Operating system:**

TheTukan8k\_PCI analyzer is supported by Windows 2000 (SP 4) or Windows XP (SP 2 or higher) operating system only.

The Tukan8k\_USB analyzer is supported by Windows 2000/XP/Vista Business (32 bit and 64 bit versions)/7 Professional (32 bit and 64 bit versions).

#### 15.2 Instalation of Tukan8k program

To install the program, place the "Tukan installation disk" in CD and run "Setup. exe"

- For proper installation, administrative privileges are necessary for a user actually logged in. In case of lack such privileges, appropriate message is displayed (depending on the version of Windows) and installation process is canceled.

Installation processes typically for Windows operating system. Installation program recognizes localized version of Windows. In case when it is Polish version, the program interfaces with a user in Polish. If it is other version, the program switches itself to English.

#### ATTENTION:

- If the Tukan program version 2 or higher was already installed, then after running the installation program, a user will find a message informing, that installation can not be continued: previous version of the program should be uninstalled first.

- The Tukan program can be installed in any place. If the Tukan program version 1.9 or lower is already installed, then a user can leave it in its typical placement (which is c:\Program Files\Tukan8k) and install version 2.2 of the program in different localization. The installation program informs a user about such a chance in dedicated message.

Installation process is simple, intuitive and is self-explaining at each step.

On a figure above available program versions are seen:

The difference between **standard** and **extended** version relies on types of supported analyzers only. ALL FUNCTIONS RELATED TO MEASUREMENT CONTROL AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS ARE IDENTICAL IN BOTH VERSIONS. **Standard** version of the program is intended for users who apply Tukan8k\_USB analyzer. Extended version allows additional support of previous versions of the analyzer (if not really necessary, it is recommended to install standard version of the program).

Depending on an option selected earlier, defining if the program should be

installed for all users or for one user only, the following directories are created:

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Application data\Tukan8k\ C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Application data\Tukan8k\Libraries\ C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Application data\Tukan8k\Doc\ C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Application data\Tukan8k\Spectra\

or

C:\Documents and Settings\user\Application data\Tukan8k\ C:\Documents and Settings\user\Application data\Tukan8k\Libraries\ C:\Documents and Settings\user\Application data\Tukan8k\Doc\ C:\Documents and Settings\user\Application data\Tukan8k\Spectra\

During installation process to those directories are copied exemplary files of libraries and spectra as well as documentation of the Tukan8k program.

#### 15.3 Instalation of Tukan-8k-USB box

For proper functionality of the analyzer it is necessary to install "D2XX" drivers developed by "Future Technology Devices International Ltd." The driver version should be 2.8.14 or higher. The drivers are available in the Installation disk in "Drivers\FTDI" directory.

Administrative privileges are necessary for a user performing installation.

After the first connection of the Tukan8k\_USB analyzer to PC (via USB A-B type cable delivered together with the analyzer) Windows informs about recognition of a new device and takes up an attempt to search for a driver. Irrespective of Windows version, typical process of driver installations takes place similarly. First, a user is asked to allow Windows to search Internet. It is recommended not to allow. Next a user is asked to point to place where the system could find the driver. At this place the user should point to "Drivers\FTDI" directory available in the Installation disk.

Successful installation is signalized by adequate Windows message. At the same time, LED in the analyzer lights in green.

The latest versions of "D2XX" driver are available fee of charge at the address: " http://www.ftdichip.com/FTDrivers.htm". It is recommended to apply the driver delivered in the Installation Disk, because the Tukan8k program is examined to cooperate with that version of the driver. Newer driver should be applied only then, when are concrete circumstances (usually these are Windows upgrades). Start of the program 22 Connecting analyzer 25

#### 15.4 Instalation of Tukan-8k-PCI card

For proper functionality of the analyzer it is necessary to install "WinDriver" v. 6.0.2 - Windows drivers developed and distributed by "Jungo Ltd.". It is recommended to install the drivers before plugging in the analyzer to PCI slot. You are reminded that delivered drivers support MS Windows 2000 SP4 and Windows XP only.

Administrative privileges are necessary for a user performing installation.

Supporting of the Tukan8k\_PCI analyzer in PC where newer version of Windows (Vista or 7) is installed, is not possible.

To install the driver, run as follows:

- insert the Installation disk in CD device

- open Windows console application (Start/Run/cmd)

- in the console select CD device in which the Installation Disk is placed (e.g.

"d:" if CD device is seen in a system as "d" device

- run "cd" command to make "Jungo" directory current directory (e.g. "d: >cd \Drivers\Jungo")

- run the following sequence: "D:\Drivers\Jungo\wdreg16 -inf D:

\Drivers\Jungo\windrvr6.inf install"

- run the following sequence: "D:\Drivers\Jungo\wdreg16 -inf D:

\Drivers\Jungo\Tukan8kPCI.inf install"

Please note, that it is extremely important to use full paths in commands above (like "D:\Drivers\Jungo\Tukan8kPCI.inf").

After proper installation of the drivers, the analyzer can be plugged in. After power on the PC, the drivers should be reached by automatically by Windows. In case when the system asks a user during device installation procedure about any file connected with the device, indicate "Drivers\Jungo" directory available in the Installation Disk.

Successful installation is signalized by adequate Windows message. At the same time, LED in the analyzer lights in green.

see:

Start of the program 22 Connecting analyzer 25

# 15.5 Instalation of USB Protection Key

The USB Protection Key allows to run the Tukan8k program version 1.7.0 or higher in a PC to which the analyzer is not connected (plugged in). Older versions of the program do not support the Key.

For proper functionality of the Key "USB Express" driver version 3.5.1(or higher) developed and distributed by "Silicon Labs Corporate" is needed. Administrative privileges are necessary for a user performing installation.

After the first connection of the Key, Windows informs about recognition of a new device and takes up an attempt to search for a driver. Irrespective of Windows version, typical process of driver installations takes place similarly. First, a user is asked to allow Windows to search Internet. It is recommended not to allow. Next a user is asked to point to place where the system could find the driver. At this place the user should point to "**Drivers\SyliconLabs**" directory available in the Installation Disk.

The latest versions of "USB Express" drivers are available fee of charge at the address: "http://www.silabs.com/products/mcu/Pages/USBXpress.aspx". It is recommended to apply the driver delivered in the Installation Disk, because the Tukan8k program is examined to cooperate with that version of the driver. Newer driver should be applied only then, when are concrete circumstances (usually these are Windows upgrades).

Successful installation is signalized by adequate Windows message. At the same time, LED in the Key lights.

# 16 Appendix C: Technical parameters of Tukan\_8k\_USB Analyzer

The Tukan8k-USB box can operate in two modes: as multi-channel pulse height analyzer (MCA) and as multi-channel scaler (MCS). Additionally there is also possible to operate the device as the Single Channel Analyzer (SCA).



The device is controlled by host computer via USB. After disconnecting USB, the device continues data acquisition and collects experimental data, which remain available after reconnecting the device to the host. When operating autonomously, the device needs to be supplied by external power supplier.

#### **Specification:**

<u>I/O Connections and LED Indicators</u> 155ୀ <u>Powering the device</u> 155ୀ <u>MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode</u> 1561 <u>MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode</u> 1571

# 16.1 I/O Connections and LED Indicators

The left part of the figure below shows front panel of the device, while right part shows back panel with USB socket, power connector and two bicolor LEDs.





Front panel contains analog BNC input connector and four TTL I/O LEMO connectors (Ports A, B, C and D). Designation of the TTL connectors depends on the operational mode of the device and established settings.

Back panel contains USB socket, power connector and two LEDs. The power connector is discussed in next chapter. The USB socket should be adequate to the B-type receptacle.

**Upper diode LED** indicates different modes of operation or failure of the device: During typical measurement process, when powered via USB connector: <u>green color blinking</u> - acquisition is running,

<u>green color lighting</u> - acquisition was not started or has finished or paused. <u>separate red color short blink</u> - external power adapter was plugged in

Bottom diode LED indicates external power status:

<u>blank</u> -no external power is applied (device is powered via USB connector), <u>red color lighting</u> - external voltage is outside given range,

green color lighting - device is powered correctly, the voltage is between +5.5V and +10V.

#### 16.2 Powering the device

The device can be powered either from the USB port or from external DC power source. The USB bus power supply is a primary power source, however an external power supply prevails – it is ultimately used when applied. The external power supply, which may be either a DC wall adaptor or a battery, should be used when device is connected to bus powered USB hub or when it is autonomously operating without PC or LAPTOP connected.

The DC external voltage is applied by means of EIAJ RC-5320 Class IV socket/ plug connectors. Note, <u>that internal pin is used for positive voltage</u>. The requirements for external DC voltage are:

- minimal voltage: 5.5V
- maximal voltage: 9V
- minimal current load: 200 mA.

# 16.3 MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode

Principle of operation is as follows: input analog signal (pulse) is stretched, converted to digital value proportional to its height and normalized to a number of channels and maximum pulse height value, which is 10V; such a value defines the address of a unique channel in histogram memory, which is incremented by one.

#### Parameters

**ADC** Successive approximation type (16 bits) with sliding scale averaging. **Max resolution** 8k; 8192 channels, software selectable as 8192, 4096, 2048 and 1024 blocks.

Dead time per event < 5  $\mu$ s (including memory transferi). Integral non linearity <=  $\pm 0.05\%$  over the top 99% dynamic range. Differential non linearity <  $\pm 1\%$  over the top 99% dynamic range. Gain instability <=  $\pm 1\%$  ppm /  $^{\circ}$ C.

**Histogram memory** 8k channels (volatile):  $2^{24}$  - 1 counts per each channel (almost 17 millions counts).

#### Presets

**Real time** or **Live time**: data acquisition real or live time preset in multiples of exact one-second intervals; selectable automatic stop on real or live time exhaustion; maximal preset time =  $16777215 (2^{24} - 1)$  s, i.e. about 200 days. **Region of interest** Integral count inside or outside established preset window, selectable automatic stop on up to  $2^{32}$  integral counts.

**Data overflow** - Terminate acquisition when any channel exceeds  $2^{24}$ -1. **Analog Lower Level Discriminator (LLD) and Upper Level Discriminator (ULD)** Computer controlled independent thresholds. Signal processing occurs when amplitude of input pulse is contained in given range between thresholds (value of low threshold must be lower then value of upper threshold); both thresholds are set with 12 bit accuracy.

#### Data available on-line

total real time

- total live time
- counts in region of interest (independent of time stop criteria)
- dead time for second (in percent, accuracy 3.906 ms)
- number of counts per second

#### Inputs and Outputs

**ANALOG INPUT** Accepts positive unipolar or bipolar semigaussian type pulses of shaping time constants  $\geq$  100 ns. DC Coupled. The dynamic range is 10mV to +10 V. BNC connector.

**Port A (GATE)** Active HIGH TTL compatible logic gate. Computer controlled Gating/Nongating and Coincidence/Anti-coincidence mode. Active state of this signal (HIGH for coincidence and LOW for anticoincidence) must occur prior to and extend 200 ns beyond the peak of analog pulse. LEMO connector.

**Port B (SCA-OUT)** – Output; 100 ns wide positive pulse generated when the gate justified Single Channel Analyzer detects a pulse inside the voltage window with peak detection provided.

**Port C (RUNING)** – Output; positive level indicating when acquisition is running. **Port D (BUSY)** – Output; positive pulse indicating when analog circuitry is busy (Analog Input is above the *ZLD* or conversion is in progress).

# 16.4 MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode

The device hardware and software provides medium speed Multi-Channel Scaling (MCS). The MCS acquisition mode is used for applications requiring a measurement of intensity vs. time and includes interface logic to TTL pulses coming from some measuring instrument. The maximum counting frequency is 8 MHz and is synchronized with the 20 MHz reference clock.

The Multi-Channel Scaler records the counting rate of events as a function of time. When a scan is started, the MCS begins by counting input events in the first time slot (channel 0) in the digital memory. At the end of a preset period of time, called "dwell time", the MCS advances to the next channel in the memory and continues the counting. The dwell and advance processes are repeated until the MCS has scanned through the preset number of channels. A single scan through all selected channels is called a sweep, which may be repeated selected number of times. In multi-sweep mode the accumulated data may be either replaced by the new sweep or they may be summed channel by channel. Starting a sweep, as well as advancing from one channel to the next, may be triggered internally or externally.

Events given on analog input can also be registered by the device. The ADC BNC input signal is then processed by the Single Channel Analyzer (SCA). This mode of operation allows event counting up to a frequency of 1 MHz

#### Characteristic

- Maximum counting rate 8 MHz
- Minimal pulse pair resolution 60 ns
- Minimal dwell time (step) 2 µs
- Dwell Time up to 2<sup>24</sup> steps optionally multiplied up to 256
- Sweep Length up to 8192 channels with automatic or externally triggered sweep repetition
- Acquisition modes summing or replacing
- No dead time between channels and sweeps
- Possibility to use Single Channel Analyzer as an counting input (SCA

formed from MCA with threshold presetting).

#### Presets

- Sweep length (number of channels)
- Dwell time
- Sweep count
- Input signal type
- Triggering mode
- Advancing mode
- Accumulation type
- Stop acquisition mode
- Low and high thresholds (available for analog input only)
- · Gating mode (available for analog input only)

#### Data available on-line

- total acquisition time
- number of actually processed channel
- number of actual sweep

#### Inputs and outputs

**Analog input** - As in MCA mode when used for events counting. Alternatively it can be use for Single Channel Analyzer mode working in parallel in MCS mode. **Port A (EVENT or GATE)** –Input. If Digital input is selected this line serves as a Counting input. If Analog input is selected this line serves as a Gating pulse as described in MCA mode.

**Port B (STOP or SWEEP)** – Input or Output; if internal triggering is enabled than rising edge on this line causes to stops acquisition after the current sweep. If external triggering is enabled this line serves as a **SWEEP** output being HIGH when current sweep is in progress.

**Port C (TRIGGER In or Out)** – Input or Output; if external triggering is selected, than rising edge of this line starts each new sweep. If internal triggering is selected this 100 ns positive output pulse informs external circuitry when each new sweep was started.

**Port D (ADVANCE In or Out)** – Input or Output; If external advancing is selected then rising edge of this line causes to step to the next channel. If internal advancing is selected this 100 ns positive output pulse informs external circuitry when each new dwell step was started.

<u>Note:</u> All digital ports have 1 k input impedance, are DC coupled and have positive polarity.

see also: Multi-channel scaling (MCS) mode 59

# 16.5 SCA - Single Channel Analyzer

In single channel analyzer mode of running, output **B** generates impulse (TTL, positive) as a response on each analog input signal, which amplitude is located in a given, extreme close threshold's levels range. Such an amplitude range defined by the Lower Level Discriminator (**LLD**) and the Upper Level Discriminator (**ULD**) is usually described as *measurement channel*. Number of impulses registered in output **B** in a such range of amplitude is equal to number of input signals performing the following condition:  $V_{LLD} < V < V_{IIID}$ .

# 17 Appendix D: Technical parameters of Tukan\_8k\_PCI Analyzer

The Tukan8k-PCI card is produced in two versions: basic - operating as multichannel pulse height analyzer running in a pulse height analysis (MCA) mode and enhanced version where the card can additionally operate in multi-channel scaling (MCS) mode. In the next release of the device both operational modes (MCA and MCS) will be available as a basic set.



Device interfaces PC via PCI bus. Interface type: universal; powering +5V and +3.3V; 32-bit (target) with 33MHz clock, compatible to Specification of PCI Local Bus version 2.2.

"Plug and play" supported. 64KB of memory projected via BAR 0 into 32-bit memory space.

#### **Specification:**

<u>I/O Connections and LED Indicators</u> 161 <u>MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode</u> 161 <u>MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode</u> 163

#### 17.1 I/O Connections and LED Indicators

The interface of the analyzer is located on mounting bracket and is shown on figure below. It consists of three types of connectors: BNC type, Lemo and Canon 9-pin. Rules of particular connectors depend on mode of running (MCA or MCS) of the analyzer and are described in chapters describing both modes.



The analyzer is equipped with additional two LEDs mounted directly to the board. One should light permanently indicating that the device is properly initialized and is ready to use. The second LED, when blinking, indicates that acquisition is running.

#### 17.2 MCA - Multichannel Analyzer mode

MCA – base mode of running for the analyzer card.

Principle of operation can be discussed as follows: input analog signal (pulse) is converted to digital value proportional to its height and normalized to a number of channels and maximum pulse height value, which is 10V; such a value defines the address of a unique channel in histogram memory, which is

incremented by one.

#### Parameters

**ADC** Successive approximation type (16 bits) with sliding scale averaging. **Max resolution** 8k; 8192 channels, software selectable as **8192**, **4096**, **2048** and **1024**.

**Dead time per event** <5 µs (including memory transfer).

Integral non linearity <=±0.05% over the top 99% dynamic range.

**Differential non linearity** <±1% over the top 99% dynamic range.

**Gain instability** <= ±1% ppm/ <sup>o</sup>C.

**Histogram memory** 8k channels (volatile): 2<sup>24</sup> - 1 counts per each channel (almost 17 millions counts).

#### Presets

Data acquisition **real time** or **live time** preset in multiples of exact one-second intervals; selectable automatic stop on real or live time exhaustion; maximal preset time =  $16777215 (2^{24} - 1) s$ , i.e. about 200 days. Integral live time measurement accuracy: circa 250 ns.

Region of interest Integral count inside or outside established preset window,

selectable automatic stop on up to  $2^{32}$  integral counts.

**Data overflow** - terminate acquisition when any channel exceeds 2<sup>24</sup> -1. **Control** - ADC fully controlled by host PC via PCI bus.

**Analog Lower Level Discriminator (LLD)** - lower threshold selectable programmatically in range from 0 mV up to 50% of full range with step 1.22 mV. **Analog Upper Level Discriminator (ULD)** - upper threshold selectable programmatically in range from 0 mV up to 50% of full range with step 1.22 mV.

#### Data available on-line

- total real time
- total live time
- counts in region of interest (independent of time stop criteria)
- dead time for second (in percent, accuracy 3.906 ms)
- number of counts per second

#### Inputs

**Analog input** Accepts positive unipolar or bipolar semigaussian type pulses of shaping time constants >= 100 ns. DC Coupled. The dynamic range is 10mV to +10 V. BNC connector.

**Gate** Active HIGH TTL compatible logic gate. Computer controlled Gating/Non gating and Coincidence/Anti-coincidence mode

#### 17.3 MCS - Multichannel Scaling mode

The device hardware and software provides optional medium speed Multi-Channel Scaling (MCS). The MCS acquisition mode is used for applications requiring a measurement of intensity vs. time and includes interface logic to TTL pulses coming from some measuring instrument. The maximum counting frequency is 12.5 MHz and is synchronized with the 33 MHz PCI clock.

Event counting can also be performed on signals coming directly from a detector/amplifier by using the ADC BNC input. The ADC BNC input signal is then processed by the Single Channel Analyzer (SCA). This mode of operation allows event counting up to a frequency of 1 MHz. The computer controlled SCA window makes signal filtering easy.

The Multi-Channel Scaler records the counting rate of events as a function of time. When a scan is started, the MCS begins by counting input events in the first time slot (channel 0) in the digital memory. At the end of a preset period of time, called "dwell time", the MCS advances to the next channel in the memory and continues the counting. The dwell and advance processes are repeated until the MCS has scanned through the preset number of channels. A single scan through all selected channels is called a sweep, which may be repeated selected number of times. In multi-sweep mode the accumulated data may be either replaced by the new sweep or they may be summed channel by channel. Starting a sweep, as well as advancing from one channel to the next, may be triggered internally or externally.

Communication in Multi-Channel Scaling mode occurs via D socket placed on front panel of the device. Communication protocol is precisely described in **Technical Reference Tukan8k-PCI** available in installation disk.

#### Characteristic

- Maximum counting rate 12.5 MHz
- Dwell Time up to  $2^{24}$  steps (one step = 1.9 µs)
- Sweep Length up to 8192 channels with automatic or externally triggered sweep repetition
- Acquisition modes summing or replacing
- No dead time between channels and sweeps
- Possibility to use Single Channel Analyzer as an counting input (SCA formed from MCA with threshold presetting)

#### Presets

- Sweep length (number of channels)
- · Low and high thresholds

- Dwell time
- Sweep count
- Input signal gating mode
- Input signal type
- Triggering mode
- Advancing mode
- Accumulation type
- Stop mode

#### Data available on-line

- total acquisition time
- number of actually processed channel
- number of actual sweep

#### Inputs and outputs

**Analog input** – Accepts positive unipolar or bipolar semigaussian type pulses with shaping time constants >= 100 ns as well as amplified detector pulses without shaping. DC Coupled. The dynamic range is 10mV to +10 V (Zin = 1 kOhm). Overload protection over +12.5V and below -0.5V. BNC connector. Also used as SCA input.

**Gating input** – Accepts TTL positive (+2.5V) level. Computer controlled Gating/ Non-gating and Coincidence/Anti coincidence mode. Active state of this signal (asserted for coincidence and unasserted for anti coincidence) must occur prior to and extend 200 ns beyond the peak of the analog pulse. LEMO connector. Also used for EVENT pulse gating in MCS mode – in the latter case it must cover the entire pulse.

#### D-connector (9 pin) (for MCS mode only)



- EVENT TTL input (1 kOhm input impedance, DC coupled, positive polarity); Input signal to be counted by MCS. Minimum width 40 ns, minimal gap between two successive pulses 40 ns.
- **TRIGGER** TTL input (1 kOhm input impedance, DC coupled, positive polarity); Input signal, starts a new sweep, provided External Triggering has been set. Minimum width 40 ns.
- ADVANCE TTL input (1 kOhm input impedance, DC coupled, positive

polarity); Input signal causes the acquisition to step to the next channel, provided External Dwell has been selected. Minimum width 40 ns.

- **STOP** TTL input (1 kOhm input impedance, DC coupled, positive polarity); Input signal causes the acquisition to terminate at the end of the current sweep. Minimum width 40 ns.
- ACQUIRE TTL output (>2.5V); 100 ns wide output pulse generated when the MCS data acquisition is invoked.
- **NEXT** this positive TTL (>2.5V) output pulse generation depends on selected advancing method:
  - <u>auto-advancing</u> 100 ns wide output pulse generated when the MCS advances from one channel to the next,
  - <u>external advancing</u> a positive pulse level asserted when current sweep is processed and de-asserted after current sweep completion.
- SCA TTL output (>2.5V); 100 ns wide output pulse generated when the non gated SCA detects a pulse inside the voltage window with peak detection provided.
- **RESERVED** reserved for user added feature.

# Index

#### \*

\*.w dm 20 \*.w ds 20

#### Α

Acquisition control Common acquisition control 53 Reset 46 Start/Stop 46 Toolbar of acquisition control 46 Acquisition parameters Acquisition path name 48 Counts control 48 CPS control 48 Dead time 48 Live time 48 Real time 48 Status 48 Acquisition path 23 Adding acquisition path 40 Calibration 35 Configuration files 45 Connecting analyzer 25 Description prameters 33 Detection and identification of analyzer device 27 Measurement session 37 Mode of running (MCA, MCS) 30 Path name 25 Removing acquisition path 40 Structure 23 Activity and concentration calculate 105 Activity calculated formula 105 Adding acquisition path 40 Adding spectra 76 Advanced analysis 94 Analysis 90 Mathematical models of peak analysis 95 Peak parameters display 98 Peak search 100 Peaks table 106

Selection of fitting function models 96 Analyzer Basic parameters 31 Default values of parameters 30 Hardw are registers 28 Analyzer parameters Input signal gating 31 Low er level threshold 31 Number of channels 31 TTL Lemo configuration 31 Upper level threshold 31 Analyzer parameters in MCS mode Dw ell Time 59 Mesurement cycles 59 Number of channels 59 Number of sweeps 59 Signal input socket 59 59 TTL Lemo configuration Analyzer Tukan-8k 10 ASCII format of spectrum 72 Automatic peak search 100 Automatic stop criteria of acquisition 51 Auxiliary directories 19

# С

Calibration 108 Calibration curve 125 Calibration operations 109 Delete calibration 113 Efficiency calibration 119 Energy calibration 117 Inserting calibration 111 Inserting energy from nuclide library 116 Inserting of calibration data 114 Inserting of calibration data from spectrum 115 Peak shape calibration 118 Transfer calibration beetw en spectra 112 Visual control of calibration 113 Calibration curve 125 Calibration standars libraries 123 Change calibration in spectrum 111 Change from MCA to MCS mode 59 Coincidence 31

Colors of the spectrum, background and markers 84 Compressing spectrum 78 Concentration 105 Configuration files of acquisition path 45 CPS 90

# D

Defining of acquisition path 23 Delete calibration 113 Detection of analyzer device 27 Dw ell Time Normalization factor 59

# Ε

Efficiency calculated formula 105 Efficiency calibration process 119 Calibration standars libraries 120. 123 Efficiency of detection calculation 120 Efficiency of detection 120 Energy calibration process 117 Export to ASCII format 72 ASCII spectra export options 135

#### F

Fitting function models 2 Gauss 96 Background function 96 Centroid difference 96 Field relation 96 Fitting function 96 Model selection 96 Formats of spectra files 20 Fwhm 90 Fw tm 90

# Η

Hardw are requirements 149

# I

Identification of analyzer device27Import from ASCII format74Information about main spectrum72

Inserting calibration to spectrum 111 Instalation of Tukan8k analyzer and program 149 Instalation of Tukan8k program 150 Instalation of Tukan-8k-PCl card 152 Instalation of Tukan-8k-USB box 151 Instalation of USB Protection Key 153

# Κ

Keyboard 142 Acquisition navigation keys 142 Displaying spectrum navigation keys 143 Markers navigation keys 142 ROI system navigation keys 144

#### L

Laboratory - information 33 Language of program 140 List of reference spectra 71 Load spectrum from file 69 Low er and upper level threshold 31

#### Μ

Markers 81 Mathematical library TukanFit.dll Mathematical description of fitting models 145 Mathematical models description 95 MCA mode - Tukan-8k-PCI 161 MCA mode - Tukan-8k-USB 156 MCS mode 59 Analysis of MCS spectrum 64 Calibration of MCS type spectra 64 MCS spectrum, 64 Measurement control 62 ROI parameters for MCS spectrum 64 MCS mode - Tukan-8k-PCI 163 MCS mode - Tukan-8k-USB 157 MCS type spectra 64 Measurement 46 Acquisition control 46 Acquisition process inspection 48 Acquisition time control: 34 Automatic stop criteria 51

Measurement 46 Counts in region control 34 Measuremet duration 48 Resumation of measurement after program exit 54 Stop criteria 34 Measurement control in MCS mode 62 Measurement geometry 33 Measurement session Acauisition control during measurement session 54 Cycles of session 37 Spectra files 37 Text file with mathematical results 37 Measurement spectrum 56 Measurement spectrum periodical backup 57 Model G0, G0 c, G0 m 93 Multi-channel scaling (MCS) mode 59

# Ν

Nuclide libraries Creation of new library 101 Edition 101 Format 101 Library files 101 Sorting data 101 Number of channels - change 31

#### Ρ

Peak analysis 'on-line' 90 Peak parameters Area 90 CPS 90 From - To number channel 90 Fwhm 90 Fw tm 90 Integral 90 90 Units Peak parameters "on-line" calculate 93 Peak shape calibration process 118 Peaks identification Identification criteria 103 Peaks table 106 Plotting a spectrum

Automatic scale 82 Colors 82.84 Displaying energy scale 80 Expand On/Off spectrum 82 Grid 82 Hide or expose ROIs of a spectrum 82 Logarithmic / Line scale 82 Markers 81 Spectrum plot style changing 84 Zoom 82 Printing a spectrum 79 Printing report 132 Program configuration Analysis options 137 Automatic calculate parameters 137 Display spectrum options 136 Measurement configuration options 135 Menu Configuration 134 Peak parameters display 137 Preserve markers position 136 Preserve scale 136 136 **ROI** regions colors Selecting language of program 140 Setting directory of program 140 Units of peaks parameters 137 Windows Registry usage 134 13 Program modules Analysis module 17 Analyzer module 15 Calibration module 16 14 Hardw are module Report module 18 Program Tukan8k 12 Data files 19 Program files 12 Start of the program 22 Work with USB Dongle key 22

# R

Removing acquisition path 40 Report 128 Configuration file 132 Format HTML 133 Peaks table configuration 130 Printing 132 Report 128 Report files 133 Spectrum plot configuration 131 Structure 127 Text format 133 Report configuration 128 Reset of acquisition 46 Resumation of measurement after program exit 54 ROI Calculate parameters 86 Delete 86 Edition 86 Load from file 88 Naw igation keys 86 **ROI** files 88 86 Save Save to file 88 Switch units 86 **ROI - Region Of Interest** 86 ROI controlling commands 86 ROI files 88

# S

Sample mass 33 Save spectrum 70 SCA mode - Tukan-8k-USB 159 Select analyzer to control 41 Several analyzer Common control 41 Select analyzer to control 41 Spectra common control 43 Several analyzers in the program 40 Several measurement spectra control 43 Single Channel Analyzer 159 Smoothing spectrum 75 Sounds - End of acquisition signaling 135 Spectra Acquisition spectrum 67 Adding spectra 76 Compressing spectrum 78 Disk spectrum 67 Export to ASCII format 72 Import from ASCII format 74 Information about spectrum 72 List of reference spectra 71

Main spectrum 67 Memory spectrum 67 Open spectrum 69 Printing a spectrum 79 Save spectrum to file 70 75 Smoothing Spectra container 67 Spectra files formats 20 Subtraction spectra 76 Spectra colors change 84 Spectra container 67 25 Spectrum name Spectrum plot style changing 84 Start of acquisition 46 Start of the program 22 46 Stop of acquisition Subtraction spectra 76

# Т

Technical parameters of Tukan 8k PCI Analyzer 160 Technical parameters of Tukan 8k USB Analyzer 154 Time backup of measurement 57 Tukan 8k PCI Analyzer 160 I/O Connections and LED Indicators 161 MCA mode 161 163 MCS mode Tukan 8k USB Analyzer 154 I/O Connections and LED Indicators 155 MCA mode 156 MCS mode 157 Pow ering the device 155 SCA mode 159 TukanFit.dll 145

# U

USB Dongle 22

# V

Visual control of calibration in spectrum 113

W

Working directories140Working w ith several analyzers40Working w ith the spectra67